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Key Figures

StRuctuRe of ASSetS And cApitAl

euR '000 31.12.2014 31.12.2013

Non-current assets 304,247 390,036

Current assets 436,929 502,679

Equity 410,048 374,481

Equity ratio (in %) 55.3% 41.9%

Non-current liabilities 102,878 104,316

Current liabilities 228,250 413,918

Total assets 741,176 892,715

ShARe

ISIN DE000PAT1AG3

SIN (Security Identification Number) PAT1AG

Code P1Z

Share capital as at 31 December 2014 EUR 69,385,030

No. of shares in issue as at 31 December 2014 69,385,030

2014 high2 EUR 12.57

2014 low2 EUR 7.49

Closing Price 20142 EUR 12.19

Share price performance 58.9%

Market capitalisation as at 31 December 20142 EUR 845.8 million

Average trading volume per day3 97,900 shares

Indices SDAX, GEX, DIMAX

1 Adjusted for amortisation on other intangible assets (fund management contracts), unrealised value adjustments to investment property and non-cash effects from  
interest hedging transactions. Realised changes in the value of investment property have been added.

2 Closing price Xetra-trading
3 All German stock exchanges

RevenueS And eARningS

euR '000 2014 2013 change %

Revenues 291,815 217,398 34.2

Total operating performance 205,468 207,878 –1.2

EBITDA 13,642 24,856 –45.1

EBIT 6,702 18,749 –64.3

EBT 41,998 39,599 6.1

Operating result1 50,210 38,119 31.7

Consolidated net profit 35,020 37,168 –5.8
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letteR to ouR ShAReholdeRS

For PATRIZIA, 2014 was a year of major advances and successes, allowing it to consolidate its leading 
position as a fully integrated European real estate investment company. Focussing on the attractive core 
areas of special funds and co-investments enabled PATRIZIA to strengthen its earning power and notably 
its long-term potential for success. We can be very satisfied with the operating result of EUR 50.2 million, 
which was in line with our forecast. We also achieved all our other targets for 2014. 

More than ever before, we have gained the trust of institutional investors. This is a decisive advantage  
for us because as an asset class, real estate is attracting greater attention from insurance companies, 
pension funds and other institutional investors. In 2014 alone, we secured new equity of approximately 
EUR 1.5 billion. Around 180 different institutional investors from Germany and other countries now rely 
on PATRIZIA for successful real estate investments in Europe. Our international focus is increasingly  
becoming the growth driver for the Company as a whole. We have launched operations in Finland and in 
the Netherlands, allowing us to exploit even more opportunities outside the German real estate market. 
We must now develop our European locations to ensure they make clear contributions to our results. 

progress continues through a variety of initiatives
PATRIZIA combines everything needed for a successful investment company: Our access to investors 
and real estate alike sets standards across the industry. And irrespective of the current favourable finance 
environment, the ability to secure the required external capital is one of PATRIZIA’s major attributes.  
In recent years, the investments in our own organisational structure – including the increase in staff  
numbers, the introduction of SAP R/3, the internal restructuring and the licensing pursuant to the AIFM  
Directive – have enabled us to achieve the desired growth in assets under management. In the past year, 
the volume of real estate assets we manage rose by an impressive 24% to EUR 14.6 billion. Based on the 
trust already placed in us by institutional investors, we expect a further increase of EUR 2 billion during 
the coming year. However, we are not under any time constraints. We subject all our investment decisions 
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to close scrutiny, only offering properties to our investors if we ourselves would invest in such proper-
ties because we treat the assets we manage as if they were our own. These key strengths fill us with 
optimism that PATRIZIA’s success story will continue. The greatest challenge both now and in the near 
future will be to find enough new properties which meet our strict investment criteria.

Although we still don’t see any exaggerated valuations on the German housing market, prices in our defined 
investment locations have risen further and it takes longer to find suitable properties. Consequently, we 
believe growth in Germany will primarily come from the commercial segment, where our focus will be on 
supermarkets, business hotels and care facilities rather than traditional office properties. Great Britain is 
another location that promises attractive commercial investments and where last year alone, we acquired 
real estate worth around EUR 900 million. Our London-based national company now manages real estate 
assets worth EUR 1.2 billion, making PATRIZIA UK & Ireland our largest international subsidiary, followed 
by PATRIZIA Nordics, which covers the residential and commercial sectors equally and manages real  
estate worth of around EUR 830 million. Alongside the Scandinavian countries, the residential asset class 
will primarily also be addressed by the Netherlands, where in 2014 we effected the largest transaction 
ever for the country’s residential market and managed the acquisition of 5,500 apartments worth around 
EUR 580 million for a co-investment. Our connections to the market (which are of special benefit for “off-
market deals”) and our capital strength represent key parameters behind our ability to quickly and suc-
cessfully incorporate real estate into our funds or investments. 

growth course continues
As shown by the successful start to 2015, PATRIZIA will continue to grow, with the acquisition of 107 
supermarkets in February providing a further illustration of our current level of diversification. This 
purchase has made PATRIZIA one of the largest lessors in the retail food trade and has again proved 
that we can respond flexibly to changes in the market and use the resulting benefits for us and our  
investors. 
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We never tire in offering new product solutions for the fast-growing market of indirect real estate invest-
ments – and as mentioned before, we do this throughout Europe. For example, once PATRIZIA Grund-
Invest is registered as an Investment Management Company, we will offer real estate funds for private 
investors and thus tap a further attractive market. Our carefully selected co-investments and active real 
estate management will continue to ensure good earnings and our operating result should increase by 
approximately 10% in 2015. We will specify the exact magnitude towards the middle of the year. Increasing 
managed real estate assets by a further EUR 2 billion means one-off transaction fees plus a permanent 
broader basis for recurring income from e.g. fund, asset or property management. In parallel to this, we 
will improve efficiency and realise economies of scale in our home market of Germany. 

living the change
However, our success would be inconceivable without the active commitment of our employees and we 
extend our special thanks to each and every one of them. They contribute professional expertise, creativity 
and pertinacity and are living the change within the Company. 

We also like to thank you, our shareholders, for the trust you place in our – your – company. We would be 
delighted for you to continue to place your trust in us and help us achieve our next milestones together.

Augsburg, 23 March 2015 

The PATRIZIA Managing Board

Wolfgang egger Arwed fischer Klaus Schmitt
CEO CFO COO
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51 792

704 5,500

1414.6

thousands square metres 
of commercial property in the UK alone

billion euros
in managed real estate assets

countries
with investments and services

employees
in 9 countries

percent
commercial assets under management

residential units
in the Netherlands, a “new” market
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Looking
Ahead

PATRIZIA Immobilien AG has grown to become the leading 
fully integrated real estate investment company in Europe. 
With 792 employees and a 30-year heritage, the company now 
operates as an investor and service provider all across Europe.  
The roadmap.

PATRIZIA currently manages real estate assets 
valued at around EUR 14.6 billion – mostly as a 
co-investor and portfolio manager for institution al 
investors such as insurance companies, pen  sion 
funds, sovereign wealth funds, and savings banks.  
It manages real estate worth over EUR 7 billion  
for third parties, and has around EUR 7 billion 
attributable to co-investments, where PATRIZIA 
invests its own capital.

PATRIZIA has always been primarily an investor. 
And we are now becoming even more active in 
the field of co-investments to expand our position 
as a leading real estate investment company. 
This strategy allows us to move a far greater in-
vestment volume with our existing equity than 
we could with pure own investments. As a result, 
our company will be able to offer significantly 
more management services in the future, and 
thus generate income that is regular and stable.

Half of the real estate assets we manage are 
commercial properties such as offices, retail space, 
hotels, or “light industrial”, and the other half are 

residential properties. That’s a strategy that is 
sustainable. And the acquisition of companies 
specialised in commercial real estate has brought 
in PATRIZIA teams of experts experienced in the 
office and retail properties markets across Europe.

BECOMING MORE  
INTERNATIONAL

This expertise is the foundation of our growth 
strategy. Having operations in many different 
countries helps us to minimise our investment 
risks. It also helps us to reduce our dependency 
on any one market segment. Our expansion into 
the European market has brought us a high level 
of recognition and a constantly growing demand 
for investment opportunities with us.

As soon as we enter a market, we work with our 
own employees who are familiar with and moni-
tor every aspect of managing the real estate 
portfolios there. And we only expand into mar-
kets where other established companies can   
be integrated into our group as subsidiaries, or 

Annual Report 2014
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where highly qualified experts can be hired. Or 
ideally, both.

PROXIMITY IS THE SECRET TO 
OUR SUCCESS

This careful approach leads to growth potential 
that does not depend on building up our own 
portfolio. Since 1984 we have always been owner-
operated and independent of banks. Success is 
rarely a coincidence; it is the result of a sustain-
able, forward-looking strategy that is followed 
consistently. We can grow dynamically in every 
phase of the market. Now and in the future.

EUR million UK and 
Ireland

EUR million Germany

EUR million 
Netherlands

EUR million 
Nordics

Europe

Growth: Assets under  
Management in our  
European markets

Other countries comprise:  
EUR 1,202 million assets 
under management

 1,218
 10,711

638 

829



10 Annual Report 2014

In conversation, Rikke Lykke is highly focused. 
The 42-year-old Dane with dark blonde hair gives 
answers that are quick and precise. As an expe-
rienced real estate expert, she’s been responsi-
ble for PATRIZIA’s business in the Nordic coun-
tries since 2012. Her team now manages real 
estate assets totalling EUR 829 million, making it 
one of the established players in that market. 
Rikke Lykke started her career at McKinsey, a 
consultancy. Ten years ago she switched to the 
real estate sector. “I wanted to learn more about 
the connection between business cases and the 
real world.”

THE FAR NORTH AS A SAFE  
HAVEN

The Managing Director of PATRIZIA Nordics  
calls business in Denmark, Finland, Norway, and  
Sweden a “safe haven”. Stable political systems, 
reliable tax laws, robust population growth, and 

infrastructure expansion promise outstanding 
business prospects for the future. “Cities in the 
Nordic countries are growing rapidly. In Helsinki, 
Copenhagen, Oslo, and Stockholm, the old har-
bour neighbourhoods are being converted into 
mixed commercial and residential districts. There 
is considerable growth potential there,” Rikke Lykke 
says. She estimates that 5,000 new residential 
units will be needed in Copenhagen alone – every 
year. PATRIZIA has responded to that demand 
by buying a housing complex. EUR 6.7 million 
went into a new building project with 159 units 
and 14,385 square metres of living space close 
to the city centre. Another EUR 100 million have 
been invested in new building projects and exist-
ing properties near the royal palace. PATRIZIA 
has also bought a portfolio of ten commercial 
prop erties, six of which are located in Copen-
hagen’s pedestrian area.

The real estate market in northern  
Europe is booming. Rikke Lykke is  

covering it for PATRIZIA. A portrait.

On the 
Rise
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square metres real estate area in Denmark,  
Finland, Norway, and Sweden

380,000

Retail makes up 40 percent of the team’s busi-
ness,  making it the second most important busi-
ness sector after residential. Investments such 
as those in the Copenhagen pedestrian area, 
where buildings steeped in tradition offer a 
sophisticat ed retail shopping experience, promi-
se above-average margins. “The modernisation 
of these high-value properties is an attractive in-
vestment for stability-oriented pension funds,” 
says the Managing Director. “We’re proud of our 
network of investors. We’ve been able to attract 
European investors to the Nordic countries, and 
Scandinavians to the German market. Institutio-
nal invest ors from the Nordics have already in-
vested EUR 500 million in Germany.”

SHOPPING CENTRES AND  
BUSINESS PARKS IN DEMAND

But beyond prime downtown shopping areas, 
shopping centres close to cities are also in demand 
in the Nordic countries. So are business parks, 

especially in rural Sweden and Finland. “That’s 
why we also now have an office in Helsinki, where 
the use of the euro makes commerce  easier,” 
said Rikke Lykke. “We especially want to open 
up the markets in the cities of Helsinki and Tam-
pere.” Overall, the Managing Director says, the 
four Nordic countries have more similarities 
than differences.  As an example, she mentions 
the combination of intrinsic value, modern archi-
tecture, and energy efficiency, which she consid-
ers a particular strength of the Nordics. “We 
Scandinavians are a bit like siblings,” she says. 
“We look a lot alike and quarrel a lot. But in the 
end, we stick together.”

Potential: Rikke Lykke, Managing  
Director of PATRIZIA Nordics,  

manages the booming real estate  
market in northern Europe.
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Swing
In Full

The United Kingdom is one of the most  
important real estate markets in Europe, and  
the third largest in the world. PATRIZIA UK  
is well represented here, and has the biggest 
and most diversified business park portfolio  
in the British Isles. A success story.

Road to success: “Birchwood Park” 
near Manchester is turning into 
an economic engine for the entire 
region.
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employees in 610 companies located  
at the business parks

18,000

In summer, Birchwood Park looks almost like a 
recreational area. Employees on their lunch 
break lounge on the British lawn, go for a spin 
around the artificial lake on a rental bicycle, or 
tend the community vegetable garden. A wide 
range of dining and leisure offerings is part of 
the concept of this technology park, where a 
total of 165 companies employ over 6,000 peo-
ple. But the amenities are just one of the rea-
sons the business park keeps growing. “Ideal 
connections to motorways and the airport are a 
key factor,” says James Muir, Managing Director 
of PATRIZIA UK, as he strolls past a row of 
trees towards “Garden”, a self-service restau-
rant. “Birchwood Park has become an econom-
ic engine for this region. And in the next few 
months we are expecting even more companies 
to join us, both blue chips and start-ups.

THREE BUSINESS PARKS AT 
ONCE

Birchwood Park – along with the business parks 
Chineham Park and Hillington Park – was 
 PATRIZIA UK’s most important acquisition in 
the past business year. PATRIZIA bought the 
three thriving business parks, each with a diffe-
rent profile, for the equivalent of EUR 538 milli-
on as part of a joint venture with the co- investor, 
Oaktree Capital Management. A total of 525 
companies with over 13,000 employees have 
their offices at the best accessible sites in Eng-
land and Scotland. Birchwood Park could hardly 
be any more different to old-fashioned indus-
trial areas, says James Muir as he takes some 
tea and a cupcake from the display and finds a 
seat in the sun outside “Garden”. “The park is 
designed according to the companies’ needs. 
The users can rent meeting rooms and auditori-
ums, or reserve hotel rooms. The companies 

can save on overhead costs, and that allows 
them more flexibility.”

GROWTH DRIVER FOR  
PATRIZIA UK

The emerging market for business parks has 
become a major growth driver for PATRIZIA 
UK. The company laid the cornerstone for this 
growth by acquiring the Tamar Capital Group in 
April 2013. With its experience in the business 
parks sector, Tamar had a portfolio worth EUR 
700 million, mostly in the fields of industry, re-
tail, and offices. The portfolio comprised around 
100 commercial properties in Germany, France, 
BeNeLux, and the Nordics. Shortly thereafter 
this portfolio grew through the acquisition of 
two office properties in Birmingham and Brack-
nell, and of two business parks in Winnersh and 
Watchmoor. The purchase of Birchwood, Chine-
ham, and Hillington Park 2014 rounded off our 
investments, and PATRIZIA UK now manages 
the largest and most diversified business park 
portfolio in the UK.

LEVERAGING MORE DEVELOPMENT 
 POTENTIAL

Together with Oaktree, PATRIZIA UK wants to 
leverage the tremendous development potential 
of the parks through new investments and inten-
sive asset management. “With this expanded 
portfolio we are now on the radar screen for 
 British and American investors,” says James 
Muir as he takes a sip of his hot tea. He is a 
specialist for international capital markets and 
M&A Transactions. “Thanks to the tailwind from 
Augsburg, we’ve taken a giant step forward on 
the British market. Today we are already man-
aging a portfolio worth nearly one billion euros, 
and we are continuing to expand.”
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Expertise
With

If the “Boardinghouse des Westens” in Hamburg 
were a person and its windows eyes, it would 
have seen a lot by now. Finished in 1931, the 
building with its tower-like bay filled the last ma-
jor empty site at Schulterblatt in the Schanzen-
viertel district. Originally conceived as an avant-
garde residential house, it has served a number 
of purposes, from a refugees centre for persons 
fleeing the former East Germany to a branch  
of the company Montblanc. At the start of this 
millennium the building was in a sorry state – 
until PATRIZIA bought it, redesigned its interior, 
modernised it, and turned it into a high-quality 
office property.

Not an easy job, as Arne Lukait, rental manager 
of PATRIZIA Hamburg, knows: “The Schanzen-
viertel is a politically sensitive area of the city. 
We needed to increase the value of the boarding 
house with great circumspection, so as not to 
raise the ire of the entire alternative scene.” The 
result of this revitalisation is impressive: today 
the building feels like a loft. The entire space is 
now leased long-term and profitably to selected 
retailers and restaurants, as well as to computer 
schools, advertising agencies, and companies in 

the social sector. The building has now been 
sold to a new owner. “A key to the success was 
that every PATRIZIA team was involved, from 
the acquisition to asset management, property 
management, rental management, and the sale. 
Our office experts in Hamburg worked closely 
with the colleagues in the headquarters in Augs-
burg. This close collaboration among our various 
competency teams is one of the secrets to our 
success,” says Arne Lukait.

LEO I AND II:  MAJOR DEALS IN 
THE STATE OF HESSEN

Hamburg and other major cities such as Munich, 
Berlin, Frankfurt, Cologne, and Düsseldorf are 
not the only places where PATRIZIA is active in 
co-investments and core/value-add real estate. 
In the past two years the company has also 
 acquired two office property portfolios with long- 
term leases to the German state of Hessen. The 
two portfolios comprise a total of 54 build ings, 
and are occupied by ministries, courts, the police, 
and tax authorities. With a volume totalling 800 
million euros, the acquisition of “Leo II” was the 

In the German market, PATRIZIA has long since established its 
position beyond the residential sector to include office properties. 
With the purchase of a portfolio worth one billion euros, the  
company conducted one of the largest commercial real estate 
trans actions of the past business year. A close-up.
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biggest commercial real estate transaction in 
Germany in 2013. And with the purchase of 
“Leo I” in the first quarter of 2014, property 
worth one billion euros changed hands.

For years, PATRIZIA has also been managing 
individual mandates and real estate fund pro-
ducts that invest in office properties – for sa-
vings banks, insurance companies, major 
profession al pension funds, and other instituti-
onal investors. “We are now firmly established 
in the commercial properties sector,” says 
Wolfgang  Egger, Chairman of the Managing 
Board. “That is particularly important for insti-
tutional invest ors, who more and more are  
looking for a strategic partner who covers  
the entire value chain of the property and who 
is competent in both major portfolios and smal-
ler projects, such as the boarding house in 
Hamburg.”

Revitalisation: The “Boardinghouse  
des Westens” is a prime example  

of circumspect modernisation.

EUR billion assets under management in  
the German office property sector alone

2.8
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residential units were purchased by  
PATRIZIA from Vestia, a Dutch housing  
association

5,500

The Dutch residential market is in motion, and is becoming 
more and more interesting for investors. PATRIZIA 
  recently initiated the largest transaction that the market  
for rental homes in this country of 17 million inhabitants 
has ever seen. An interim assessment.

Flux
In

Windows with no curtains are not the only idio-
syncrasy of Dutch dwellings. The entire housing 
market has its own peculiarities as well. For 
 example, around 75 percent of the country’s  
7.4 million rental homes belong to non-profit 
housing associations. But this social model, 
which was started in the 19th century to benefit 
the needy, has slid into a deep crisis over the 
past several years. The state has pulled out of 
this sector more and more, leaving many of the 
social housing associations without the capital 
they need for necessary investments.

LIBERALISATION AS AN  
OPPORTUNITY

After Vestia found itself facing difficulties result-
ing from speculative financial dealings, it put its 

portfolio of around 5,500 residential units up for 
sale. PATRIZIA bought it for EUR 578 million. It 
was the largest transaction the Dutch rental 
home market had ever seen, and caused quite a 
lot of discussion in the Netherlands. Vestia’s 
plight also led to new legislation to put a greater 
share of the market into private ownership. This 
liberalisation also allows for rent hikes and the 
lifting of rent controls.

But these proposed changes to tenancy law are 
not the only things that make the Dutch housing 
market attractive for PATRIZIA. The forecasted 
population growth by 2025, coupled with a contin-
uing drop in average household size, indicates 
favourable opportunities. “Wilhelmina” – the port-
folio is named after the great-grandmother of the 
current king – comprises around 340,000 square 
metres of living space across the entire country. 
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Around 60 percent of the units are under rent 
controls, and vacancy is less than three percent.

LONG-TERM OWNERSHIP  
PLANNED

This deal increases the volume of real estate as-
sets PATRIZIA manages in the Netherlands to 
around EUR 638 million. The PATRIZIA coll-
eagues in the Netherlands have over 20 years of 
experience in that market, as well as outstanding 
contacts. “The strong trust of institutional invest-
ors that has grown over the years is the reason 
they are now willing to work with us across bor-
ders,” says Peter Helfrich, Managing Director of 
PATRIZIA Netherlands based in Amsterdam. 
“Our many years of experience and our network 
of European subsidiaries form the perfect foun-
dation.” PATRIZIA acquired the portfolio for its 

co-investment “WohnModul I”. A pension fund 
also holds investments in this portfolio. The long-
term value stability of the investment was a de-
cisive factor for the investor, as its investment 
strategy is long-term ownership. And even as the 
investors are happy to have a portfolio with high 
intrinsic value and a bright future, the tenants at 
“Wilhelmina” can count on modern living space. 
That makes “Wilhelmina” a win-win project for 
everyone involved.

Confidence: As the Dutch housing  
market continues to change, the strong  

trust in the experience of PATRIZIA’s  
people pays off in buildings like this one.
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11 25

445,136

6115
DGNB certifications 
in gold and silver

hours
of continuing education

trainees
in Germany and Luxembourg

nationalities
at 9 locations

children’s homes
on 4 continents

percent 
of SÜDEWO buildings use less  

than 150 kWh/sqm per year
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Four winners:  The four corner-
stones of our values system. 
Environment, society, partners, 
employees

environment

partners employees

Society
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Pushing

Ahead
The basis of our sustainability strategy is our 
strong sense of responsibility. We are committed 
to our clients, partners, and employees, but also 
to the environment and our society in general. 
As a major player in the real estate sector, we 
are always aware that our actions have long-
term consequences. That’s why we strive to 
 cover as many dimensions of sustainability in 
our business dealings as possible.

We have a firm values system that guides all our 
employees in their actions and decisions. We 
haven’t reached our goal yet; sustainable action 
is always a process. But we have developed an 
action plan to be implemented by 2019 that 
 affects all aspects of our day-to-day business.

MOVING TOWARDS THE GOAL

One example of an important step towards red-
ucing both pollution and operating costs is mak-
ing our vehicle fleet environmentally friendly. 
Last year we changed our guidelines to reflect 
that, and now use only diesel vehicles with a cer-
tified environmental sticker. We also use electric 
vehicles. Employees at our office in Hamburg 
receive a subsidy to use public transport.

Our sustainability concept is also proving suc-
cessful in new building projects. We played an 
important role in the founding and development 
of the “Neubau Wohnen” (New Residential  
Developments) label of the German Sustainable 
Building Council (DGNB) in 2010. Since then 
we’ve been combining ecological, social, and 
economical aspects when planning and const-
ructing new buildings, most of which are certi-
fied by the DGNB.

HOLISTIC COMMITMENT

As part of our social commitments we are  
not only continuing our PATRIZIA KinderHaus 
(children’s home) foundation; we are expanding 
it by at least one project every year. For over  
15 years this foundation has been giving needy 
children around the world a home and an educa-
tion. Our responsibility to the world we live in, 
the environment, our clients, our partners, and 
our employees has always been at the core of 
our work.

Sustainable action is an integral part of the PATRIZIA company  
philosophy. We always strive for balance among ecological,  
economi cal, and social factors, and base all our decisions on that 
foundation. A successful concept.
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Future: Happy children are one of the 
main goals of our social commitment.

Sustainability



Harmony: Our goal is for every 
property to be as environmen-
tally friendly as possible.

environment

partners employees

Society
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In the real estate business, the only way  
investors, tenants, buyers, service providers, 
and society as a whole can all ben efit is if 
economic factors are combined sensibly 
with social responsibility and environmental 
protection. PATRIZIA stringently follows 
an integrative concept of balance. A report.

On Our
Way

Many real estate companies focus on “green 
building”. That saves valuable resources during 
the construction phase. A high-quality building 
that is also ecological delivers significantly higher 
performance throughout its entire lifecycle. But 
“green” is not enough for PATRIZIA. Because 
even if a building is both green and healthy, that 
doesn’t automatically make it sustainable. At 
 PATRIZIA, we believe that sustainability in real 
estate must not be limited to construction as-
pects alone; it must integrate social and eco-
nomical aspects as well. 

For example, stricter legislation has been intro-
duced in Germany and Europe regarding energy 
performance certifi cates, which measure energy 

consumption in resi dential buildings. That in turn 
increases environmental awareness among sta-
keholders and leads to more transparency regar-
ding building quality in real estate transactions. 
To meet statutory  requirements, Süddeutsche 
Wohnen GmbH (SüDEWO) has been tracking the 
energy consumption of all residential buildings in 
its portfolio since 2008. SüDEWO has been un-
der the ownership of a PATRIZIA-led consortium 
since 2012. With this information, our manage-
ment has effective tools to plan and manage buil-
dings and for future investments.
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Quality: A high-quality 
building that is environmen-
tally friendly delivers better 
performance from the very 

start.

CERTIFICATES OF QUALITY

For us it’s important that our new building proj-
ects are certified by the German Sustainable 
Building Council (DGNB). The criteria for receiv-
ing a DGNB certificate include ecological, eco-
nomical, socio-cultural, functional, and techni-
cal quality, as well as process and location 
quality. Most of our new building projects over 
the past four years have received this seal.

It’s one thing to meet all the sustainability 
require ments for new buildings. It’s quite another 
to upgrade the energy performance of exist  ing 
dwellings. PATRIZIA owns many buildings that 
were constructed in the 1950s and 1960s. Up-
grading them to meet modern expectations and 

requirements is a tremendous challenge, one 
that cannot be met from one day to the next. But 
we’re on the right path.

When we refurbish a building, our most impor-
tant goals are to improve living quality while re-
ducing energy consumption. So each revitalisa-
tion concept includes not only reviving the area 
and maintaining the history and structure of an 
est ate, but also improving living quality through 
green areas, playgrounds, infrastructure, new 
windows and heating, insulation, and even by 
adding balconies or terraces. For us it’s not only 
about sustainability, but also about long-term 
impact.

Environment
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A bright future: The  
KinderHaus foundation  
offers needy children a  

home and an education.



Responsibility: At PATRIZIA, 
we take social responsibility 
seriously.

environment

partners employees

Society
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From the
Heart

Economic success is the foundation of our company. But  
PATRIZIA is not only a player in the German and European 
real estate markets. Part of our mission is also to be a creative 
contributor to society. That’s why PATRIZIA is also involved 
in social and charity projects. Two examples.

At PATRIZIA, we don’t just pay lip service to  
values like sustainability and responsibility. We 
live them. From the very start, company founder 
and CEO Wolfgang Egger wanted people in need 
to benefit from his success as well. PATRIZIA 
wants to make a contribution to improving the 
quality of life and future prospects of those who 
were not born on the sunny side of the street.

LIVING SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The real estate business reflects the condition 
of a society like few others. Intact, well-tended 
residential and business buildings are an ex-
pression of a healthy economy that wants to and 
is able to finance their maintenance and func-
tion. At the same time, modern buildings are the 
foundation of a stable society that is committed 
to protecting these ongoing values. Sufficient, 
well-kept living and working spaces are not only 
valuable assets. “Real estate is the building of a 
culture,” as Wolfgang Egger said. Maintaining 
that quality also means accepting responsibility 
for future generations. Beyond our core busi-
ness, we think it’s important to create value for 
our society.

One example is the non-profit PATRIZIA Kinder-
Haus foundation, which aids and encourages 
disadvantaged children and young adults around 
the world. It was founded by Wolfgang Egger in 
1999 to create habitats that offer education, job 
training, health, and rehabilitation. Since then, 
eleven KinderHaus facilities with schools, thera-
py centres, orphanages, and clinics have emer-
ged in Europe, Africa, Asia, and South America. 
So far more than 150,000 children have benefit-
ed from these aid programs.

TAILORED AID

The aim of the PATRIZIA KinderHaus foundation 
is to transform the company’s economic success 
into social commitment. In doing so, we don’t 
just donate money; we contribute our skills. And 
we keep our eyes open for suitable locations where 
we can improve the lives of young people through 
needs-based building or expansion projects.

Society
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Because we keep the reins in our own hands, we 
know that 100 percent of the aid arrives at its 
destination. Our own experts are always invol-
ved from the very start to meet the high stan-
dards set for architecture, economical efficien-
cy, user-friendliness, and ecological balance. 
Each aid project is individually tailored to speci-
fic local needs.

It is very important for us to transfer the subse-
quent management of a KinderHaus into the 
hands of our regional partner, who can then lead 
the facility without additional support in the long 
run. There are PATRIZIA KinderHaus facilities in 
Nepal, South Africa, Uganda, Buyamba, Rwanda 

Africa:  There are now  
KinderHaus facilities in  

Uganda, Rwanda, Tanzania,  
and South Africa (left).

Augsburg: The centre for animal-
supported therapy for families  

of children with severe illnesses  
is nearly finished (below).

Asia: An additional KinderHaus 
facility was opened in Kattike,  

a small mountain village in Nepal, 
in April 2012 (right).
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(Ntarama), Munich and Hamburg, and since 
1999 in Tanzania as well, where two more orphan-
ages were opened last year. In 2015 we will be 
launching a school project for 800 children in 
Cameroon. And in Augsburg, Germany, a centre 
for animal-supported therapy is set to open 
soon to provide valuable support to the families 
of children with severe illnesses.

SUPPORTING EDUCATION

Education is the basis of self-determination,  
and the foundation of self-sufficiency. But well-
educated people are also a pre-requisite for eco-
nomic growth. That’s why PATRIZIA has been 
lend ing its support to the University of Augsburg 
since 2013 by offering courses in real estate 
management for students of business and inter-
national management. Previously there had 
been no course offerings in real estate. An in-
vestment in education is an investment in the 
future – this foresight is the foundation of the 
PATRIZIA philosophy.

Society
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Proven competence in increasing property 
 value, sustainability in all business dealings, and 
express appreciation for our employees, custom-
ers, and partners: those are our core values. 
PATRIZIA never acts only as a real estate invest-
or and manager, but also as a partner. Our em-
ployees treat each property as if it were their 
own, and every investment entrusted to them 
with utmost care.

RELIABLE PARTNERS

We apply our know-how and our entire strength 
in the interests of our investors, owner-occupi ers, 
and tenants. We have the knowledge, experience, 
and vision to ensure the long-term success of 
even the most demanding projects. The real estate 
business is based on trust. That’s why we focus 
our efforts on the wishes, needs, and goals of our 
customers, and not on short-term profit. Com-
munication is at the heart of achieving this aim. 
Last year we launched an after- sales survey.  
At 45 percent, the response rate was  surpri - 
singly high. 75 percent of those responding said  
PATRIZIA provided “excellent” advice, and nearly 
90 percent said they would recommend PATRIZIA 
to a friend.

In the past year PATRIZIA has intensified its ef-
forts to attract institutional investors as sharehold-
ers. We have initiated a number of roadshows 
and conferences to inform portfolio and mutual 
fund managers in Europe and the USA about  
our market profile and position. In looking for 
sharehold ers, we don’t limit our search to the 
well- established addresses of London, New York, 
Paris, or Zurich, but also forge new paths. For  
example, we’ve also conducted successful talks 
in Lugano, Milan, Salt Lake City, and Warsaw. 
And the impact of this diversified strategy is  
already evident: demand for PATRIZIA stock is on 
the rise, and the stock price is increasing with it.

MANY NETWORKING  
OPPORTUNITIES 

“Investment Horizons” has become a popular 
event for investors, offering a setting for both 
distinguished lectures as well as networking. We 
address capital investors and opinion leaders 
through the “VIP Club”, which also features 
 visits to cultural events or talks with athletes. 
Business partners and decision-makers from 
Germany, Austria, and Switzerland also value 
our “Bavarian-Swabian Evening” for cultivating 
contacts.

Whether commercial or residential properties, PATRIZIA makes 
them more valuable. Our company sees itself not only as an  
investor and manager, but as a partner. A partner that supports  
its customers in every important decision. A basic mindset.

Strong
Partners



Dialogue:  We see ourselves 
as a partner who supports 
customers with experience and 
know-how in every important 
decision.

environment

partners employees

Society
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Partners

REAL ESTATE TRADE FAIRS

We regularly exhibit at the EXPO REAL, Europe’s 
biggest B2B trade show for real estate and in-
vestments. Around 80 of our employees are on 
hand at our booth for talks with current and po-
tential business partners. Last year we used this 
forum to present our newly published housing 
market report, “PATRIZIA Insight: the European 
Housing Market 2014/2015”. We exhibit at the 
Marché International des Professionnels de 
l’Immobilier (MIPIM), the Business Arena in 
Stockholm, and the MIPIM UK in London as well. 
This year we will also have a booth at the Provada 
in Amsterdam for the first time.

Panel of experts: Guest speakers 
such as the former EU commis-

sioner Günter Verheugen appear  
at “Investment Horizons”.
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Collaboration: Teamwork is of 
utmost importance at PATRIZIA.
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Employees

In High
Gear

The real estate business is a people business. That’s  
why we consider our employees our most important  
asset. Good benefits, work-life balance programs,  
and many opportunities for continuing education are  
important ways we foster employee loyalty. A survey.

Basis: At PATRIZIA, employees 
are our most important asset.

environment

partners employees

Society

The real estate business requires intensive con-
sultation and is based on trust. That’s why it’s 
part of the PATRIZIA corporate culture to invest 
in a solid staff of competent, well-trained employ-
ees and to foster their long-term loyalty. The ever-
increasing number of PATRIZIA employees is a 
testament to the success of our company and 
our positive image as an employer: 792 across 
Europe, 72 of them in the European-wide country 
subsidiaries. And we’re doing a lot to increase 
the levels of motivation and identification among 
our employees even further.

IT’S OFFICIAL: PATRIZIA IS A  
GREAT PLACE TO WORK

One confirmation of our tremendous employee 
satisfaction is PATRIZIA’s ranking among the 
100 Great Places to Work in Germany in 2014. 
The awards in the “Great Place to Work” compe-
titions stand for an attractive, employee-oriented 
work environment in which management and 
employees are credible, fair, and respectful in the 
way they work together, and that this is reflected 
in strong employee identification and team spirit. 
More than 600 companies take part every year. 
The award is based on a comprehensive, anony-
mous survey of employees and an evaluation of 

existing HR and leadership measures and sys-
tems.

PATRIZIA has been taking part in the Great Place 
to Work surveys since 2010. The first Eu rope-
wide survey last year covered our subsidiaries in 
Denmark, Finland, France, the UK, Luxembourg, 
the Netherlands, and Sweden. 94 percent of our 
employ ees took part, and 88 percent agreed with 
the statement “I would say this is a great place to 
work”. That was six percentage points more than 
at our German sites (in the survey conducted 
only in Germany in 2013 82 percent agreed).

The dimensions of team spirit (85 percent), credi bi-
lity (82 percent), pride (78 percent), employee 
satisfaction (77 percent), fairness (74 percent), 
and respect (68 percent) also received excellent 
ratings. And word is getting around that PATRIZIA 
is a special type of employer. In the annual top 
employer survey by “Immobilien Zeitung” up-
coming graduates majoring in real estate were 
interviewed as to which company they would  
like to work for after they finish their degrees.  
PATRIZIA was ranked second. In 2013 the com-
pany had ranked eighth, and in 2012 twelfth.
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Leisure: Our annual Employees  
Day fosters team spirit; more than  

90 percent of our staff took part  
in the most recent one (above).

A balancing act: Employees use  
the “active break” to strengthen  

their muscles (right).
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LIFELONG LEARNING

Ongoing training and education for our employ-
ees is a key to the success of PATRIZIA. And 
younger and older PATRIZIA staff like to learn 
from one another: at our company campus,  
the PATRIZIA Academy, at the monthly event  
PATRIZIA Knowledge, or at PATRIZIA Discovery 
Days, employees find lots of opportunities for 
exchange and to learn about what other depart-
ments are doing. An employee newsletter and 
our corporate intranet also foster the flow of in-
formation. The company also offers annual sums 
for external education programs and paid days 
off for participating in them.

PATRIZIA also offers vocational training for 
young people. In 2014 the company was a place 
of learning for a total of 44 trainees in Germany 
and Luxembourg. That means more than 6 per-
cent of the people at PATRIZIA are trainees. In 
independently-conducted projects, they organi-
se fairs for trainees such as the “fitforjob” career 
day. They also conduct job application training at 
schools and organise the induction and orientati-
on days for new trainees.

THE EXTRAS – VOLUNTARY  
BENEFITS

The company also does a lot for the health and 
safety of its employees. For example, we offer a 
comprehensive package of special benefits. Our 
group accident insurance also covers accidents 
off the clock 24/7. PATRIZIA also accepts and 
contributes to existing pension plan contracts of 
new employees. Employees can also receive con-
tributions to savings plans, which can also apply 
to their pension. We make an active contribution 
to maintaining the health of our employees as 
well. For example, a physical trainer comes once 
a week for an “active break” to lead exercises for 

the employees to strengthen their muscles and 
combat stress. Some sites also offer massage 
services. One popular extra is the PATRIZIA 
shopping card, which the company tops up with 
a fixed contribution each month, and which em-
ployees can use to purchase anything from books 
to electronics from selected partners.

Equal treatment for all our employees and a work 
environment that is free of any type of discrimi-
nation is something we take seriously. That not 
only means that the German Equal Opportunity 
Act applies to every employment contract; it also 
has an impact on our everyday dealings with one 
another. The company has an above-average 
track record in supporting women and families. 
As of 31 December 2014, 22 percent of our  
senior man agers were women, even without a 
statutory  quota. By comparison, only one-third of 
the Dax, MDax, SDax, and TecDax companies 
have more than 20 percent women in managerial 
positions.

International: Our nine sites 
employ a total of 792 people, 

including 428 women and 
364 men.

17
denmark
10 women, 7 men

1
Sweden
1 woman

3
finland
3 men

26
uK and ireland
9 women, 17 men

720
germany
400 women, 320 men

7
france
3 women, 4 men

12
luxembourg
5 women, 7 men

6
netherlands
6 men

Employees
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Dear shareholders,
Dear ladies and gentlemen,

Following our recent successful years, the past fiscal year has again been extremely pleasing. PATRIZIA posted 
further strong growth and continued to strengthen its presence across Europe.

Cooperation between the Managing board and the SuperviSory board

The Supervisory Board of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG performed all the duties incumbent upon it in accordance 
with the law, the Articles of Association and the bylaws with great care in the fiscal year 2014. We regularly 
 advised the Managing Board on corporate management issues and monitored the measures taken. We were 
always involved from an early stage in all major decisions affecting the Company and the Group. The Managing 
Board fulfilled its reporting duties as prescribed by law and the bylaws in full and provided us with regular written 
and verbal information regarding all fundamental aspects of the Company’s and the Group’s business performance. 
We were provided with equally detailed information about the current risks and opportunities concerning the  
earnings and liquidity situation. The PATRIZIA Managing Board always discussed corporate planning and devia
tions from the planned course of business with us in detail and provided us with corresponding explanations.

MeetingS of the SuperviSory board

In 2014 the Supervisory Board came together in four regular meetings. The Supervisory Board also met on four 
occasions without members of the Managing Board being present. Each member attended every meeting. Regular 
exchanges between the Supervisory Board and the Managing Board also took place outside of the scheduled 
meetings. Where the law, the Articles of Association or the bylaws required the agreement of the Supervisory Board   
for individual measures, we made our decisions on the basis of the reports and proposed resolutions of the 
 Managing Board. When necessary, urgent resolutions of the Supervisory Board were passed by circulation. 
Contrary to the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code, we refrained from forming com
mittees owing to the number of three Supervisory Board members. The Supervisory Board considers it expedient 
to base the size of the Supervisory Board of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG on the statutory minimum number of mem
bers in order to enable it to work efficiently and to allow an intensive exchange of ideas. 

foCuS of adviSory and Control aCtivitieS

The first ordinary meeting of the Supervisory Board that was held on 24 March 2014 was also the accounts 
meeting for the past 2013 fiscal year. The Supervisory Board performed an associated review of the 2013 annual  
financial statements of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG and of the consolidated financial statements, as well as of the 
combined management report for the Company and the Group. Following a separate examination, it also appro
ved the  dependent company report for the 2013 fiscal year. The Supervisory Board agreed with the proposal on 
the appropriation of net profit made by the Managing Board. We also addressed the performance of the individu
al operating segments and liquidity planning. 

Following the Annual General Meeting on 27 June 2014, the newly elected Supervisory Board met for its second 
meeting. All previous members of the Supervisory Board were confirmed in their positions for a further three 

Report of the Supervisory Board
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Report of the 
Supervisory Board

Dr. Theodor Seitz (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
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years. Dr. Theodor Seitz was once again elected Chairman of the Supervisory Board in the constituent meeting. 
As the Annual General Meeting had earlier agreed to a 10% increase in the share capital from company resources 
in order to issue bonus shares, the Supervisory Board decided, in accordance with Article 16 of the Articles of 
Association, to amend the wording of the first sentence of Article 4 (4) of the Articles of Association (Contingent 
Capital 2012). As a regular part of every meeting we discussed the liquidity situation in detail and also the report 
from the operational areas. The Supervisory Board unanimously approved the establishment of PATRIZIA Nether
lands B.V. as a further international subsidiary as part of the European growth strategy. We also discussed the 
structure of the remuneration system for the Managing Board with regard to the Corporate Governance Code’s 
requirement to consider the comparable environment and agreed the bonus payments for the 2013 fiscal year. 
Finally, my Supervisory Board colleagues and I agreed to supplement the Managing Board’s bylaws concerning 
transactions requiring approval. We are thus ensuring that despite an expansion in business activity, the Super
visory Board can always fulfil its advisory and control function.

Our meeting on 26 September 2014 focussed on the international subsidiaries. For each subsidiary, the Managing 
Board outlined its structure and organisation, its key areas of operational activities and its assets under manage
ment, as well as its current deal pipeline. The status of PATRIZIA’s internal Compliance Project and its key miles
tones were also discussed.

At the last Supervisory Board meeting of the fiscal year on 19 December 2014, we discussed planning for 2015 
in detail and approved the budget in full. The Supervisory Board was also given a detailed report on the perfor
mance of the operational areas and on staffing within the company. 

Corporate governanCe

The Managing Board and Supervisory Board prepared a separate Corporate Governance Report, which together 
with the statement on the Company’s management is published on PATRIZIA’s website at  www.patrizia.ag/en/
investorrelations/corporategovernance. In December 2014, the Managing Board and the Supervisory Board 
issued the Declaration of Conformity pursuant to Article 161 of the Aktiengesetz (AktG – German Stock Corpo
ration Act). The recommendations and suggestions of the Code are followed through with a few exceptions. The 
current and all previous declarations of conformity are also permanently available for viewing on the website of 
PATRIZIA. My colleagues on the Supervisory Board and I also examined the efficiency of our Supervisory Board 
activities and discussed the findings. The efficiency of our collaboration with each other and with the Managing 
Board was again found to be good. 

further SuperviSory board reSolutionS

The Supervisory Board passed a circular resolution agreeing to PATRIZIA Immobilien AG’s investment in the 
 acquisition of the “Leo I” portfolio. This also included the temporary acquisition of share certificates in the special  
fund and interim financing of EUR 64.4 million, which was repaid in full at the start of April. We also adopted 
 circular resolutions on the establishment of PATRIZIA Institutional Clients & Advisory GmbH with a view to 
centralising and coordinating sales activities and of PATRIZIA GrundInvest GmbH for the creation of real estate 
funds for private investors. 

exaMination of the annual and ConSolidated finanCial StateMentS 2014 

The annual financial statements of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG, which are prepared in accordance with the Handels
gesetzbuch (HGB – German Commercial Code), and the consolidated financial statements, prepared in accor

www.patrizia.ag/en/investor-relations/corporate-governance
www.patrizia.ag/en/investor-relations/corporate-governance
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dance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as well as the combined management report 
for PATRIZIA Immobilien AG and the Group were examined by Deloitte & Touche GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungs
gesellschaft, Munich, together with the bookkeeping, and each issued with an unqualified audit opinion. The 
aforementioned documents as well as the audit reports from Deloitte & Touche GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsge
sellschaft were made available on time to the members of the Supervisory Board. The Managing Board and the 
 responsible auditors explained the findings of the audit to us at the accounts meeting on 23 March 2015 and 
were available to provide additional information. Deloitte & Touche also stated that the Managing Board has a 
suitable early risk detection system and that the system does not present any major weaknesses. 

The Supervisory Board also thoroughly examined the annual financial statements of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG, 
the consolidated financial statements, the combined management report for the Company and for the Group as 
well as the Managing Board’s proposal on the appropriation of net profit and did not raise any objections. We 
concurred with the findings of the examination by the auditor. The Supervisory Board approved the annual and 
consolidated financial statements. The annual financial statements of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG are thus adopted. 
The Supervisory Board agreed with the proposal on the appropriation of net profit made by the Managing Board 
and supports a renewed capital increase from company funds in order to issue bonus shares instead of paying a 
dividend. 

exaMination of the dependent CoMpany report

The Managing Board’s report on relationships with related parties for the 2014 fiscal year was also checked by 
the auditors. All legal and business relationships with related parties listed therein are in line with current market 
conditions also applicable to such relationships concluded between the PATRIZIA Group and third parties. The 
dependent company report was given the following opinion by the auditors:

“Following our dutiful audit and assessment, we hereby confirm that: 
1. The information given in the report is correct.
2. With regard to any legal transactions listed in the report, the sum paid by the Company was not unduly high.”

The dependent company report prepared by the Managing Board and checked by the auditors and also the 
 associated audit report was made available to all members of the Supervisory Board in good time. In accordance 
with the concluding findings of its examination, the Supervisory Board raises no objections to the report and  
the concluding declaration of the Managing Board contained therein.

We should like to take this opportunity to express our sincere thanks to the Managing Board and all employees 
who have shown such commitment and enthusiasm in contributing to PATRIZIA’s present and future success. 
The notable efforts by everyone enabled us to end the past year on a successful note.

Augsburg, 23 March 2015

For the Supervisory Board

Dr. Theodor Seitz
Chairman

Report of the 
Supervisory Board
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1 Closing price in Xetra trading 
2 All German stock exchanges
3 Based on the average total number of shares in issue (2014: 65,980,584 shares, 2013: 59,840,955 shares, 2012: 54,423,150 shares)
4 As reported in the corresponding fiscal year, i.e. without subsequent adjustment in the application of IAS 33.64
5 Instead, bonus shares are to be issued in a ratio of 10:1, subject to the approval of the Annual General Meeting on 25 June 2015
6 Instead, bonus shares were issued in a ratio of 10:1

Key figureS for The PATriZiA ShAre

2014 2013 2012

Share prices1

High EUR 12.57 9.75 6.65

Low EUR 7.49 6.05 3.32

Year-end closing price EUR 12.19 7.67 6.46

Share price performance % 58.9 18.7 88.3

Market capitalisation as at 31 December1 EUR million 845.8 483.8 370.4

Average trading volume per day2 EUR 913,200 1,225,700 440,400

Average trading volume per day2 Shares 97,900 162,600 89,200

Trading volume for the year3 0.38 0.69 0.42

No. of shares in issue as at 31 December Shares 69,385,030 63,077,300 57,343,000

Capital increase from retained earnings  
in order to issue bonus shares EUR, shares 6,307,730 5,734,300 5,213,000

Earnings per share (IFRS)4 EUR 0.51 0.59 0.44

Dividend per share EUR 0.005 0.006 0.006

2014 was a year of extremes on the stock market. One unusual development was the 47% drop in the price of oil. 
On the other hand, after a volatile year, the DAX index posted a new record high at the start of December when 
it reached almost 10,100 points. Over the year as whole, however, the DAX rose by only 3%. The SDAX smallcap 
index, in which PATRIZIA is also listed, showed better performance, climbing to around 7,200 points, 6% up for 
2014. The weak development of government bonds combined with plentiful liquidity prompted investors to look 
for alternatives on the stock market. 

The PATRIZIA Share
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At the start of the year, the PATRIZIA share traded at EUR 7.67. In July, further bonus shares were issued as 
part of a 10% increase in the share capital from retained earnings. The resulting drop in the share price was 
more than offset within a short time. Within the year, the PATRIZIA share price rose 59% and ended 2014 at 
EUR 12.19. The DAX subsector Real Estate performance index rose 43%, while the DIMAX real estate stock  
index created by the bank Ellwanger & Geiger gained 42%. As a result of the new shares issued and the signifi
cantly higher share price at the end of the fiscal year, market capitalisation rose 75% to EUR 846 million  
(31 December 2013: EUR 484 million).

PATRIZIA Share 

SDAX 

DAXsubsector Real Estate performance index

DIMAX

In terms of range, PATRIZIA’s share price varied between a low of EUR 7.49 and a high of EUR 12.57. On 
 average, all German stock exchanges traded 97,900 PATRIZIA shares per day. The trading volume varied from   
an average of 137,000 shares per day in January to 74,000 shares per day in June. Based on PATRIZIA Immo
bilien AG’s total number of shares in issue in 2014 (around 66 million), the total of 24.8 million PATRIZIA shares 
traded during the reporting year represents an annual turnover of 0.38 (previous year: 0.69).

The PATRIZIA Share

PerformAnce of The PATriZiA ShAre in 2014 comPAreD wiTh vAriouS inDiceS (in %)
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Successful issue of bonus shares for the third year in succession
The Annual General Meeting on 27 June 2014 agreed to the Company’s third capital increase from retained ear
nings in order to issue bonus shares in a ratio of 10:1. The corresponding change to the Articles of Association 
was entered in the Company’s Commercial Register on 3 July 2014 and thus became effective. The new shares 
were issued after the close of trading on 16 July 2014, with the first day of trading on 17 July 2014. Each share
holder received one additional share for every ten existing PATRIZIA shares. The share capital increased by 10% 
and has since amounted to EUR 69,385,030, divided into 69,385,030 registered nopar value shares.

investor relations – contact with our shareholders
We maintain direct contact with our shareholders and provide our institutional and private shareholders and 
also analysts with continuous information on all important events concerning PATRIZIA Immobilien AG. In ad
dition to exchanging information with our existing shareholders, we always endeavour to attract new investors 
for PATRIZIA’s shares. During the year under review we presented the Company at 24 roadshow days and at 
13 conferences in Europe and the USA. We were also available on a regular basis for discussions and telephone 
conferences. All information is available via our website  www.patrizia.ag/en/investorrelations. In addition to 
financial reports, presentations and notifications, the website also contains the latest financial calendar for the 
current year. 

1 10% share capital increase from retained earnings
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Current opinions are regularly updated and can be found at:  www.patrizia.ag/en/investorrelations/shares/
analystsrecommendations

company shareholder structure
PATRIZIA Immobilien AG has a stable shareholder structure: The Company’s CEO and principal shareholder, 
Wolfgang Egger, continues to hold a 51.62% stake via First Capital Partner GmbH. At the end of May 2013, Union 
Investment Privatfonds GmbH informed us that it has a 3.07% holding and is still above the reporting threshold. 
After the end of the period under review (i.e. at the end of January 2015), WA Holdings, Inc. (“Wasatch”), which 
is headquartered in Salt Lake City, USA, also exceeded the 3% threshold. Other institutional investors account for 
32.9%, while at 9.4%, the proportion of private shareholders has continued to fall. 

AnALySTS covering PATriZiA

Bank Analyst

Baader Bank AG Andre Remke

Bankhaus Lampe KG Dr. Georg Kanders

Berenberg, Joh. Berenberg, Gossler & Co. KG Kai Klose

BHF-Bank AG Thomas Effler

Commerzbank AG Thomas Rothäusler

Deutsche Bank AG Katja Filzek

equinet Bank AG Dr. Philipp Häßler

HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt AG Thomas Martin

J.P. Morgan Cazenove Neil Green

Kepler Cheuvreux Thomas Neuhold

Oddo Seydler Bank AG Manuel Martin

PATriZiA ShArehoLDer STrucTure 

1 First Capital Partner is attributable to the CEO Wolfgang Egger
2 Shareholders recorded in the register of names, those not recorded are estimated
3 As per notification of voting rights dated 22 May 2013
4 As per notification of voting rights dated 2 February 2015

First Capital Partner GmbH1

51.62%

Private shareholders2

9.41%

WA Holdings, Inc., USA (Wasatch)4

3.04% 

Other institutional investors2

32.86% 

Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH,  
Germany3 3.07%

The PATRIZIA Share

analysts observe and 
evaluate PATRIZIA and 
its shares on a regular 
basis 
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Consolidated ManageMent RepoRt foR the CoMpany and the gRoup

The Group management report was subsumed into the management report of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG in accor
dance with Article 315 (3) of the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB – German Commercial Code) in conjunction with 
Article 298 (3) of the HGB because the position of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG as a management and financial 
holding company is largely shaped by the position of the Group. The subsumed management report contains all 
presentations of the net asset, financial and earnings situation of the Company and the Group as well as other 
details that are required according to German commercial law and the supplementary provisions of DRS 20. All 
monetary amounts are stated in euros.

1 fundaMental pRinCiples Relating to the gRoup

 1.1 CoMpany pRofile and Business Model

PATRIZIA Immobilien AG has established itself as the leading, fully integrated real estate investment company in 
Europe. Founded in 1984, PATRIZIA now has almost 800 employees and is active in more than ten countries as 
an investor and service provider on Europe’s real estate markets, in both the residential and commercial sectors. 

Our longstanding real estate expertise enables us to cover the key business functions of:

l Alternative Investments l Property Management
l Asset Management  l Transaction Acquisition
l Portfolio Management  l Transaction Sales
l Real Estate Development

At the end of 2014 PATRIZIA managed real estate assets of around EUR 14.6 billion (31 December 2013:  
EUR 11.8 billion), mainly as a coinvestor and portfolio manager for institutional investors such as insurance  
companies, pension fund institutions, government funds and savings banks. PATRIZIA manages real estate  
worth EUR 7.3 billion (31 December 2013: EUR 5.7 billion) on behalf of third parties; a further EUR 7.0 billion  
(31 Decem ber 2013: EUR 5.6 billion) is accounted for by coinvestments where PATRIZIA has an equity stake  
of up to 10%. Own stock of real estate in which PATRIZIA holds 100% of the equity has continued to fall and at 
the yearend amounted to EUR 0.3 billion compared with EUR 0.5 billion in the previous year. The majority of  
own stock will be sold within the year and remaining stocks will be sold off soon after 2015. 

Constant income from services in the field of coinvestments and fund/portfolio management generate the 
 major share of the Group’s result. Future success will be based on an expansion of assets under management  
as this will further increase the fees received for management services.

The following diagram illustrates the services offered by PATRIZIA, as seen in the value chain on the right of the 
page. PATRIZIA has direct access to both investors and real estate. The real estate is held via special purpose 
vehicles (SPV), into which investors invest their funds.

Management Report
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1.2 stRategy

Growth of assets under management through internationalisation and diversification
Quality and trust are crucial for an investment and asset manager such as PATRIZIA. As well as investing in 
real estate, we also invest in people, because our company is increasingly becoming a socalled people  
business. To ensure that we can always offer firstclass products and services, we need to constantly improve 
our efficiency and exploit market opportunities quickly and effectively. Our aim is to secure lasting, profitable 
growth.

Growth of assets under management
l  Sale of own investments 

PATRIZIA will sell most of its own stocks by the end of 2015 and focus on the establishment of new co
investments and special real estate funds. The sale should make around EUR 150 million in equity available 
for new investments.

l  Establishment of new co-investments 
PATRIZIA will reinvest the equity freed up by the sale of own stock in new coinvestments. The level of 
participation depends on the respective investments and partners and is generally up to 10%. The equity 
available thus makes it possible to effect a much larger volume of investments than was previously possible 
with proprietary investments. Coinvestments can cover PATRIZIA’s entire range of services and strengthen 
fund, asset and property management as well as project development focusing on residential accommoda
tion or residential property resale. As well as income from management services, income from participating 
interests also represent a key success factor for coinvestments. 

DirEct accESS to Equity anD rEal EStatE without intErmEDiariES

PATRIZIASPV
CoInvestment 
Yes/No
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› ››
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l Expansion of third parties 
Special funds are established and managed for institutional investors via the Group’s two own investment 
management companies. The funds are established without any equity interest on the part of PATRIZIA.  
During the entire holding period, which for initial establishment is generally ten years, various business  
functions of PATRIZIA act as service providers for the special funds of the investment management com
panies and generate stable, recurrent income. 

 
 PatriZia Grundinvest Gmbh – funds for private investors
  In 2015, PATRIZIA will also offer funds for private investors in addition to fund products for institutional 

investors. Following approval by the BaFin (the Federal Financial Supervisory Authority), the newly formed 
company will establish closedended investment funds for the realestate sector. 

   Details can be found in the Economic Report (Section 2.2.4) and in the Report on Expected Developments 
(Section 6.3.4).

Growth through internationalisation and diversification
PATRIZIA has strengthened its European presence in recent years. In addition to its established locations in  
Germany, its subsidiaries in Amsterdam, Copenhagen, Dublin, Helsinki, London, Luxembourg, Paris and Stock
holm ensure direct access to clients and real estate. The timing differences between some real estate market 
cycles mean that by maintaining a presence in several countries, PATRIZIA ensures greater flexibility for invest
ment and divestment decisions. And the fact that in addition to regional markets, PATRIZIA also develops sub
markets differentiated according to type of use reduces its dependence on cyclical developments in individual 
market segments. This diversification reduces investment risks – not only for PATRIZIA itself but also for its 
clients. It also opens up new growth opportunities.

PATRIZIA only expands into new markets/market segments where other companies that are established on 
the market can be integrated within the PATRIZIA Group and/or where it is possible to recruit highly qualified 
experts with an appropriate track record. For example, the acquisitions in 2011 and 2013 of companies speciali
sing in commercial real estate mean that only around half of the real estate assets now managed are accounted 
for by residential real estate, with the remaining half covering the office, retail, hotel, light industrial or health fields.

1.3 ContRol systeM and peRfoRManCe indiCatoRs

1.3.1 corPoratE manaGEmEnt baSED on SEGmEntS/buSinESS linES

PATRIZIA reports via two operating segments which are defined according to whether PATRIZIA acts as investor 
or service provider. 

The investments Segment primarily bundles portfolio management and the sale of own investments. All income 
from participating interests relating to equity interests of the structural companies from coinvestments is also 
reported in this segment. The management Services Segment covers a broad spectrum of real estate services. 
Commission revenues generated by services, both from coinvestments and from third parties, are reported in 
this segment, along with income from participating interests arising directly in operating units. 

  The financial figures for the Investments and Management Services segments are shown, together with a 
 detailed explanation, under Segment Reporting (No. 7 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

international offices

8
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1.3.2 corPoratE manaGEmEnt baSED on financial PErformancE inDicatorS

The Group’s most important control variable is the operating result before taxes. It is calculated from pretax 
earnings according to IFRS adjusted for profit/loss arising from the noncash market valuation of investment 
properties, interest rate hedges and amortisation of intangible assets. The latter relates to fund management 
contracts transferred on acquisition of PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest KVG mbH (formerly PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest 
KAG mbH) and PATRIZIA UK (formerly Tamar Capital Group Ltd.). Realised changes in value from the sale of 
investment property are added to this. In addition to further, individually agreed targets, the operating result is 
also the measure used for the performancerelated compensation paid to members of the Managing Board and 
to firsttier managers. 

 Calculation of the operating result is explained in detail in 2.3.2. 

Having achieved our targets for equity ratio and indebtedness, the Group's financing is now on a sound footing.
Sales margins are also becoming less important as own stock is increasingly sold off. These have been replaced 
by indicators to measure efficiency such as return on equity based on the operating result. The Group’s growth 
is evaluated using assets under management, because these represent a key basis for  generating earnings and 
will become increasingly important in the future.

  Quantitative information on the financial performance indicators is contained in the Economic Report (Section 
2.3.6).

1.3.3 corPoratE manaGEmEnt baSED on non-financial PErformancE inDicatorS

PATRIZIA does not use nonfinancial indicators directly for corporate management purposes. They mainly relate 
to employee and client satisfaction as well as the investment products offered and the market position achieved. 
As an example, they determine whether PATRIZIA is seen as an attractive employer and can retain competent 
staff or if it can raise sufficient capital as an investment manager. The trust which PATRIZIA enjoys among major 
institutional investors is invaluable. Many investors have invested through us or with us on multiple occasions; 
this in turn means that new investors also become interested in us. The evaluation and analysis of “soft” factors 
provide an indication of relationships with employees, tenants, purchasers and investors and make it possible to 
actively influence processes and structures with a view to cons tantly improving.

1.4 eMployees

In order to ensure that we can enjoy longterm success across Europe as a real estate investment company, we 
need to ensure we are an attractive, exemplary employer in the competition to recruit the best talents. Here, we 
rely on a mix of competitive remuneration, voluntary company social benefits, a friendly and constructive corpo
rate culture and individually tailored development opportunities.

number of employees and hr structure
At the end of 2014, the PATRIZIA Group had 792 permanent employees (previous year: 712 employees, +11.2%), 
including 44 trainees and students of Duale Hochschule Stuttgart majoring in real estate, plus 68 parttime  
employees. 72 employees (previous year: 40) are now employed at PATRIZIA’s international offices in Denmark, 
Finland, France, Great Britain, Ireland, Luxembourg, the Netherlands and Sweden. The increase in the number 
of positions is primarily attributable to the rise in assets under management and to the expansion of the Group’s 
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European presence. In 2014 the number of employees in Germany rose by 7.1%, whereas the increase in other 
countries was 80.0%. On average, PATRIZIA employed 742 staff (previous year: 647 employees, +14.7%), inclu
ding 40 trainees and 61 parttime employees. In terms of fulltime equivalents, the European headcount at the 
end of the year was 770 active employees (previous year: 688 employees, +11.9%). Where appropriate and ne
cessary, we also use a small number of temporary employees.

90% 100%

GEoGraPhical chanGES in Staff numbErS

1  2013: Denmark, France, Great Britain, Ireland, Luxembourg and Sweden
 2014: plus Finland, the Netherlands
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corporate culture
PATRIZIA’s work is characterised by shallow hierarchies, a minimum of bureaucracy, entrepreneurial freedom 
and open communications, all of which help to create longterm loyalty among employees. In 2014, the staff 
turnover rate in Germany fell further to 7.7% (previous year: 8.9%). PATRIZIA also uses various employee events, 
such as the annual employee day or the monthly “PATRIZIA meeting” series to strengthen identity and cohesion. 
The “cup of coffee with the Managing Board” concept has also become an established part of internal communi
cations. It involves at least 25 sessions a year in which a member of the Managing Board meets interested em
ployees to respond to questions. 

In a bid to better reconcile professional interests with personal or family interests, PATRIZIA has for years offered 
flexible working hours and a wide range of parttime models. Employees are also able to work from home.

Diversity within the company
PATRIZIA has a relatively young workforce: the average age of PATRIZIA employees, excluding trainees and  
Managing Board members, is 39 (including Europe, previous year: 39). Due to the significant increase in the 
number of staff necessitated by the rapid growth, the average period of employment (also excluding trainees  
and Managing Board members) is around four years. 

The proportion of male to female fulltime employees is 51% to 49%, while the proportion of male to female part 
time employees is 7% to 93%. With an overall proportion of 53%, the majority of employees in the PATRIZIA 
Group are female. Within senior management (Managing Board and firsttier managers), 6% of those employed 
throughout Europe were women (previous year: 13%), while 22% of senior managers in the Group were female 
(previous year: 23%). 

The expansion across Europe has increased cultural diversity within the Group. At the end of the year, 25 different 
nationalities were employed by PATRIZIA. We support mobility across countries, with management trainees, 
DHBW students and trainees offered the opportunity to acquire intercultural skills as they rotate jobs. This takes 
the form of an international assignment lasting up to two months. Employees, too, have the opportunity to under
take short periods of shadowing or spend several weeks at a different location. A permanent move to a European 
location is also possible.

Sustainable hr policy
As a company enjoying rapid growth, PATRIZIA mainly recruits young talent by offering traineeships. At the end 
of 2014, 44 young people were learning a profession at PATRIZIA, a 4.8% increase on the previous year. The 
current training rate is over 6%, with a mediumterm target of over 7%. PATRIZIA offers five different types of 
apprenticeships. This also includes the practiceoriented Bachelor of Arts course in real estate management in 
cooperation with Duale Hochschule Stuttgart. After they have completed their course and provided they so wish, 
we generally employ all trainees on a permanent basis.

We offer qualified university graduates positions at PATRIZIA via the Management Trainee Programme, which 
was established in 2013. This extensive training programme aims to give our senior managers of the future an 
extremely comprehensive and thorough insight into the Company and to ensure they are given the best possible 
preparation for forthcoming tasks. To live up to these high aspirations, trainees start their professional career at 
PATRIZIA with a permanent employment contract. 
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Priority is given to filling management positions from within the Company. This encourages highly talented employ
ees to perform well while also reducing our costs. Despite growth in Europe and locations throughout Germany, 
we filled 12 of the 22 vacant management positions with our own staff in 2014. In addition, 26 internal changes 
took place in the fiscal year as a result of extensive career development. 

further training
Specially tailored training and qualification opportunities are now an established part of a modern, futurefocused 
corporate culture. With this in mind, we established the PATRIZIA Akademie in 2011 to provide employees with 
a wide range of training opportunities tailored to our company. PATRIZIA draws on knowledge within the work
force and also uses its own experts as trainers. 18 different courses on matters relating to real estate expertise, 
manage ment expertise, personal and social skills and international skills have been offered since the Akademie 
was first established. During the year under review PATRIZIA invested around TEUR 245 in external training for its 
employees. This equates to EUR 374 per employee, based on the average number of people employed during the 
year. In 2014, HR Development received almost 600 applications for internal or external training courses. 

A monthly onehour session on a selected topic is arranged as part of the “PATRIZIA Knowledge” programme. 
These sessions focus on a dialogue between colleagues and aim to promote understanding between employees 
and across departments. 

Employee satisfaction and feedback
Good working conditions encourage motivation and commitment among all employees and strengthen their loyalty 
to the Company. As early as 2010, PATRIZIA arranged for an annual employee survey to be conducted and ana
lysed by external experts in order to obtain an objective overview of employee satisfaction. We believe regular 
feedback helps PATRIZIA to continuously progress and improve. Findings and suggestions are used to determine 
areas for action at departmental and Group level, with every hierarchical level up to the Managing Board involved. 
The surveys have resulted in various initiatives being launched and, for example, the range of company social 
benefits, including a company health management programme, a kindergarten allowance and a staff participation 
programme, has been expanded. To improve internal communication, sixmonthly status meetings have been intro
duced to supplement the annual performance review. The “cup of coffee with the Managing Board” programme 
has also been expanded to ensure dialogue between Managing Board and employees remains at a high level.  
The Group Action Plan, which takes up suggestions from employees and senior managers, also dealt with matters 
such as sustainability and environmental compatibility. In future, the employee survey will continue to be used as 
a tool to facilitate the Company’s development and through the subsequent workshops in particular, it includes 
all employees in the codetermination process while also giving them a sense of shared responsibility. 

attractiveness as an employer
In 2014, PATRIZIA Immobilien AG was awarded the title “Germany’s Best Employer 2014” by the international 
research and consultancy institute “Great Place to Work”. In the latest employee survey, 82% of employees rated 
PATRIZIA as a very good employer. As a result of this high score, PATRIZIA was the only real estate company 
among the top 100 employers in Germany. PATRIZIA came 21st in the category for companies with between 
501 and 2,000 employees. Around 90% of all employees participated in each of the previous surveys. This partici
pation rate for PATRIZIA is considerably above the average of 71% quoted for employee surveys by “Great Place 
to Work”.
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A survey by Immobilien Zeitung also placed PATRIZIA among the most popular employers within the real estate 
sector, with PATRIZIA moving from eighth to second place in 2014.

1.5 ouR ResponsiBility/sustainaBility

PATRIZIA Immobilien AG continues to support various organisations in the real estate industry that are committed 
to promoting sustainability and environmentally conscious actions. Through our membership in other associations 
of national and international property companies, we participate in various working groups to make a contribution 
to the subject of sustainability in the real estate sector, for example in defining reporting standards for residen 
 tial property. Details of PATRIZIA’s sustainability strategy and other activities in this field are provided in its  

 Corporate Responsibility Report, which was published in 2013. Through its Corporate Responsibility Report, 
PATRIZIA meets the criteria of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI).

 www.patrizia.ag/en/investorrelations/financialreports/corporateresponsibilityreport

long-standing membership of the Zia and bVi
PATRIZIA Immobilien AG has been a member of the ZIA (Zentraler Immobilien Ausschuss e.V.), one of the leading 
real estate associations, for nine years. PATRIZIA WohnInvest KVG mbH and PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest KVG mbH 
have been members of the BVI, the association for investment management companies and funds, since 2007 
and 2003 respectively. This Association acts as a point of contact between politicians, supervisory authorities 
and investment management companies in all matters relating to the Kapitalanlagegesetzbuch (Capital Invest
ment Code – KAGB).

PatriZia becomes a member of the bundesverband Sachwerte und investmentvermögen
In connection with its provision of closedended real estate funds for private investors via PATRIZIA GrundInvest, 
PATRIZIA has joined the Bundesverband Sachwerte und Investmentvermögen (bsi). The bsi is an association of 
companies which manage tangible assets and whose activities are directly related to the German Kapitalanlage
gesetzbuch (Capital Investment Code, KAGB). Together with its members, the association promotes sustainable 
investment performance and develops tools to offer appropriate support to investors when deciding to invest in 
tangible assets. In joining the bsi PATRIZIA has affirmed its commitment to high standards of transparency and 
quality. 

Property management recertified by tÜV
TÜV Nord has certified PATRIZIA Deutschland GmbH’s Property Management business function in accordance 
with DIN EN ISO 9001:2008 since 2007. The certification is valid for the offices in Augsburg, Berlin, Cologne, 
Dresden, Frankfurt, Hamburg, Munich and Stuttgart. Certification aims to ensure continuous development of 
processes and to identify potential for improvement. Recertification audits are performed every three years, most 
recently in 2012. Recertification in accordance with the new standard ISO 9001:2015 will be required in 2015. 
In 2014 the Berlin and Dresden offices were audited as part of the annual surveillance audit. All services and 
products were audited. The certification process is supplemented by regular internal audits.

In addition, PATRIZIA Property Management is increasingly using green electricity from local sources to supply 
its assets under management; we obtain this from almost all suppliers on almost the same terms as for electrical 
energy produced from conventional sources. Regular renegotiation of framework agreements often enables us  
to secure more favourable terms for tenants and owners for the supply of natural gas, buildings insurance, mea
surement services or drinking water analyses.

www.patrizia.ag/en/investor-relations/financial-reports/corporate-responsibility-report
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Sustainability certificates for Project Developments
Real Estate Development, which focuses on the creation of own construction projects, is an essential component 
of PATRIZIA’s business activities. PATRIZIA was one of the first real estate companies in Germany involved in 
establishing the “New Housing” label within the German Sustainable Building Council (Deutsche Gesellschaft für 
Nachhaltiges Bauen ‒ DGNB). As well as contributing important expert knowledge to drive the development of 
this new certification system, as early as 2010 PATRIZIA also started consistently submitting all its own const
ruction project developments for DGNB certification. As a result, the projects Provinopark in Augsburg, Belsen
park in Düsseldorf, FriedrichKarlTerrassen in Cologne and Unter den Linden in Hamburg were each awarded 
with the DGNB precertificate in silver. PATRIZIA even received the precertificate in gold for the VERO town 
villas project in Frankfurt. The project developments Nawiasky Strasse in Munich and Alte Jakobstrasse in Berlin 
have also achieved precertification. PATRIZIA has stated its intention to obtain a precertificate for every future 
project development. Key fundamental principles of PATRIZIA’s project developments include avoiding additional 
land sealing and focusing on inner city areas when selecting project locations, thereby ensuring short distances 
be tween home and place of work. 

Existing real estate and sustainability
We optimise the energy standards of the properties we manage by employing modern, efficient technologies and 
we also make a lasting contribution to protecting the environment and climate by extending the life cycle of the 
buildings. For example, the construction measures undertaken to enhance the value of our buildings include the 
installation of new windows and heating systems and heat insulation to facades, ceilings and roofs. The measu
res are always closely agreed with the investors as it is important not to overlook economic efficiency – including 
from a tenant’s perspective – when considering ecological aspects. The layout of the housing areas with their 
green spaces and playgrounds also forms part of the ecological assessment. 

PATRIZIA’s travel management policy also considers sustainable aspects. In principle, we use the mode of trans
port that enables the destination to be reached in the most economic and most environmentally compatible way, 
with priority given to public transport. 

PatriZia Kinderhaus foundation
PATRIZIA also practises sustainability through the PATRIZIA KinderHaus Foundation, which was established by 
CEO Wolfgang Egger in 1999 and whose stated aim is to create living spaces for children and young people in 
need throughout the world by constructing PATRIZIA children’s homes. The main focus is always on constructing 
new buildings, extending buildings or converting buildings which are precisely tailored to the respective require
ments. In the 15 years the Foundation has been active, eleven children’s homes have already been constructed 
throughout the world in Europe, Africa, Asia and South America providing care to more than 150,000 children 
and young people in need. In doing so, there has been one clear focus, because whether offering a qualified 
school or vocational education, sensitive care for severe and chronic childhood illnesses or merely a loving 
 shelter and accommodation, helping people to help themselves is what ultimately counts for all projects of the 
PATRIZIA KinderHaus Foundation. 100% of every euro donated is fed into the projects. 

 www.patrizia.ag/kinderhausstiftung/en.html
 www.facebook.com/pages/PATRIZIAKinderHausStiftungenglish/977609578922592

percent of all donations 
are forwarded to aid 
projects

100

www.patrizia.ag/kinderhausstiftung/en.html
www.facebook.com/pages/PATRIZIA-KinderHaus-Stiftung-english/977609578922592
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2 eConoMiC RepoRt

2.1  eConoMiC enviRonMent

markets in general: In 2014, the German economy grew by approximately 1.6%, largely driven by exports and 
stable private household consumer expenditure. This favourable environment helped produce a record low in the 
level of unemployment, which at around 6.7% was the lowest for around two decades. Economic development in 
Europe was modest. Successful implementation of the reforms to stabilise national budgets in recent years en
abled many European countries to reduce their debts by a significant margin. However, further steps are required 
to achieve the Maastricht targets. The differing situations on the employment markets and the continuing rela
tively high indebtedness of private households are curbing growth in the Eurozone. The ECB has already reduced 
the main refinancing rate and through this measure and the purchase of government bonds, the ECB aims to 
further improve the mediumterm economic outlook.  Source: Employment Agency, German Federal Statistical 
Office

real estate markets: German real estate remains very popular with investors. In 2014, the transaction volume 
for commercial real estate rose 30% to around EUR 40 billion. Investment activities were driven firstly by low 
returns on alternative investments and secondly by increased crossborder investments. The small supply of 
 properties in top locations reinforced the trend towards purchasing real estate in B locations. In addition, the 
favourable economic development ensured stable demand on the rental market. 

The strong price momentum on the German residential real estate market continued, especially in the top 7 
 lo cations. With a rise in completion figures having increased supply, the price rise momentum is likely to slow in 
2015. Alongside Germany, slight upward movements in house prices were noticeable in Denmark, the Nether
lands and Spain.  Source: CBRE

2.2 the CouRse of Business

24% rise in assets under management
At the end of 2014, PATRIZIA was managing real estate assets of EUR 14.6 billion. During the year under review, 
assets under management rose by EUR 2.8 billion or 24% (31 December 2013: EUR 11.8 billion). We therefore 
greatly surpassed our target increase of EUR 2.0 billion. In 2014 we acquired residential and commercial real  
estate totalling more than EUR 3.4 billion for the various investment vehicles managed by PATRIZIA, with  
more than 50% of this amount outside Germany. The purchases were set against sales of around EUR 0.7 billion. 
 PATRIZIA thus effected real estate transactions worth more than EUR 4.1 billion in the year under review. 

For 2015 we again expect a net growth in assets under management of EUR 2.0 billion. Half of this should be 
achieved through the balance from regular purchases and sales and through one to three portfolio transactions 
with individual volumes of EUR 0.2 billion to EUR 1 billion. Almost all assets under management are now assign
ed to coinvestments and services business for third parties, with own stock accounting for just 2%. 27% of the 
 managed real estate is located outside Germany.
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GEoGraPhical DiStribution of aSSEtS unDEr manaGEmEnt

Germany 73.4%

UK & Ireland 8.3% 

Nordics 5.6%

BeNeLux 4.8%

Others 5.0% 

France 2.9%

aSSEtS unDEr manaGEmEnt by SEctor1

Residential 47.6%

Office 30.8%

Others 2.0%

Hotel 2.1% 

Health 1.6%

Logistics 2.7%

Light Industrial 3.5%

Retail 9.7%

Own investments Coinvestments Third parties
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The course of business is shown below based on the categories own investments, coinvestments and third  
parties. 

1 Transfer of ownership, usage and encumbrances (purchase price payments become due at the time of the commercial changeover and are thus recognised  
in profit or loss) 

2  Notarial deeds (sales commission becomes payable at the time of the notarial deed and is therefore recognised in profit or loss)
3 Including new-build sales from real estate developments (Q1: 48 units, Q2: 53 units, Q3: 42 units, Q4: 75 units)

residential and commer-
cial units were sold via 
PATRIZIA in 2014

4,638
Summary of comPlEtED SalES, aVEraGE PricES anD rEntS

1st quarter 2nd quarter 3rd quarter 4th quarter 2014 2013 change
 in %

units from  
own investments1 237 152 203 2,393 2,985 1,714 74.2

Units from 
 residential 
 property resale 156 141 129 95 521 746 –30.2

Average weighted  
sales price  
in EUR/sqm 2,828 2,645 2,669 2,530 2,684 2,640 1.7

Units from  
block sales 81 11 74 2,298 2,464 968 154.5

Average weighted  
sales price  
in EUR/sqm 1,303 2,664 2,025 1,150 1,189 1,618 –26.5

Average  
rental income  
in EUR/sqm 7.53 7.44 7.34 8.62 7.56 7.64 –1.0

co-investments2 196 266 266 384 1,112 1,054 5.5

Units from 
 residential 
 property resale3 196 201 260 351 1,008 743 35.7

Units from  
block sales 0 65 6 33 104 311 –66.6

Services2 39 140 33 329 541 668 –19.0

Units from 
 residential 
 property resale 1 5 3 0 9 6 50.0

Units from  
block sales 38 135 30 329 532 662 –19.6

total 472 558 502 3,106 4,638 3,436 35.0
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rESiDEntial ProPErty rESalES anD blocK SalES in 2014 – ExcluDinG rEal EStatE DEVEloPmEntS

region/city number of units sold area sold in sqm

residential 
property 

resale

block 
sales

total Share 
in %

residential 
property 

resale

block 
sales

total Share 
in %

Leipzig 0 829 829 27.8 0 48,472 48,472 24.2

Cologne/Düsseldorf 77 614 691 23.1 5,679 43,647 49,326 24.6

Frankfurt/Main 0 580 580 19.4 0 36,041 36,041 18.0

Munich 406 10 416 13.9 30,624 3,398 34,022 17.0

Hamburg 15 285 300 10.1 863 18,971 19,834 10.0

Hanover 0 106 106 3.6 0 7,604 7,604 3.8

Berlin 23 40 63 2.1 2,132 2,720 4,852 2.4

total 5211 2,4642 2,985 100 39,298 160,853 200,151 100

1 Of these, 330 apartments were reported under investment property. In addition, 85 apartments from real estate developments (inventories) were sold, making a total of 
606 residential property resales.

2 Of these, 1,048 apartments were reported under investment property.

Taking into account sales completed and redensification measures, our portfolio at the end of the year under re
view comprised 1,081 units with an area of around 100,100 sqm. We anticipate that around 70% of the units will 
be realised through residential property resale and the remaining 30% through block sales.

2.2.1 own inVEStmEntS GErmany

PATRIZIA is planning to sell its entire own stock soon and is focussing on establishing new coinvestments and 
real estate funds. 73.4% of PATRIZIA’s entire portfolio as at 1 January 2014 was sold during the year under re
view.

residential property resales
In the year under review, the sale of individual apartments to tenants, owneroccupiers and private investors fell 
30% to 521 apartments (previous year: 746 apartments). Once again, private investors were the most predomi
nant category of purchasers. They accounted for 73% (previous year: 70%) of all individual apartments sold in the 
year under review, with owneroccupiers accounting for 21% (previous year: 19%) and tenants 6% (previous year: 11%).

block sales
With 2,464 apartments sold in 29 transactions, block sales rose 155% in 2014 (previous year: 968 apartments). 
In Hanover and Leipzig, all remaining stocks of apartments were sold in the fourth quarter of 2014.

percent of purchasers 
were private investors

73
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thE PatriZia Portfolio aS at 31 DEcEmbEr 2014 – brEaKDown by rEGion, ExcluDinG rEal EStatE DEVEloPmEntS

region/city number of units sold area sold in sqm

residential 
property 

resale

block 
sales

total Share 
in %

residential 
property 

resale

block 
sales

total Share 
in %

Cologne/Düsseldorf 333 127 460 42.5 30,257 24,374 54,631 54.6

Hamburg 26 228 254 23.5 1,933 13,770 15,703 15.7

Munich 215 0 215 19.9 19,122 0 19,122 19.1

Frankfurt/Main 146 0 146 13.5 10,009 0 10,009 10.0

Berlin 6 0 6 0.6 594 0 594 0.6

total 726 355 1,081 100 61,915 38,144 100,059 100

rEal EStatE DEVEloPmEnt

focus on the construction of new living space
The new construction project in the Westend district of Frankfurt, which is being implemented as a proprietary 
investment, comprises six exclusive city villas (product name VERO) with 75 apartments, almost all of which have 
been notarised but not yet sold and reported in profit/loss, and one apartment block with 64 apartments (product 
name F40), which was sold to an institutional investor in 2012. After completion, the city villas are expected 
to be posted in profit/loss in the first quarter or 2015, while the apartment block is likely to be posted in the 
second quarter of 2015 once an occupancy rate of 65% has been achieved and posted. The overall project has 
been awarded the gold precertificate for residential buildings by the German Sustainable Building Council  
(Deutsche Gesellschaft für Nachhaltiges Bauen (DGNB)).

With FriedrichKarlTerrassen, PATRIZIA implemented a newbuild project with 84 highquality owneroccupied 
apartments in Cologne’s Niehl district. The entire project was sold in 2014 within the context of residential  
prop erty resales.

The IBA Soft House building was a contribution to the International Building Exebition in Hamburg in 2013. The 
passive house with four units has one remaining unit for sale.

PatriZia’S own rEal EStatE DEVEloPmEntS aS at 31 DEcEmbEr 2014

city, project intended  
sales price

marketable 
 residential space

Planned 
 completion

Frankfurt/Main, VERO/F40 EUR 112 million 16,850 sqm Q1/Q2 2015

Hamburg, IBA-Soft House EUR 0.6 million 160 sqm Q4 2015

total Eur 112.6 million 17,010 sqm –
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Current status of the real estate developments for Wohnmodul I as at 31 deCember 2014

City, project Intended  
sales price 

in eur million

marketable  
residential space 

 in sqm

planned 
 completion

Augsburg, Provinopark 43 10,990 
Q2 2014 to  

Q4 2015, 3 CP1

Berlin, Alte Jacobstrasse 40 8,091 Q3 2016

Düsseldorf, Belsenpark 3 498 Completed

Düsseldorf, Gerresheim 287 73,250 Q3 2017

Hamburg, Unter den Linden 148 39,872 Q4 2017

Munich, Baumkirchen 273 52,489 Q4 2017, 4 CP1

Munich, Hofmannstrasse 400 86,680 Q4 2019

Munich, Nawiaskystrasse 25 6,557 Q4 2015

total 1,219 278,427 –

1 CP = Construction phases

EUR billion new  
construction project 
volume of PATRIZIA 
WohnModul I

1.2

2.2.2 Co-Investments Germany

resIdentIal

Wohnmodul I 
PATRIZIA WohnModul I SICAV-FIS firstly enables the purchase of real estate developments and asset reposition-
ing properties, while secondly allowing apartments to be sold even during the investment phase. The exit strategy 
provides for both block sales and individual sales. Our partner in this co-investment is a renowned German pen-
sion fund that has promised total equity of EUR 770 million in several tranches. EUR 705 million of this amount 
had been called by 31 December 2014. PATRIZIA stake in the co-investment is 10.1%; this currently equates 
to tied capital of EUR 68.5 million. With regard to the current real estate developments, it is expected that an 
annual new construction volume of around EUR 200 million will be marketed within the framework of residential 
property resale up to 2019.

At the end of July 2014, PATRIZIA signed a purchase agreement for EUR 578 million for this co-investment to  
acquire a portfolio with around 5,500 apartments in the Netherlands. PATRIZIA is taking over fund and asset ma-
nagement of the broadly diversified portfolio, which has a total living space of 340,000 sqm. Since the purchase 
agreement was still subject to approval by various governing organs of the seller, only the first tranche of 4,157 
apartments was transferred in December 2014. The remaining apartments are being transferred in the second 
quarter of 2015.

In addition, residential assets with a total volume of over EUR 100 million was acquired in Copenhagen via 
 PATRIZIA Nordics. The purchases relate to both new construction projects and existing buildings. While the  
plan is to retain the new-build apartments for long-term portfolio management and rental, the existing apart-
ments are to be sold through residential property resale.
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GbW Gmbh and süddeutsche Wohnen Gmbh
These two PATRIZIA co-investments relate to the residential portfolios that were acquired from Bayern LB and 
LBBW Baden-Württemberg in 2013 and 2012 respectively; both portfolios were purchased via a consortium 
of long-term investors. The core business activity of the two co-investments consists in long-term and value-
enhancing management of the residential property assets. PATRIZIA acts as investment and asset manager. The 
positive trend on real estate markets in the south of Germany continued in 2014. Operational implementation of 
the business plans is on schedule. PATRIZIA has a 5.1% stake (EUR 56.9 million) in GBW’s equity, while its stake 
in SÜDEWO is 2.5% (EUR 15 million).

CommerCIal

patroffice real estate Gmbh & Co. KG
PATRoffice Real Estate GmbH & Co. KG is an actively managed co-investment with two pension funds, namely 
APG from the Netherlands and ATP Real Estate from Denmark. PATRIZIA Immobilien AG has a 6.25% (EUR 6.5 
million) stake in the company, which was founded in 2007. The exit phase and the sale of the properties were 
commenced in 2013. Real estate worth EUR 29.4 million was successfully sold in 2014. The current investment 
volume is EUR 303.4 million and should be reduced till 2016.

In 2014 there were no major changes to the co-investments seneca (DEIKON portfolio with 86 specialist stores 
and supermarkets in attractive retail locations in Germany) and sono west (construction of a new, eight-storey 
office and business building in Frankfurt by the middle of 2016).

2.2.3 Co-Investments InternatIonal

CommerCIal

aviemore topco
At the start of August, PATRIZIA acquired three business parks in the United Kingdom for a further co-invest-
ment with Oaktree Capital Management and in which PATRIZIA has a 10.0% stake. When converted, the 
purchase price was around EUR 538 million (GBP 430 million). With more than 300 companies and over 3,500 
employees based there, Hillington Park in Glasgow is Scotland’s largest business park. Chineham Park in Basing-
stoke in south-west London focuses on technology firms and currently has around 60 companies based there 
employing around 3,500 people. Birchwood Park in Warrington in the north-west of England currently accom-
modates 165 companies with around 6,000 employees. Each of the three parks is already established and also 
offers important development potential as the regions are currently undergoing major growth. The transaction 
was completed in October 2014. In conjunction with the acquisition of the real estate, twelve employees are also 
moving to the PATRIZIA Group and will continue to undertake asset management for the business parks.

Citruz holdings lp
In the middle of October, PATRIZIA UK acquired another commercial portfolio with an investment volume of 
around EUR 160 million (GBP 126 million) for a co-investment with Oaktree Capital Management (PATRIZIA’s 
stake: 10.0%). The portfolio includes 24 properties located throughout the UK in the office, industry and leisure 
segments, some of which are, however, to be sold in the near future.
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In 2014 there were no major changes in the commercial coinvestments Plymouth Sound holdings lP (four office 
buildings in Birmingham, Bracknell, Camerley and Watchmoor Park) and winnersh holdings lP (IQ Winnersh 
business park located near London), which were also acquired with Oaktree Capital Management in the UK 
(PATRIZIA’s holding unchanged at 10.0% and 5.0%). We believe regional markets in the United Kingdom continue 
to offer good opportunities to acquire attractive commercial real estate at the low point of the market cycle and 
to increase its value through active asset management.

2.2.4 thirD PartiES GErmany

rESiDEntial & commErcial

PatriZia investment management companies
Various PATRIZIA business functions act as service providers for the investment management companies’ 
special funds, thereby generating fees. Conflicts of interest between the funds are prevented through different 
purchase criteria for the real estate and through purchase teams that act independently of each other. The funds 
are established for an initial holding period of between seven and ten years and fulfil the role of property asset 
holders. Conflicts of interest with coinvestments are avoided through different approaches to utilisation and 
different exit strategies for the properties. Both companies have been trading as a Kapitalverwaltungsgesellschaft 
(KVG, investment management company) since the end of January 2015.

PatriZia wohninvest KVG mbh, established in 2007, invests in residential real estate in Germany and Europe. 
At the end of 2014 it was managing seven special funds with a target volume of around EUR 2 billion, of which 
around EUR 1 billion has already been invested. During the year under review real estate with a volume of  
EUR 163 million was purchased (notarised).

As at 31 December 2014, PatriZia Gewerbeinvest KVG mbh managed 17 funds with real estate assets of 
EUR 5.6 billion. In March 2014 it acquired the “Leo I” portfolio with a market value of around EUR 1 billion for a 
newly established special real estate fund. The portfolio comprises of 18 office buildings that are leased to the 
federal state of Hessen on a longterm basis. The fund is backed by a consortium of European institutional inves
tors and the portfolio was sold by a subsidiary of Commerz Real AG. Overall, PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest KVG sold 
or acquired real estate valued at EUR 1.8 billion, on the basis of notarisations, for the managed funds.

PatriZia funDS aS at 31 DEcEmbEr 2014

in Eur million Planned target 
volume

committed  
equity

assets under 
 management

number  
of funds

PatriZia wohninvest KVG mbh 2,026 1,102 9751 7

PatriZia Gewerbeinvest KVG mbh 8,744 4,442 5,642 17

Pool funds 5,273 2,485 3,528 9

Individual funds 1,471 856 553 6

Label funds 2,000 1,101 1,561 2

total PatriZia 10,770 5,544 6,617 24

1 Excludes real estate developments secured under purchase contracts
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Establishment of PatriZia Grundinvest
In September, PATRIZIA GrundInvest GmbH was founded in order to establish closedended real estate funds for 
private investors. A major advantage of the new company is that it can access numerous services and the entire 
European network of the PATRIZIA Group. For investors, this ensures highquality products with sustainable real 
estate. PATRIZIA GrundInvest will also draw on the experience of the local experts within the PATRIZIA Group 
in Germany and other countries for asset management, which is crucial for profitable investment in real estate. 
From a minimum investment of EUR 15,000, investors can invest in the products, which will cover all use types 
within the real estate segment. The annual return should be 4 to 6%. However, before the company can commence 
its activities, it must receive approval from the Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin) because the intro
duction of the Capital Investment Code (Kapitalanlagegesetzbuch, KAGB) now means that only those closed
ended investment funds can be placed on the market which are also authorised by the BaFin. 

implementation of the aifmD by PatriZia
The permits for PATRIZIA WohnInvest KVG mbH and PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest KVG mbH were granted in Germany  
at the end of January 2015. The application for the newly founded PATRIZIA GrundInvest GmbH was submitted 
in the fourth quarter of 2014 and is currently being processed by the supervisory authority. 

2.2.5 thirD PartiES intErnational

PatriZia nordic cities
Ten commercial properties in Denmark were acquired for around EUR 170 million as an initial investment for the 
new “PATRIZIA Nordic Cities” fund established for two investors from Germany. The office and retail properties 
with a total area of 22,000 sqm are all in citycentre locations, with six of them in Copenhagen’s “Stroget” cen
tral pedestrian area. In response to the high demand, small offices are to be converted into apartments, increa
sing the residential share to 20%. 

implementation of the aifmD by PatriZia in other countries
In June, we received a positive decision for PATRIZIA Fund Management A/S, our licence platform in Denmark. 
PATRIZIA Real Estate Investment Management S.à r.l. in Luxembourg was licensed in October.  

2.2.6 othEr EVEntS

As part of the drive towards European expansion, two further international locations were established in 2014, 
with registered offices in Amsterdam and Helsinki. The Netherlands represents a core market for our strategy 
as the Dutch real estate market has recently experienced a significant resurgence in attractiveness. When the 
Amsterdam location was established, PATRIZIA already had investments totalling around EUR 200 million in the 
Netherlands, and a residential portfolio of EUR 578 million was acquired shortly afterwards. Institutional inves
tors in the Netherlands have invested with PATRIZIA for a number of years now.

Like Denmark, Sweden and Norway, we also believe the Finnish real estate market offers major potential. The 
Helsinki office is managed by the subsidiary PATRIZIA Nordics, which is located in Copenhagen. PATRIZIA 
 Nordics now manages real estate assets of EUR 829 million.
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2.3 eConoMiC position 

2.3.1 GEnEral StatEmEnt by thE manaGinG boarD

PATRIZIA continued its growth path in the 2014 fiscal year. Assets under management rose EUR 2.8 billion to 
EUR 14.6 billion, with EUR 1.0 billion alone relating to the acquisition of the Leo I portfolio. At EUR 50.2 million, 
the operating result achieved the forecast of at least EUR 50.0 million and was 31.7% up on the previous year. As 
we continued to sell our real estate portfolios and redeem corresponding liabilities to banks, consolidated total 
assets fell in line with expectations, allowing the equity ratio to increase from 41.9% to 55.3%. The cash and cash 
equivalents of EUR 145.4 million mean we can enter into further coinvestments. Overall, our net asset, financial 
and earnings situation showed extremely satisfactory development and offers a good starting position for continued 
promising development. 

2.3.2 EarninGS Situation of thE GrouP

Extract from thE conSoliDatED incomE StatEmEnt

2014 
Eur ʼ000

2013
Eur ʼ000

change  
in %

Revenues 291,815 217,398 34.2

Total operating performance 205,468 207,878 –1.2

EBITDA 13,642 24,856 –45.1

EBIT 6,702 18,749 –64.3

EBT 41,998 39,599 6.1

Operating result1 50,210 38,119 31.7

Consolidated net profit 35,020 37,168 –5.8

1 Adjusted for amortisation on other intangible assets (fund management contracts), unrealised value adjustments to investment property and non-cash effects from  
interest hedging transactions. Realised changes in the value of investment property have been added. 

Sales revenues and Service fees drive revenues
In 2014, consolidated revenues rose by one third to EUR 291.8 million (2013: EUR 217.4 million, +34.2%). This 
was due, in the first place, to the fact that 54% of the units sold (1,607) came from current assets and that their 
selling prices totalling EUR 129.5 million are reported in revenues (2013: EUR 80.3 million). In addition, real estate 
developments – including the real estate development “FriedrichKarlTerrassen” in Cologne – were sold for EUR 
25.7 million within the context of individual sales. Revenues from service business also rose significantly by 12.1% 
to EUR 106.3 million (2013: EUR 94.8 million). The main driver behind this development was third parties.

At EUR 58.9 million, revenues from inventories generated by residential property resales (portfolio and real 
estate development) were EUR 4.2 million higher than the previous year (2013: EUR 54.8 million, +7.6%), due to 
higher prices for new builds despite overall lower sales figures, while sales revenues from block sales actually 
increased from EUR 25.5 million to EUR 96.2 million (+277.6%). The sale of 73.4% of our real estate portfolio 
(around 200,000 sqm) resulted in a significant planned 31.0% reduction in associated rental income to  
EUR 21.2 million. The average monthly rent per square metre across the entire portfolio increased to EUR 8.62 
in the last quarter (31 December 2013: EUR 7.57 per square metre). At EUR 38.5 million, revenues from 
co-investments remained on a par with the previous year (2013: EUR 39.2 million, –1.9%), while in contrast, 
revenues from third parties improved 22.0% to EUR 67.8 million (2013: EUR 55.6 million). This was among 
other things due to the fact that thirdparty assets under management grew slightly more than those for 
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 coinvestments and that no purchasing fee was received for the new coinvestments in the United Kingdom. In 
terms of origin, these revenues from the services business (EUR 106.3 million) can be divided into oneoff and 
recurring income. Of the EUR 106.3 million generated in the year under review, an amount of EUR 55.0 million 
(52%) related to oneoff income, and an amount of EUR 51.3 million (48%) was of a recurring nature. In the 
 previous year, the ratio was 57% to 43%.

A breakdown of consolidated sales revenues is shown below:

conSoliDatED rEVEnuES

2014
Eur ʼ000

Percentage of 
Group revenues 

2014

2013
Eur ʼ000

Percentage of 
Group revenues 

2013

Revenues from residential  
property resale1 33,267 11.4 54,763 25.2

Revenues from block sales1 96,248 33.0 25,491 11.7

Revenues from real estate  
developments 25,674 8.8 0 –

Rental revenues 21,187 7.3 30,699 14.1

Revenues from co-investments 38,467 13.2 39,226 18.0

Revenues from third parties 67,818 23.2 55,609 25.6

Other2 9,154 3.1 11,609 5.4

total 291,815 100 217,398 100

1 Purchase price receipts from investment property are not included in revenues.
2 The item “Other” primarily includes rental ancillary costs.

However, sales revenues have only limited significance for PATRIZIA since the selling prices of properties re
ported in noncurrent assets are not reflected in revenues. Profits from such sales are reported under the item 
“income from the sale of investment property”. In the fiscal year under review, purchase price receipts of EUR 
171.8 million resulted in a profit of EUR 17.0 million after deduction of carrying amounts of EUR 154.8 million. 
In the period 2007 to 2014, real estate accounted for positive prorata value adjustments that are only realised at 
sale and are reported accordingly in the presentation of the operating result.

1 Purchase price receipts from investment property are not included in revenues. Instead, the income statement reports the gross profit.

rEVEnuES from SolD rEal EStatE

2014
Eur ʼ000

2013
Eur ʼ000

change  
in %

Sales revenues from inventories 155,189 80,254 93.4

Residential property resale 33,267 54,763 –39.3

Block sales 96,248 25,491 277.6

Real estate developments 25,674 0 –

Sales revenues from investment property1 171,818 169,428 1.4

Residential property resale 76,827 96,691 –20.5

Block sales 94,991 72,737 30.6

total 327,007 249,682 31.0
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In the year under review, changes in inventories amounted to EUR 110.5 million (2013: EUR –36.7 million). 
 Decreases in the carrying value of real estate sold from inventory assets reduced stock by EUR 147.3 million 
(2013: EUR –68.8 million). Inventories increased as a result of capitalisation totalling EUR 36.8 million (2013: 
EUR 32.1 million), primarily as a result of progress in new builds within real estate development. Once again, the
re was no increase to inventory through purchases. Based on the carrying value, a gross margin of 10.5%  
was achieved for the sale of inventories (2013: 14.3%). 

further investments in real Estate Developments and in our Portfolio
The cost of materials fell 6.6% on the previous year to EUR 54.5 million (2013: EUR 58.3 million). At EUR 29.9 
million, the majority was accounted for by real estate developments, with EUR 11.8 million invested in renovation 
and reconstruction activities within the portfolio (2013: EUR 22.0 million). Renovation expenses for real estate 
reported under inventories are generally capitalised. Total current maintenance costs (which generally cannot  
be capitalised) remained stable as the majority of sales only became effective at the end of the year (2014:  
EUR 2.4 million, 2013: EUR 2.3 million). Cost of materials also includes operating costs. 

The item “cost of purchased services” was previously included in other operating expenses. Reporting this 
item separately shows the extent to which orders of relevance for revenues have been placed with external com
panies. For PATRIZIA, this concerns in particular the expenses for the label funds of PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest, 
for which PATRIZIA acts as a service investment management company. The figures for the previous year have 
been adjusted accordingly. In 2014, the cost of purchased services fell by 29.2% or EUR 4.1 million to EUR 10.0 
million.

Block sales (Investment Property) 
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Group headcount increases by 22%
Staff costs showed a significant increase. In line with the higher average headcount for the year of 742 compared 
with 647 for the previous year (+14.7%), staff costs rose 17.5% to EUR 77.2 million. This rise was due to the 
new appointments made during the year and to the fact that appointments made in the previous year affected 
the figures for the whole of the year under the review. The increase in jobs in Germany is attributable to the 
Company’s growth and involves mainly backoffice functions such as IT or Institutional Clients, where we make 
advance outlays to recruit national and international investors. In addition, some employees of the newly estab
lished company PATRIZIA GrundInvest started their work in the fourth quarter of 2014. Sales commission de
veloped in line with the higher number of apartments sold. The total provision on the reporting date to cover the 
variable salary entitlements to be ascertained for the Managing Board and Managing Directors for the past fiscal 
year was higher than in the previous year due to the significant 59% increase in the share price. 

  Please refer to the Compensation Report under item 3.2 of this Management Report and to item 9.4 of the 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information concerning the compensation of the 
 Managing Board. 

  The components of other operating expenses are listed under item 6.7 of the Notes to the Consolidated Finan
cial Statements. 

As a result of the developments outlined, earnings before finance income and taxes (Ebit) were EUR 12 million 
lower than in 2013 at EUR 6.7 million (2013: EUR 18.7 million). 

Significant reduction in financial expenses 
All of PATRIZIA’s interest hedging transactions expired with effect from 31 January and 30 June 2014. Depending 
on changes in interest rate level, the valuation was reported as income or expense in the financial result but did 
not affect the Group’s liquidity position. During the year under review, changes in market value from interest 
hedging transactions were positive at EUR 2.8 million. Since no further interest hedging costs were incurred  
from July, financing costs (interest plus margin) fell to 3.37% of the average annual bank liabilities compared  
with 7.06% in the previous year. The cash-related financial result (excluding valuation effects) improved from 
EUR –31.0 million to EUR –10.3 million (+66.8%). 

  Further information is available under item 6.10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Fixed salaries

Variable salaries

Sales provisions

Social insurance contributions 

Others

EUR million lower cash 
related finance costs

20.7

comPoSition of Staff coStS fixED anD VariablE comPonEntS in Eur million

31.12.2014

31.12.2013

0 10 20 30 40 50 807060

40.7 19.7 8.2 77.26.2 2.4

33.2 17.0 5.5 6.6 3.4 65.7
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marKEt Valuation of intErESt ratE hEDGES

1st quarter 
Eur ʼ000

2nd quarter 
Eur ʼ000

3rd quarter 
Eur ʼ000

4th quarter 
Eur ʼ000

2014  
Eur ʼ000

2013
Eur ʼ000

change  
in %

Change in the va-
lue of derivatives 2,077 742 0 0 2,819 19,525 –85.6

investment result drives earnings
The influence of income from participations on the consolidated result is increasing as the number of co
investments increases. PATRIZIA generated earnings of EUR 39.1 million from the SÜDEWO, GBW and Seneca 
coinvestments (2013: EUR 32.1 million, +21.6%). The rise was among other things due to the wholeyear effect 
of Gbw Gmbh and to higher performancelinked bonuses. In the case of GBW, income comprises the prorata 
advance profit distribution for 2014 of EUR 9.5 million, the dividend on invested equity of EUR 3.2 million and the 
performance fee of EUR 11.4 million. In addition to the advance profit distribution for 2014 of EUR 7.3 million 
and the dividend on invested equity of EUR 1.7 million, the coinvestment SÜDEwo also generated a perfor
mancelinked bonus of EUR 5.6 million. The Seneca supermarket portfolio contributed a dividend on invested 
equity of EUR 0.4 million. The coinvestment wohnmodul i produced earnings from companies accounted  for  
using the equity method of EUR 3.2 million compared with EUR 0.7 million in the previous year. It is important 
to note that in addition to residential property resale, own construction projects are also a focus here, some of 
which will still be in the development phase until 2019.

The earnings from the coinvestments and the improved financial result meant earnings before tax (EBT) increa
sed by 6.1% to EUR 42.0 million. 

transition to operating result
PATRIZIA’s earnings power showed a significant improvement. After deduction of the financial result, earnings 
before tax (EBT) according to IFRS were EUR 42.0 million compared with EUR 39.6 million in 2013 (+6.1%). When 
determining the operating result, noncash related components of the result (depreciation on fund management 
contracts and unrealised changes in the value of investment property) are eliminated and realised changes in 
investment property are added. Using this method, there was an operating result of EUR 50.2 million compared 
with EUR 38.1 million in the previous year. This represents a 31.7% increase. An analysis of the sources reveals 
that the Management Services segment accounted for 72% of the operating result in the year under review 
(2013: 77%). The proportion should increase to 80% in the 2015 fiscal year.

EUR million income 
from participations out 
of the co-investments 
SÜDEWO, GBW and 
Seneca 

39.1
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Of the previously applied writeups of investment property, a total amount of EUR 62.3 million was realised from 
2007 to 2014, including EUR 8.6 million in the 2014 fiscal year. We expect the sale of remaining own stock to 
contribute a further amount of around EUR 7.5 million to the operating result, with most of this being realised in 
2015. 

calculation of thE aDjuStED fiGurES

 1st quarter 
Eur ʼ000

2nd quarter 
Eur ʼ000

3rd quarter 
Eur ʼ000

4th quarter 
Eur ʼ000

2014  
Eur ʼ000 

2013  
Eur ʼ000 

Ebit 10,583 –1,097 –3,094 310 6,702 18,749

Amortisation on fund  
management contracts1 620 621 622 622 2,485 2,566

Unrealised change in the  
value of investment property 0 0 0 –51 –51 –17

Realised change in the value  
of investment property 4,247 3,560 3,964 –3,205 8,566 15,063

Ebit adjusted 15,450 3,084 1,492 –2,324 17,702 36,361

Income from participations 4,166 4,168 4,205 26,523 39,062 32,122

Earnings from companies  
accounted for using the  
equity method 784 782 684 932 3,182 658

Financial result –2,453 –2,142 –1,677 –1,227 –7,499 –11,904

Change in the value  
of derivatives –2,077 –742 0 0 –2,819 –19,525

Release of other result  
from cash flow hedging 31 0 0 0 31 433

Gains/losses from currency 
translation 91 308 179 –27 551 –26

oPEratinG rESult 15,992 5,458 4,883 23,877 50,210 38,119

1 Other intangible assets that were transferred as part of the acquisition of PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest KVG mbH and PATRIZIA UK Ltd.

DEtailS of thE oPErational rEaliSation of fair ValuE chanGES SincE thE initial rEValuation

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 total

Change in the value of  
investment property 69,477 0 0 325 3 18 17 51 69,891

Realised change in the value of  
investment property 0 3,179 304 –353 12,042 23,568 15,063 8,566 62,369

Cumulative balance from value  
changes and operating realisation 69,477 66,298 65,994 66,672 54,633 31,083 16,037 7,522 7,522

The unusually high tax quota of 16.6% compared with 6.5% in the previous year is primarily due to a tax audit. 
PATRIZIA Immobilien AG and its subsidiaries undergo regular tax audits in Germany and other countries. In  
Germany, the tax audit for the years 2007 to 2010 was completed in the year under review. All results of 
this audit have been sufficiently taken into account in the consolidated financial statements to 31 December 
2014. Of the tax expense of EUR 7.0 million, an amount of EUR 1.0 million is attributable to a retrospective tax 

percent increase in 
operating result

31.7
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 repayment for the assessment periods 2007 to 2010 and a further EUR 1.9 million to a tax prepayment for the 
assess ment periods 2011 to 2012, the tax audit for which is still outstanding. The actual tax expense for the 
profit in 2014 amounted to EUR 4.1 million, representing an actual tax quota of 9.8%. 

The retrospective tax payments and the consequential effects of the tax audit meant that consolidated net 
profit fell 5.8% and amounted to EUR 35.0 million for the year under review (2013: EUR 37.2 million). Earnings 
per share fell from EUR 0.54 to EUR 0.51.

2.3.3 thE GrouP’S financial Situation

caPital StructurE

bonded loans offer flexibility
In 2013, two bonded loans in a total amount of EUR 77.0 million were taken out with an institutional investor 
from among PATRIZIA’s real estate investors. The loans have a residual term of 1.5 and 3.5 years respectively, 
are subject to interest at 4.5% and 4.65% and may be repaid by us prematurely. They are reported under the 
 balance sheet item noncurrent liabilities. 

The sale of real estate is always associated with a reduction in bank liabilities. The Group has only shortterm 
bank loans where the maximum terms run until the end of 2016. A target reduction in bank loans to less than 
EUR 100 million was set for the end of 2014. In fact, loans decreased by EUR 199.7 million, or 62.1%, to  
EUR 122.0 million. As a result of redemptions following property sales, loans fell to below EUR 60 million; how
ever, increases of around EUR 64.3 million had a contrary effect as liquidity was held available for new invest
ments. In the end, the purchases which were already at an advanced stage of negotiation at the end of the year 
could not be completed in the year under review and the liquidity that was held in reserve was not called. Most  
of the interest hedges expired on 1 January 2014, with the remainder expiring on 30 June 2014. Consequently, 
all loans are currently unhedged and are mainly based on the 1 or 3month Euribor rate. This has resulted in a 
significant reduction in financial expenses compared with the previous year. 

  A detailed schedule of maturities for the loans by fiscal year is listed in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements under item 5.2. 

further increase in equity ratio
As a result of the consolidated net profit retained in the previous year, equity increased from EUR 374.5 million to 
EUR 410.0 million. For 2015 we expect a further increase in equity; with the reduction in total assets, the current 
equity ratio of 55.3% (31 December 2013: 41.9%) will increase further and should reach 80 to 90% by the end of 
the year.

inVEStmEntS

In addition to investments for construction measures within our portfolio and our real estate developments, 
which are largely shown under the cost of materials, we invested a further EUR 65.0 million for coinvestments: 
EUR 12.0 million is invested in the “Aviemore” business park, and the residential portfolio acquired in the  
Netherlands as part of WohnModul I was financed by PATRIZIA with equity of EUR 21.0 million. 

percent amounts the 
Group ’s equity ratio

55.3
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  An overview of all  investments is provided in the table on PATRIZIA’s capital allocation under item 2.3.4 Net 
Assets of the Group.

lIquIdIty

liquidity analysis
Central responsibility for the financing of the PATRIZIA Group is borne by PATRIZIA Immobilien AG. As of  
31  December 2014, there were loan agreements with four German banks, concluded exclusively in euros.  
According to the loan agreements and in accordance with our current business model, we reduce loans depen-
ding on the status of sales for the financed real estate. When selling real estate or individual units, up to approx-
imately 72% of the sales proceeds is used for repayment. As of 31 December 2014, PATRIZIA had cash and 
cash equiva-lents of EUR 145.4 million. The high cash amount is primarily due to the increase of EUR 64.3 million 
in existing loans, as explained in the previous chapter “Capital Structure” under item 2.3.3.

Liquidity management ensures that the PATRIZIA Group is solvent at all times. Most of the individual Group com-
panies are directly linked to and monitored by the Group’s automatic cash pooling system. On a same-day basis, 
account surpluses are transferred to the parent company and account deficits are offset by it. Payment receipts 
from operating companies and the liquidity surpluses from sales represent the most important source of liquidity 
within the Group and, alongside bank loans and two bonded loans, ensure that financing requirements are met. A 
liquidity reserve is maintained in the form of cash to ensure the Group’s solvency.

2.3.4 net assets of the Group

1 Real estate assets comprise investment property valued at fair value and real estate held in inventories valued at amortised cost.
2 Proportion of bank loans to real estate assets. Only investment property is calculated at fair value. Inventories are stated at amortised cost. 
3 Ratio of net financial debt to equity adjusted for minority interests 
4 Ratio of operating result to equity as of 31 December of the previous year 
PP = percentage points

patrIZIa net asset and fInanCIal Key fIGures

31.12.2014
eur ʼ000

31.12.2013
eur ʼ000

Change  
in %

Total assets 741,176 892,715 –17.0

Equity (including non-controlling partners) 410,048 374,481 9.5

Equity ratio 55.3% 41.9% 13.4 PP

Bank loans 121,950 321,634 –62.1

– Cash and cash equivalents 145,361 105,536 37.7

+ Bonded loans (non-current liabilities) 77,000 77,000 –

= Net financial debt 53,589 293,098 –81.7

Real estate assets1 277,201 538,920 –48.6

Loan to Value2 44.0% 59.7% –15.7 PP

Net Gearing3 13.1% 78.6% –65.5 PP

Operating return on equity4 13.4% 11.3% 2.1 PP

EUR million cash and 
cash equivalents on 
the balance sheet date

 145.4
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Sale of real estate portfolio reduces total assets
The sale of our real estate reduced consolidated total assets by EUR 151.5 million to EUR 741.2 million as 
of 31 December 2014. Our consolidated financial statements show a real estate portfolio of EUR 277.2 million 
(–48.6%). Of this, an amount of EUR 78.5 million was accounted for by investment property, which is measured 
at fair value, and EUR 198.7 million by inventories, which are measured at amortised cost. This item also inclu
des our own real estate developments in Frankfurt and Hamburg. They had a carrying value of EUR 107.8 million. 
After their completion, all PATRIZIA newbuilds should be sold within the next few months. As a result of income 
from participations and further capital additions, participations and participations in associated companies 
increased to a total of EUR 165.1 million (+67.8%). Consolidated total assets will decline further in 2015. 

PatriZia caPital allocation aS at 31 DEcEmbEr 2014

assets under 
management

in Eur million

investment  
capital

in Eur million

Participation 
in % 

operating companies1 – 52.3 100

own investments2 277 149.7 100

co-investments 7,012 184.2

residential 5,398 144.5

GBW GmbH 2,703 56.9 5.1

Süddeutsche Wohnen GmbH 1,617 15.0 2.5

WohnModul I SICAV-FIS 1,034 68.5 10.1

Other 44 4.1 10.0

commercial Germany 547 17.3

PATRoffice 303 6.5 6.3

sono west 58 6.0 30.0

Seneca (formerly DEIKON) 186 4.8 5.1

commercial international 1,067 22.4

Aviemore Topco (UK) 547 12.0 10.0

Citruz Holdings LP (UK) 135 4.0 10.0

Plymouth Sound Holdings LP (UK) 65 2.2 10.0

Winnersh Holdings LP (UK) 320 4.2 5.0

third parties 7,308 – 0

tied investment capital 14,597 386.2 –

Bank balances and cash – 100.8 –

total investment capital 14,597 487.0 –

thereof borrowed capital (bonded loans) – 77.0 –

thereof PATRIZIA equity – 410.0 –

1 Tied investment capital relating to the acquisition of PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest KVG and PATRIZIA UK and the development of the new companies PATRIZIA WohnInvest 
KVG, PATRIZIA France, PATRIZIA Netherlands, PATRIZIA Nordics

2 Investment property and inventories including real estate developments
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consolidated cash flow Statement
In the reporting year, cash inflows from current business activities amounted to EUR 140.0 million (2013:  
EUR 179.8 million, –22.1%) Our investment activities resulted in a cash inflow of EUR 99.5 million, mainly  
driven by payments from the sale of investment property. The investment properties sold were affected by 
 changes in market values. Although these changes had in the past led to income, they had not yet produced 
 corresponding incoming payments as the changes in market value are only realised on sale. On the other hand, 
the volume of transactions caused cash outflows from financing activities since, as in previous years, signifi
cantly more loans could be repaid than were taken out. The change in cash thus amounted to EUR 39.8 million 
(2013: EUR 67.4 million) and increased cash and cash equivalents from EUR 105.5 million at the end of 2013  
to EUR 145.4 million as of 31 December 2014. 

Summary of thE 2014 conSoliDatED caSh flow StatEmEnt

2014
Eur ʼ000

2013
Eur ʼ000

change  
in %

Cash inflow from operating activities 140,020 179,788 –22.1

Cash inflow from financing activities 99,502 87,046 14.3

Cash outflow from financing activities –199,697 –199,433 0.1

Changes in cash 39,825 67,401 –40.9

Cash and cash equivalents 1 January 105,536 38,135 176.7

Cash and cash equivalents 31 December 145,361 105,536 37.7 

net asset Value
Net asset value (NAV) represents the actual value of the real estate less net financial liabilities. At PATRIZIA, 
some real estate is valued at the market value (fair value, applies to investment property), and some at amortised 
cost (inventories). In 2014, sales above the carrying value testified to the value retention of our properties. The 
Management Services division, which contributed 72% of the operating result over the year, is not included when 
calculating net asset value. The NAV can only serve as a component for determining corporate value in conjunc
tion with the value of the services business. For comparative purposes, we will continue to disclose NAV for as 
long as we have real estate assets on the balance sheet.
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2.3.5  notES on thE annual financial StatEmEntS PrEParED unDEr hGb for PatriZia 
immobiliEn aG (holDinG comPany)

The position of the parent company PATRIZIA Immobilien AG is essentially determined by the activities of the 
operating companies of the Group. As a financing and management holding company for these companies, 
PATRIZIA Immobilien AG generated revenues of EUR 20.0 million (2013: EUR 13.4 million), mostly from manage
ment cost allocations to the subsidiaries. The increase in revenues was largely due to the fact that this allocation 
was increased in the 2014 fiscal year. Commission income for services provided by the subsidiaries is also in
voiced through the parent company and results in corresponding administrative expenses. Staff costs increased 
by 21.2% to EUR 24.0 million (2013: EUR 19.8 million) since the number of employees rose over the course of 
the year from 213 to 250, or from 242 to 281 when trainees are included. The cost of materials and other ope
rating expenses fell 11.2% to EUR 17.4 million (2013: EUR 19.6 million). There was a moderate increase in other 
operating expenses due to higher rental expenses for office accommodation caused by increased staff numbers 
and new branch offices and by expenses for due diligence processes. Net interest income fell EUR 0.5 million to 
EUR 3.1 million. The parent company’s profit/loss consists of the operating profit/loss of the Company itself and 
profits and losses of the subsidiaries with which profit and loss transfer agreements exist. At EUR 41.1 million, 
net income from profit transfers and loss absorption was down 15.5% compared with the previous year (2013: 
EUR 48.6 million). By contrast, income from participations increased sharply to EUR 5.8 million (2013: EUR 1.8 
million, +217.4%). PATRIZIA Immobilien AG's net profit under HGB for the 2014 fiscal year amounted to  
EUR 21.2 million (2013: EUR 25.5 million) and when combined with the profits carried forward of EUR 89.9  
million represents the Company’s distributable unappropriated profit. This unappropriated profit amounted to 
EUR 111.2 million, an increase of 23.6% over the previous year (EUR 89.9 million).

calculation of naV

31.12.2010  
Eur ʼ000

31.12.2011  
Eur ʼ000

31.12.2012 
Eur ʼ000

31.12.2013 
Eur ʼ000

31.12.2014 
Eur ʼ000

Investment property1 614,945 532,321 374,104 229,717 78,507

Investments in joint ventures 8 18 0 0 0

Participations in associated companies 0 6,809 15,810 18,295 68,497

Participations 3,090 3,134 18,407 80,074 96,555

Inventories2 510,438 407,529 345,920 309,203 198,694

Current receivables and other current assets 10,282 48,7353, 4 92,0133, 4 82,262 84,774  

Bank balances and cash 70,537 43,6903 50,3303 105,536 145,361

Less non-current liabilities 0 0 0 –77,0004 –77,0004

Less current liabilities –17,008 –16,3543, 4 –25,8763, 4 –75,759 –92,506

Less bank loans –841,380 –673,7523 –521,054 –321,634 –121,950

naV 350,912 352,130 349,654 350,694 380,932

No. of shares 52,130,000 52,130,000 57,343,000 63,077,300 69,385,030

naV/SharE (Eur) 6.73 6.75 6.10 5.56 5.49

1 Fair market valuations
2 Valuation at amortised cost; sales margin (gross) 2014: 10.5%
3 Figures excluding PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest KVG mbH, purchase loans eliminated (concerns 2011) and cash and cash equivalents increased by outflow of equity  

(concerns 2011 and 2012)
4 Adjusted for non-property-specific items

EUR million  
unappropriated profit

 111.2
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The pleasing progress by PATRIZIA Immobilien AG will continue in the 2015 fiscal year. According to the forecast 
for the consolidated result in 2015, earnings from investments and profit transfer agreements will continue to  
improve. For 2015 we expect an increase in staff costs in line with the market, taking into account the whole
year effects from 2014. Equity before appropriation of profits will continue to develop favourably. Indebtedness 
may increase temporarily if interim financing becomes necessary within the framework of investments.

Summary of thE PatriZia immobiliEn aG balancE ShEEt

31.12.2014
Eur ʼ000

31.12.2013
Eur ʼ000

Non-current assets 302,825 250,321

Current assets 268,596 216,564

Prepaid expenses 572 518

total aSSEtS 571,993 467,402

Equity 386,207 364,964

Provisions 15,085 11,109

Liabilities 170,701 91,330

total Equity anD liabilitiES 571,993 467,402

Summary of thE PatriZia immobiliEn aG incomE StatEmEnt

2014
Eur ʼ000

2013
Eur ʼ000

change  
in %

Revenues 20,014 13,423 49.1

Other capitalised services and other operating income 1,779 1,341 32.7

Cost of materials (cost of purchased services) –259 –1,780 –85.5

Staff costs –23,964 –19,779 21.2

Depreciation, amortisation, write-downs and  
other operating expenses –21,328 –21,090 1.1

Profit/loss from participations, profit transfers  
and loss absorption 46,839 50,428 –7.1

Net interest income 3,127 3,589 –12.9

result from ordinary activities 26,210 26,133 0.3

Taxes –4,966 –590 741.7

net profit 21,243 25,543 –16.8

Profit carried forward 89,926 64,382 39.7

unaPProPriatED Profit 111,169 89,926 23.6
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2.3.6 DEVEloPmEnt of financial PErformancE inDicatorS

Summary of financial performance indicators over time
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The target for the 2014 fiscal year was to increase assets under management by a net EUR 2 billion. The actual 
increase achieved was EUR 2.8 billion. For operating result before taxes, which is a key control parameter for 
the Group, the target of at least EUR 50 million was achieved with an actual figure of EUR 50.2 million. The year
end target for indebtedness was less than EUR 100 million, plus EUR 77 million in bonded loans. This target was 
not achieved on the balance sheet date due to the shortterm increases for new coinvestments. 

Since the financing of properties and sales margins have lost their relevance due to the sale of own investments, 
the return on equity will be used in future as a further indicator of financial performance (2014: 13.4%, 2013: 
11.3%). 

3 additional infoRMation

3.1 infoRMation Relating to takeoveRs

The following statement is a disclosure of information in accordance with Article 289 (4) and Article 315 (4)  
of the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB – German Commercial Code) which can play a role in the acquisition of control 
over a company. All arrangements comply with the standards for German publicly traded companies.

composition of subscribed capital 
Since the capital increase from company funds was entered into the Commercial Register on 3 July 2014, the 
Company’s subscribed capital (share capital) has totalled EUR 69,385,030 and is divided into 69,385,030 nopar 
value registered shares each representing a notional portion of the share capital of EUR 1.00. All shares are of 
the same class. The same rights and obligations are associated with all shares. Each share confers the right to 
one vote. All shares are admitted for trading on the official market of the Prime Standard of the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange. 

restrictions relating to voting rights and transfer of shares
The shareholders in the Company are not restricted with regard to the acquisition or disposal of shares by legisla
tion or by the Company’s Articles of Association. The Managing Board is not aware of any contractual restrictions 
relating to voting rights or the transfer of shares.

Direct or indirect share of voting rights of more than 10% 
As at 31 December 2014, Wolfgang Egger, CEO of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG, held a total stake of 51.62% in 
the Company via First Capital Partner GmbH, in which he directly and indirectly holds a 100% stake via WE 
Vermögens verwaltung GmbH & Co. KG. 

Shares with special rights conferring powers of control
There are no shares with special rights conferring powers of control.
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System of control of voting rights when employees have a stake in the capital and do not exercise 
their rights of control directly 
Employees who have a stake in the capital of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG exercise control rights like any other 
shareholder in accordance with legal provisions and the Articles of Association.

appointment and dismissal of members of the managing board, changes to the articles of association 
The provisions governing the appointment and dismissal of members of the Managing Board can be found in 
 Article 84 f. of the Aktiengesetz (AktG – German Stock Corporation Act) and are supplemented by Article 6 of 
the Company’s Articles of Association. Changes to the Articles of Association take place in accordance with 
 Article 179 ff. of the AktG in combination with Articles 16 and 21 of the Articles of Association of PATRIZIA 
 Immobilien AG. These make use of the option, granted by law, of specifying a different capital majority. 

Powers of the managing board to issue and buy back shares 
By resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 23 June 2010, the Managing Board is entitled to acquire shares 
in the Company with a volume of up to 10% of the share capital until 23 June 2015. The entitlement may be 
exercised by the Company in full or for partial amounts, on one or more occasions and in pursuit of one or more 
purposes, but also by its subsidiaries or for its own account or for the account of the latter by third parties. 
 Acquisition can be effected at the discretion of the Managing Board via the stock exchange, by means of a public 
bid made to the shareholders, through the use of derivative instruments or through an individually negotiated 
repurchase. The acquired shares may subsequently be used for all legally permissible purposes; in particular they 
may be cancelled, sold in exchange for a contribution in kind or to shareholders or used to meet subscription or 
conversion rights. 

The Managing Board was further authorised, by resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 20 June 2012, to in
crease the share capital on one or more occasions with the consent of the Supervisory Board by up to a total of 
EUR 14,335,750 in exchange for cash contributions and/or contributions in kind by issuing new, registered no
par value shares by 19 June 2017 (Authorised Capital 2012). In certain cases, the Managing Board is authorised, 
with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to exclude the legal subscription rights of the shareholders. The 
complete authorisation results from Article 4 (3) of the Articles of Association. In addition, the Managing Board is 
authorised on one or more occasions, with the approval of the Supervisory Board to grant until 19 June 2017, in 
accordance with the more detailed conditions of the bonds, convertible bonds, and/or bonds with warrant, made 
out to the bearer or registered and/or participatory rights with or without conversion privileges or option right  
or conversion obligation (referred to together in the following as the “bonds”) in the aggregate principal amount 
of up to EUR 375,000,000 with a term of up to 20 years and to grant the bearers or the creditors of bonds,  
conversion privileges or option rights to new, registered nopar value shares of the Company with a pro rata 
amount of the share capital of up to EUR 14,335,750. As a result of the 2013 and 2014 capital increases from 
company funds, the 2012 contingent capital was conditionally increased by law, in accordance with Article 218 
sentence 1 AktG, in the same ratio as the share capital – i.e. by 10% in each case – by EUR 1,576,932.50, from 
EUR 15,769,325.00 to EUR 17,346,257.50 through the issue of 17,346,257.50 new, registered nopar values 
shares with a prorata share in the share capital of EUR 1.00. The details relating to the contingent capital  
increase result from Article 4 (4) of the Articles of Association. 

Significant agreements by the company contingent upon a change in control subsequent to a  
takeover bid
No agreements contingent upon a change in control subsequent to a takeover bid exist.
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compensation agreements by the company with the members of the managing board or employees 
for the event of a takeover bid 
No compensation agreements exist with the members of the Managing Board or employees for the event of a 
takeover bid.

3.2 CoMpensation RepoRt

The following compensation report explains the principle features of the compensation system for the Managing 
Board and Supervisory Board of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG and discloses the amount of the payments made to the 
individual members of the Managing Board and Supervisory Board for the 2014 fiscal year. The compensation 
report considers all statutory requirements and corresponds to the recommendations of the German Corporate 
Governance Code, with the restriction that the variable portion of remuneration does not set a maximum amount. 

compensation of the managing board
The system of management compensation used was approved under a resolution of the Annual General Meeting 
on 23 June 2010. The amount and structure of the compensation paid to the Managing Board members are 
 determined and regularly reviewed by the Supervisory Board. The compensation paid to Managing Board members 
is based on their respective remit, the personal performance of the individual Managing Board member and of 
the Managing Board as a whole as well as the economic and financial situation and performance of PATRIZIA. 
The compensation paid to Managing Board members is customary for the sector, appropriate and performance
related. It is made up of nonperformancerelated components and performancerelated components with short 
and longterm incentive effects. There are no agreements in place in the case of a change of control.

non-performance-related compensation
The nonperformancerelated components comprise fixed basic compensation, which is paid as a monthly salary, 
pension contributions as well as noncash and other benefits which primarily consist of values to be applied in 
accordance with tax guidelines for the use of a company car and insurance premiums. 

Performance-related compensation
The performancerelated, variable compensation components are generally calculated on the basis of quantitative 
and qualitative targets set at the start of the fiscal year, which are divided into three categories: company targets, 
business line targets and individual targets. Consequently, the amount of variable compensation paid out depends 
on the degree to which the predetermined targets are achieved, missed or exceeded. 

The primary criterion for the achievement of company targets is the operating result. This indicator is calculated 
from the earnings before taxes of the previous fiscal year, calculated in accordance with IFRS and without taking 
into account changes in the fair value of the investment property and interest rate hedges and without taking 
depreciation on intangible assets (fund management contracts that came about in the course of the acquisition 
of PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest KVG mbH and of the Tamar Capital Group Ltd. (now known as PATRIZIA UK)) into 
account and taking into account realised increases in fair value. The operating result acts as an important control 
variable for the Group. Every year, depending on the Company’s planning, a target figure that exactly specifies 
the amount of consolidated profit to be achieved is defined. If the operating result is less than the hurdle of 67% 
of the defined target figure, the variable compensation of the Managing Board is omitted completely, irrespective 
of which other targets – company, business line or individual targets – were achieved. 
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Additional criteria for calculating variable compensation are the return on equity in the past fiscal year and the 
performance of PATRIZIA’s shares over two years in relation to the DIMAX real estate reference index. 

The target figures defined for each target correspond to a degree of achievement of 100%. If the actual value 
 determined corresponds to more than 120% of the defined target value, 150% of the variable compensation 
is paid. This is also the upper limit that has been defined, at the time of granting, for the maximum amount of 
 variable compensation that can be achieved. If 80% of the target is achieved, 50% of the variable compensation  
is granted.

Short and long-term components of variable compensation
For each predefined target, a variable compensation amount is calculated depending on the degree to which the 
target has been achieved. The total of all the amounts is paid out in two components. Twothirds of the amount 
is paid out in the form of a cash payment, which is designated as a shortterm component. The remaining third 
of the variable compensation is granted in the form of performance share units, i.e. it is not paid out directly in 
cash. This third is intended as a component with a longterm incentive effect. Performance share units are virtual 
shares which grant the legitimate beneficiary the right to receive a monetary amount after a fixed performance 
period has passed. For PATRIZIA, this performance period has since the start of the 2014 fiscal year been set 
at three years for all Managing Board members. The performance share units do not carry any voting or dividend 
rights. The variable compensation component with a longterm incentive effect is initially converted into perfor
mance share units at the average Xetra rate of the PATRIZIA share 30 days prior to and after 31 December of 
the fiscal year in question. The cash price equivalent of the shares calculated from this is paid out at the average 
Xetra rate 30 days prior to and after December 31 of the third year following the fiscal year in question, i.e. after 
the end of the vesting period. The variable compensation components with a longterm incentive effect are thus 
dependent on the Company’s share price performance. A maximum amount for the fair value at the time of pay
ment has not been set.

Shares of the individual components in the managing board’s overall compensation
Assuming that both PATRIZIA and the Managing Board members meet 100% of their targets for the respective 
fiscal year, the following approximate compensation structure applies for the fair value at the time of granting: 
around 41% of the total remuneration is made up of nonperformancerelated compensation components.   
The shortterm variable compensation which is payable immediately accounts for a further 39%. The longterm 
compensation components from performance share units make up around 20% of the overall compensation.

total remuneration for the 2014 fiscal year
The total remuneration granted for the Managing Board for the 2014 fiscal year amounted to EUR 3.2 million. In 
some cases no payments have yet been made in connection with these benefits. For 2014, 51,508 performance 
share units have been included for the Managing Board, the cash equivalent of which will be paid out in the 2018 
fiscal year (87,413 for the 2013 fiscal year, payment in 2016 and/or 2017). The total compensation paid for the 
Managing Board in the year under review amounted to EUR 2.7 million (2013: EUR 2.5 million).
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The following table corresponds to the sample tables recommended in the German Corporate Governance  
Code and differentiates according to payments which the members of the Managing Board have been granted  
for the fiscal year but which have not yet been paid out in full and payments which have actually been made.

The following payments were granted to the members of the Managing Board for the respective fiscal year:

wolfGanG EGGEr, cEo arwED fiSchEr, cfo KlauS Schmitt, coo

Payments granted 
EUR '000

Joined: 21.08.2002
Appointed until: 30.06.2016

Joined: 01.03.2008
Appointed until: 29.02.2016

Joined: 01.01.2006
Appointed until: 31.12.2015

2013 2014 2014
(min)

2014
(max)

2013 2014 2014
(min)

2014
(max)

2013 2014 2014
(min)

2014
(max)

Fixed compensation 360 360 360 360 350 360 360 360 360 360 360 360

Fringe benefits 221 271 271 271 321 331 331 331 121 121 121 121

total 382 387 387 387 382 393 393 393 372 372 372 372

One-year variable 
compensation 4372 4683 0 5404 4112 4163 0 4804 3892 4683 0 5404

Multi-year variable 
compensation

Performance share 
units tranche 
2015–2017 – 2343 – – 2083 – – 2343 –

Performance share 
units tranche 
2014–2016 – – – 2062 – – 1942 – –

Performance share 
units tranche 
2014–2015 2192 – – – – – – – –

total 1,038 1,089 999 1,017 955 1,074

Pension expenses 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 24 24 24 24

total  
compensation 1,050 1,101 1,011 1,029 979 1,098

1 The item primarily includes non-cash benefits arising from the provision of company cars and insurance premiums.
2 Granted in the 2014 calendar year for the 2013 fiscal year once all criteria required for determining the variable compensation were known.
3  Corresponds to the liability posted for 130% monetary target achievement (the exact amount will be specified during the subsequent settlement process)
4 Corresponds to the maximum achievable variable compensation of 150%
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The following payments were made to the members of the Managing Board in the respective fiscal year:

wolfGanG EGGEr, cEo arwED fiSchEr, cfo KlauS Schmitt, coo

Amount paid  
EUR '000

Joined: 21.08.2002
Appointed until: 30.06.2016

Joined: 01.03.2008
Appointed until: 29.02.2016

Joined: 01.01.2006
Appointed until: 31.12.2015

2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014

Fixed compensation 360 360 350 360 360 360

Fringe benefits 221 271 321 331 121 121

total 382 387 382 393 372 372

One-year variable  
compensation 306 437 249 411 290 389

Multi-year variable  
compensation

Performance share  
units tranche  
2012–2013 – 2772 – – – –

Performance share  
units tranche  
2011 – 2012 1963 – 1483 – 1543 –

total 884 1,101 779 804 816 761

Pension expenses 12 12 12 12 24 24

total compensation 896 1,113 791 816 840 785

compensation of the Supervisory board
The compensation of the Supervisory Board is determined by resolution of the Annual General Meeting and in 
the Articles of Association. The Supervisory Board receives fixed compensation in line with the level customary  
in the market; this is paid to members in four equal instalments at the end of each quarter. No variable compen
sation is paid. 

In view of the size of the Supervisory Board with just three members, no committees were formed. Consequently, 
the committee remuneration recommended by the German Corporate Governance Code is irrelevant. If a Super
visory Board member was not a member for the entire fiscal year, he/she only receives the fixed compensation 
pro rata temporis. The members of the Supervisory Board also receive reimbursement for all their expenses as 
well as reimbursement for any valueadded tax payable on their compensation and expenses. The compensation 
of the Supervisory Board for the 2014 fiscal year totalled EUR 100,000 plus reimbursement for expenses, and is 
reported in other operating expenses.

1 The item primarily includes non-cash benefits arising from the provision of company cars and insurance premiums.
² Amount paid out in 2014 after conversion of the performance share units tranche 2012–2013 at the average price of EUR 7.784692.
³ Amount paid out in 2013 after conversion of the performance share units tranche 2011–2012 at the average price of EUR 6.255211.
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The following payments were granted to the Supervisory Board in the 2014 fiscal year:

Eur '000 fixed compensation

2014 2013

Dr. Theodor Seitz, Chairman 40,000 40,000

Harald Boberg 30,000 30,000

Manfred J. Gottschaller 30,000 30,000

total 100,000 100,000

3.3  deClaRation on CoRpoRate ManageMent – disClosuRes in 
 aCCoRdanCe with aRtiCle 289a hgB (geRMan CoMMeRCial Code)

The Managing Board of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG issued a declaration on 12 January 2014 concerning corporate 
management in accordance with Article 289a of the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB – German Commercial Code) and 
has made this available to the public on the Company's website at  www.patrizia.ag/en/investorrelations/
corporategovernance/declarationoncorporatemanagement. 

3.4 tRansaCtions with Related CoMpanies and individuals

The Managing Board submitted a dependent company report to the Supervisory Board, to which it adds the 
follow ing final statement: 

“As the Managing Board of the Company, we hereby declare that to the best of our knowledge at the time when 
the legal transactions listed in the report on relationships with affiliated companies were carried out, the Company 
received appropriate consideration for each legal transaction. There were no measures taken during the fiscal 
year that require reporting.”

  Detailed information on business relationships with related companies and individuals can be found in the  
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements under item 9.3.

4 suppleMentaRy RepoRt

co-inVEStmEntS

PatriZia acquires supermarket portfolio with 107 retail properties
PATRIZIA acquired a supermarket portfolio of 107 retail properties in February 2015. With a purchase price of 
EUR 286 million, the portfolio comprises mainly supermarkets, discount stores and specialist shopping centres 
in economically robust regions throughout Germany, the majority of which are leased to the wellknown brands 
within the food retailing sector. This acquisition boosts the retail real estate managed by PATRIZIA to around 
EUR 1.6 billion and makes us one of the largest lessors in this segment within Germany. The purchase was  
effected for a coinvestment; the seller is Eurocastle Investment Limited, a listed closedended fund with registe
red office in Guernsey.



84 Annual Report 2014

With most of the retail properties in the portfolio located in the western federal sates, the total rental space is 
around 229,000 sqm. The occupancy rate is around 95%. PATRIZIA plans to invest in the portfolio right away 
together with the principal tenants and will upgrade, modernise and extend a number of locations.

netherlands portfolio
The economic transfer of the second tranche of 1,339 apartments from the portfolio in the Netherlands comprising 
a total of around 5,500 units will be completed in the second quarter of 2015. The prorata purchase fee will also 
be received in parallel to this. 

 Further information can be found in 2.2.2.

5 developMent of oppoRtunities and Risks

5.1 ManageMent of oppoRtunities and Risks

A standard corporate risk management system ensures that opportunities and risks are systematically captured, 
assessed, controlled, monitored and communicated. Our aim is to obtain information on risks and opportunities 
and their financial implications as early as possible and to manage such risks and opportunities in such a way as 
to ensure that PATRIZIA’s survival is not endangered and to ensure the longterm value of the company is secured 
and increased. The Managing Board of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG bears overall responsibility. Responsibility for 
monitoring and developing the risk management system lies with the risk management working group, which is 
made up of employees drawn from the Controlling, Investor Relations and Legal departments and also the opera
tional areas, and which falls within the remit of the Chief Financial Officer. Opportunities are managed outside of 
risk management. The business functions Acquisition and Alternative Investments systematically and continuously 
monitor the market for new investment opportunities. In addition, Corporate Development focuses on the further 
development of existing products and generates new, customised product solutions for our customers in coope
ration with Institutional Clients. Market opportunities are thus tapped using an integrated approach. Furthermore, 
PATRIZIA’s Operational Committee and its Strategy Committee ensure that strategic opportunities for growth 
are identified and consistently pursued.

The scope of consolidation included in the consolidated financial statements also corresponds to the scope of 
consolidation for risk management purposes. In addition, PATRIZIA’s Investment Management Companies each 
maintain their own separate risk management system which focuses on the risks associated with the managed 
special real estate funds and ensures compliance with legal supervisory requirements. 

Risk management is integrated as a continual process in our operational processes. We continuously monitor the 
German and European real estate markets, the general economic environment and our own internal processes. 
Risks and opportunities – defined as negative/positive deviations from planned figures – are identified and 
communicated at an early stage so that they can pass through the further management process. This is ensured 
through the weekly jour fixe session of the Managing Board, the monthly coordination meeting between the COO 
and Managing Directors/Country Heads and between Managing Directors and Controlling or the meetings of the 
Strategy Committee and the Operational Committee. The “first line” comprising the Managing Board, all Country 
Heads, Managing Directors and Executive Directors meet on a quarterly basis. The Group Controlling reports pro
vide a regular, standardised information base for managing opportunities and risks. Value drivers are defined for 
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each area of responsibility and are subjected to a monthly targetactual analysis in order to identify undesirable 
developments at an early stage and enable measures to be taken. Identified opportunities and risks are integrated 
into the planning and forecasting processes. We evaluate risks based on their probability of occurrence and the 
magnitude of potential damage and summarise them at Group level. This enables us to determine whether and 
to what extent there is a need for any action. Risks with a high probability of occurrence or magnitude of damage 
are limited through operational measures. When necessary, we allow for risks by including precautions such as 
provisions in the balance sheet. Our analysis of risks and opportunities generally covers the twoyear period of 
our regular corporate planning and can also extend beyond this in the event of significant strategic risks. 

Both the efficiency and effectiveness of the risk management system are assessed once a year by means of 
an internal risk audit. The results are set out in a risk report which presents all risks, operational measures and 
responsibilities. At the same time, the comprehensive documentation of this report ensures an orderly audit 
which can be conducted by the responsible departments and can be understood and followed by the Supervisory 
Board. In addition to the Managing Board, the managing directors of the business functions are also informed 
of the risk inventory’s results. The early risk detection system is also audited by the auditors in accordance with 
Article 319 (4) of the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB – German Commercial Code). 

5.2  inteRnal ContRol and Risk ManageMent systeM with RegaRd  
to the  RepoRting pRoCess – disClosuRes in aCCoRdanCe with 
 aRtiCle 289 (5) and aRtiCle 315 (2) no. 5 of the handelsgesetzBuCh 
(hgB – geRMan  CoMMeRCial Code)

The risks relating to accounting and financial reporting are that our annual financial statements and quarterly 
reports could contain misrepresentations or that customers for whom we perform accounting work could report 
misrepresentations in their financial statements which could have a material impact on the decisions made by 
the readers of such statements. In order to identify sources of error and to limit risks that might result from them, 
PATRIZIA Immobilien AG has established an appropriate internal control system (ICS) for its accounting process. 
It provides sufficient security for the reliability of its financial reporting and creation of the annual and consolidated 
financial statements and quarterly reports throughout the year in compliance with regulations. However, the ICS 
cannot provide absolute certainty with regard to avoiding errors or misstatements in accounting and financial 
statements.

For each quarter and each complete year, the members of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG’s Managing Board sign the 
declaration by the legal representatives. In doing so, they confirm that the prescribed accounting standards have 
been complied with and that the figures give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and 
profit or loss.

The starting point for the ICS is the planning drawn up once each year based on the targets set by the Managing 
Board and the expectations with regard to the development of the operating business. Planning supplies budgetary 
values for the coming fiscal year and target figures for the following fiscal year for each company and each cost 
centre. Differences between the actual and target figures are determined and analysed on a monthly basis. A revised 
forecast for the current fiscal year is made in the middle of the year and ties actual values already achieved with 
open budget values. 
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The ICS includes all measures and processes to ensure that all transactions are entered uniformly, correctly and 
quickly into the bookkeeping and financial statements. It examines the effect of amendments to laws and stand
ards and other notices on accounting and the preparation of financial statements. Systematic implementation of 
the principle of dual control in accountingrelated processes aims to guarantee compliance with legal regulations 
and standards. Separate functions and authorisation regulations, which are reinforced by ongoing, standardised 
and automated control and coordination systems, are a significant part of our ICS. Our authorisations are docu
mented and subject to systembased archiving.

Operational accounting for all operational companies and property companies with real estate assets in Germany 
is located centrally within PATRIZIA Immobilien AG. Operational accounting for the companies located abroad is 
generally performed by the national company. Operational accounting is based on groupwide standards within  
a central IT environment which is largely based on SAP and for which there are defined access rights. With 
the exception of most of the subsidiaries located abroad (Denmark, Finland, France, Ireland, Luxembourg and 
Sweden), current financial accounting and the preparation of the annual financial statements are performed 
exclusively at the head office of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG (including for the UK and the Netherlands). Rules for 
the groupwide presentation of the companies to be included in the PATRIZIA consolidated financial statements 
are issued by PATRIZIA Immobilien AG. PATRIZIA’s internationalisation is presenting new challenges concerning 
professional control of the new locations. We have therefore created the new function “Foreign Accounts & Tax”. 
During the year under review, accounting for Denmark, Finland, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Sweden and the 
UK was incorporated in the SAP system. There are currently no plans to incorporate France and Ireland into 
the SAP system because at present, this would not create any significant synergies due to the small accounting 
 volumes involved. The accuracy and reliability of the individual financial statements presented by the international 
subsidiaries are verified within Group Accounting. Group Accounting consolidates the individual financial state
ments to produce the consolidated financial statements. The employees involved in the preparation of the annual 
financial statements are properly trained, and relevant responsibilities and controls are clearly defined for this 
work.

The effectiveness of our accountingrelated ICS is evaluated as part of the final reporting procedures and also 
examined by our auditor as part of its auditing remit. 

5.3 iMpoRtant CategoRies of oppoRtunity and Risk

5.3.1 marKEt riSKS

opportunities and risks arising from macroeconomic Developments: The current environment with 
 favourable financing terms and low mortgage interest rates is making real estate more attractive as an alternative 
investment in Germany and Europe and producing increased demand from private and institutional investors. 
Firstly, this facilitates the sale of individual apartments to tenants, owneroccupiers and private investors. On   
the other hand, the current financing situation makes it possible to implement portfolio purchases and project 
developments, despite the current limited market for some properties. The current reforms/measures to stabilise 
the job markets and price trends within the Eurozone are expected to boost the German economy and maintain 
the high demand for real estate. We do not currently see any risk of a slowdown in PATRIZIA’s business perfor
mance in the medium term.
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residential real Estate market in Germany and Europe: Residential real estate on the domestic German 
market has generated very longstanding, stable cash inflows and returns: a healthy market, good fundamental 
data, increasing demand for residential accommodation, rising rents and prices. Recently, however, prices have 
risen sharply in Germany, rendering access with acceptable returns more difficult. Other countries whose resi
dential property markets have not kept pace with the German market offer opportunities for higher returns. In 
addition to the concept of diversification to limit risk, the question of returns is a key factor behind the increasing 
willingness of investors to look beyond national borders. Different market cycles mean that lower returns in one 
market are balanced by higher returns in another. We believe that given the current market environment, the 
primary focus should not be on limiting risks (losses), but rather on increasing returns (income) from real estate, 
which offers relative security in the first place. 

the commercial real Estate market in Germany and Europe: Over the coming year, the stable demand 
from private households and the marked increase in the number of people in employment in Germany is expected 
to generate strong demand for office and retail space, pointing to the likelihood of stable growth in rental prices 
and positive increases in value. In 2014 and despite divergent trends in some European countries combined with 
lower inflation, commercial real estate investment activities in Europe revealed positive development. In the UK, 
the strong real economic growth in recent years will continue to drive investment activities in commercial real 
 estate, although demand faces a relatively small supply. In the Nordic countries, macroeconomic development 
has led to significant rent increases within the commercial sector and made commercial real estate more attractive.

competitive Situation: The increasing demand for indirect real estate investments means this market is likely 
to grow further. The European regulation of managers (AIFMD) will lead to harmonisation and thus to equality 
among fund administrators. Competitors will therefore need to enhance their unique selling points in future. 
PATRIZIA has responded in a foresighted manner and has already undergone organisational and processbased 
restructuring to help it secure a leading market position in Europe. The new structure will enable PATRIZIA to 
leverage transnational synergies while also optimising existing service lines. This market position must be further 
expanded over the coming years. In addition, PATRIZIA’s established investment platforms in Germany, Den
mark, Finland, the UK and Ireland, France, Luxembourg and the Netherlands will help achieve a further expansion 
in the product range, enabling us to also attract increasing numbers of international investors. With this in mind, 
we have increased the number of staff within Institutional Clients.
 
Management Services will continue to experience strong competition. Customers are attaching increasing impor
tance to outstanding management quality at competitive prices. PATRIZIA considers it is also well positioned in 
this respect, too.

long-term investment contracts: The longterm investment contracts result in planable income flows. Moreover, 
the longterm contracts render the loss of a client in the 2015 fiscal year highly unlikely. There are no indications 
of any excess capacities as a result of clients being lost.
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5.3.2 buSinESS riSKS

Purchases and Sales of real Estate: Depending on whether we are acting as seller or purchaser, fluctuating 
prices can either be advantageous for us or present us with business challenges. This applies in equal measure 
to own investments, coinvestments and business with third parties. On the supply side, the continuing high 
demand for attractive real estate has led to a shortage in suitable properties, while at the same time demand 
pressures are driving prices higher. This makes it increasingly challenging to acquire suitable properties offering 
adequate returns. In terms of achieving our target for planned growth in assets under management – and thus in 
our operating result – this currently represents the biggest challenge facing the Group. For PATRIZIA, opportuni
ties are in particular presented by larger properties where speedy purchases and good market knowledge are 
required. Here, we benefit from the fact that we can present financing quickly, irrespective of volume. The loss 
of planned purchase fees can have a negative impact on the consolidated result, unless they are offset by other 
income. In sales of both own and thirdparty properties, we are benefiting from the high demand and increasing 
prices. 

own investment: We consider it improbable that the market attractiveness of our properties could decline, 
not least because of the successful sales. We invest in maintenance and modernisation on an ongoing basis to 
enhance rentability and saleability. The optimisation measures we carry out while holding the real estate incre
ase its attractiveness and consequently also sales prices. The risk of baddebt losses is very low in real estate 
sales, as ownership only passes to the purchaser upon receipt of the purchase price. However, withdrawal from a 
purchase agreement would mean that the planned income could only be realised at a later time and that negative 
budget variances could arise in the short term. Since own investments have fallen sharply, this risk is of minor 
significance. Consequently, losses of rent would have only a very limited negative effect on PATRIZIA’s income 
and earnings. In 2015, the rental volume is scheduled to fall by a further 70% to less than EUR 7 million. We limit 
defaults on payments by means of active receivables management; in addition, receivables are generally secured 
though customary deposits.

third-party properties: As an asset and property manager, we are also responsible for managing and optimising 
thirdparty properties. Inadequate maintenance and renovations, delays in construction, failure to meet deadlines 
or cost overruns – especially with new construction real estate developments – could lead to customer dissatis
faction or financial demands through to a loss of orders and have a detrimental impact on the Group’s earnings 
position. We again assume a low probability of occurrence with negligible financial consequences for 2015.

co-investments: To strengthen customer trust, PATRIZIA acts as a coinvestor in selected cases. The decision 
on a capital investment by PATRIZIA is always made by the institutional investor. The success of new coinvest
ments is directly linked to the supply situation. Depending on the product, securing customers and consequently 
the required equity does not represent a limiting factor and is on the contrary helped by the current underlying 
economic conditions. We do not consider securing finance a risk either. The challenge lies in purchasing corres
ponding individual properties or portfolios that match PATRIZIA’s criteria and those of investors. In this context, 
please refer to the previous statements under “Purchases and Sales of Real Estate”.
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funds: For the special real estate funds, opportunities and risks primarily result from the planned income from 
fees, which in turn depend on the assets managed, on sales and purchases and on the fund returns achieved. In
come can be negatively affected by a decline in the value of real estate, losses of rent and a reduced transaction 
volume. This could make it necessary to reduce or even suspend planned dividends to investors. A lack of cus
tomer satisfaction can result in outflows of funds and make it difficult to establish new funds. PATRIZIA benefits 
from the fact that it handles diversified modular funds and various individual funds and is able to access a varied 
supply of suitable properties in Germany and other countries. Completely different purchasing profiles make up 
for possible bottlenecks in individual classes of property or countries. We assume that we will be able to invest 
investor equity within the specified period and that we will not have to lower our sights significantly with regard to 
properties – which generally involve an individual volume of EUR 20 to 50 million – or prices. Since the properties 
held in special funds have to be backed by at least 50% equity, borrowing in this constellation can be obtained 
quickly and on favourable terms. In general, we do not expect a lower level of investment activity for 2015. We 
currently estimate the risk of having to reduce planned dividends to investors as very low. In fact, we see an 
opportunity to gain new customers as a result of the funds’ performance and PATRIZIA’s reputation as a serious 
partner and to realise the planned establishment of new funds and the expansion of existing fund products within 
a short period. 

We believe entering the market for real estate mutual funds offers opportunities. Following the approval of PATRIZIA 
GrundInvest by the BaFin, private investors can be offered closedended investment funds with real estate in 
Germany and other countries. Moreover, it is planned to build up managed real estate assets of EUR 1 billion over 
the next five years. We will use the mutual funds to secure properties which, based on their size and a market 
value of between EUR 50 and 150 million, do not meet either the requirements of the special funds or of the co
investments, thus excluding the possibility of a conflict of interest in terms of purchasing. From the second year 
of the start of business activity (i.e. from 2016), PATRIZIA GrundInvest should make a positive contribution to 
the Group’s results. 

 For further information, please refer to the Report on Expected Developments under 6.3.4.

raising of equity capital: In view of the high level of investor liquidity available and also a certain pressure to 
invest, we currently do not perceive any risk of a loss of business partners/investors or problems with acquiring 
new business. Although extending coinvestment and fund business activity increases PATRIZIA’s dependence 
on institutional clients, which could in turn put pressure on our margins, this risk is offset by our broadbased 
 sales strategy that also includes addressing foreign investors. 176 institutional investors (from almost 100 regional 
savings banks through to insurance companies, pension funds and government funds) now invest via PATRIZIA. 
The fact that 47% of investors in our funds and coinvestments have multiple investments with PATRIZIA under
lines that our products meet the needs of our investors to a high degree. Since PATRIZIA’s largest individual 
investor accounts for less than 10% of subscribed equity, there is no possibility of any cluster risk. 

Employees: The skills and motivation of our employees are decisive factors in PATRIZIA’s success as our  
business activities are increasingly becoming a socalled people business. We count on employees who apply 
their expertise to gain the trust of investors, tenants, business partners and shareholders and who establish  
longterm business relationships for the benefit of PATRIZIA. We endeavour to retain qualified staff – especially 
those in key positions – for as long as possible. We use personnel development measures, deputising rules and 
early succession planning in order to reduce the risk of staff turnover and a loss of knowledge and in order to  
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fill management positions internally. The recruitment of suitable new employees, especially during our period of 
continued growth, is vital for PATRIZIA’s future development. 

 For further information, please refer to the section on Employees under 1.4.

it Security: Almost all our essential business processes are now based on IT systems. Any fault affecting the 
operation or security of the IT system affects operating activities. A substantial loss of data could lead to consi
derable financial losses and also adversely affect tenants’ and business partners’ perception of the Company. 
Regular data backups are made in order to guarantee the reliability of IT operations. Furthermore, permanent 
monitoring and continuous optimisation are undertaken to prevent outages. We invest considerable amounts in 
hardware and software, not only in order to limit risks but also in the interests of further development. Regular 
emergency exercises, also extending to our outsourcing partners, are designed to ensure that processes run 
as smoothly as possible in the event of disaster recovery. In addition, the ERP (Enterprise Resource Planning) 
systems are operated on a redundant and mirrored basis. In combination with virtualised storage and server 
systems, this ensures a significant reduction in downtime in an emergency – especially for central business pro
cesses. Rolespecific access rights are defined in order to guarantee data security. The password policy ensures 
regular changes of access passwords and only permits secure versions.

5.3.3 financial riSKS

financing risks: We currently consider the risk that external capital may not be available to PATRIZIA at all 
times to the necessary extent or only at financially unattractive conditions to be low. PATRIZIA’s own invest
ments are always financed at the property/portfolio level. Since we now only enter into direct own real estate 
investments in exceptional cases, the Company has a low requirement in terms of own external capital. The 
remaining bank loans will be redeemed to the greatest possible extent as part of the planned sale of our entire 
real estate portfolio by the end of 2015. In 2013 and as an alternative to bank loans, we took out two bonded 
loans totalling EUR 77.0 million with one of our institutional real estate investors. Combined with significant liquid 
funds, this provides us with additional financial scope and enables us to react flexibly to capital requirements of 
new coinvestments. 

PATRIZIA also procures external capital as a service for the coinvestments and funds. The equity required for 
refinancing individual properties is currently around 30% for our coinvestments, and funds must by law finance at 
least 50% of their special funds from own funds. The ideal volume from an individual bank for refinancing is between 
EUR 15 and 40 million. Larger portfolio financing of more than EUR 100 million does not present a problem for 
PATRIZIA either. The access to savings banks achieved through the acquisition of PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest has 
secured continued good opportunities for financing. 

credit terms: Only two portfolio financing arrangements have covenants. The covenants relate to the rental 
basis, with interest expenses for each property covered by rental income. As the volume of own stock financed 
externally reduces, the risk of breaching the underlying covenants becomes increasingly negligible.
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rating: The question of a credit check in the sense of a rating by an external rating agency for PATRIZIA will be 
examined for 2015/no later than 2016. Following the allocation of available liquidity and depending on the situa
tion on the capital market, this should in future enable us to raise funds for investments on favourable terms at 
corporate level.

interest risks: Current interest rates remain at an historic low level. Even rising interest rates would not present 
a problem for PATRIZIA because the high levels of sales have reduced the level of indebtedness over a period of 
years and this development is continuing. All interest rate hedges expired on 30 June 2014 at the latest; this had 
a favourable impact on the cashrelated financial result and financing costs have since fallen significantly.

liquidity risk: We regard the likelihood and effect of the risk of a liquidity bottleneck as extremely low. As of 
31 December 2014, bank balances and cash posted amounting to EUR 145.4 million were available to PATRIZIA 
in order to cover its refinancing and operating liquidity requirements. In addition, based on the Group’s current 
liquidity planning, we expect further cash surpluses from operating business within a forecast period of one year; 
these will be used for investment planning in the same periods. The equity released through sales also increases 
existing liquidity.

PATRIZIA optimises and manages liquidity by means of cash pooling. Earlywarning indicators and comprehensive 
continuous planning also serve to prevent risks and to ensure that an unexpected liquidity requirement can be 
serviced. 

Exchange risk: Most subsidiaries and real estate companies are based within the Eurozone. The international 
branches in Denmark, Sweden and Great Britain represent an exception; these perform external asset management 
mandates and also establish coinvestments. As of the balance sheet date, PATRIZIA had international currency 
investments of approx. EUR 900 million with a minority holding in the coinvestments in the UK and in WohnModul I. 
Since the participating interests in these companies and the granting of shareholder loans are effected in the 
respective national currency, the subsidiaries and real estate companies are subject to the risk of fluctuating ex
change rates. This exchange risk could increase as PATRIZIA drives expansion outside the Eurozone. At present, 
it can be considered limited because Denmark and Great Britain have close links with the Eurozone and therefore 
pursue a central monetary policy objective aimed at ensuring stability of the krone/GBP visàvis the euro. 

For institutional investors, an increased exchange risk could make an investment with PATRIZIA in a foreign curren
cy unattractive. At the end of the year, only 3.6% of the committed equity was subject to currency fluctuations.

5.3.4 othEr riSKS

legal risks: As an international company, PATRIZIA is represented in different legal systems and has contractual 
relationships in these jurisdictions. As a result of their business operations, individual companies of the PATRIZIA 
Group are currently involved in various litigation and arbitration proceedings. Outofcourt claims are also asserted 
against them occasionally. Continuous monitoring of our contractual obligations and the involvement of internal 
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and external legal experts in contractual matters aims to avoid any legal risks. We have formed provisions for po
tential losses from pending cases. In some cases, the claims asserted against us are significantly higher than the 
amount of the provisions. Based on our legal assessment, we consider these claims unfounded.

changes to legislation and regulatory requirements: The European investment industry has become more 
strictly regulated as a result of the EUwide AIFM Directive (Alternative Investment Fund Manager Directive). 
 Establishing compliance with the AIFMD for the various investment platforms within the PATRIZIA Group necessi 
t ated considerable oneoff expenses in 2013 and 2014. The higher supervisory and administrative requirements 
which are expected in future will also trigger recurring higher expenses and these may have a negative impact 
on margins. Licences have so far been issued for PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest KVG and PATRIZIA WohnInvest KVG 
in Germany and also for PATRIZIA Fund Management A/S in Denmark and PATRIZIA Real Estate Investment 
Manage ment S.à r.l. in Luxembourg. The application for authorisation of PATRIZIA GrundInvest GmbH was sub
mitted in the fourth quarter of 2014 and is currently being processed by the supervisory authorities. It is expec
ted that the application for PATRIZIA Institutional Clients & Advisory GmbH will be submitted in the first quarter 
of 2015. We do not believe there is a risk that the supervisory authorities will reject the applications. We are not 
aware of any additional risks relating to noncompliance for our funds which are regulated by the supervisory 
 authorities and affected by national rules pertaining to the AIFMD.

contractual risks: No contractual risks exist (e.g. in respect of the social clauses of the established coinvest
ments) because these only affect the nonconsolidated subsidiaries. The investment contracts do not reveal any 
substantive contractual risks.

5.4 oveRall assessMent of oppoRtunities and Risks

Risk management at PATRIZIA is a continuous process which identifies changes in risk and defines appropriate 
countermeasures. In 2014, as in previous years, PATRIZIA examined the evaluation categories for the potential 
magnitude of damage of all known risks and increased or reduced them as necessary. The risk management 
system illustrated here enables PATRIZIA to counteract the specified risks and to exploit the opportunities that 
present themselves. Considering all relevant individual risks and a possible cumulative effect, PATRIZIA’s overall 
risk is limited at present. No significant risks to the future development or indeed the continued existence of the 
Company and the Group have been identified based on our current knowledge and mediumterm planning for the 
main investments. 

2014 saw a further improvement on the overall situation of the previous year, which was already lowrisk. This 
was helped by the continuing debt reduction process, which saw loans cut by more than half. At 55.3%, the 
 equity ratio reached a comfortable level and will continue to rise. The operating result increased by more than 
30%, with around 72% of this increase from services business, which is predictable. The business model of a  
real estate investment company and asset manager takes on a more concrete form with every year that passes. 
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From 2016, only the fees and investment results will be recorded as relevant income flows and the risk profile 
will continue to reduce in subsequent years as assets under management increase.

6 RepoRt on expeCted developMents

6.1 futuRe eConoMiC fRaMewoRk

macroeconomic Development: Having already reduced the key interest rate, the ECB has decided to bolster 
future real economic growth in the Eurozone by purchasing various assets, including government bonds. As a 
result, the current year is expected to bring stable domestic demand and further improvements on European em
ployment markets. In 2015, annual growth within the Eurozone should be around 1.3% with a low inflation rate. 
Following the progress achieved in stabilising government budgets in 2014, constant growth is expected due to 
the strengthened investment opportunities and economic production. In Germany, stable domestic demand and 
a small output gap is expected to facilitate real economic growth of around 1.5%, provided that international  
demand and the economic recovery in the Eurozone remain stable.  Source: European Commission

future Situation in the German real Estate market: At regional level, the specific consequences of the freeze 
on rent prices for residential real estate may affect the price dynamics in the metropolitan regions during the 
current year; careful observation of the different regulations will therefore be necessary. Demographic development 
in Germany varies widely. Whereas rural areas in particular are suffering population decline, urban conurbations 
are experiencing population growth. Expectations in terms of price trends vary accordingly in these regions.  
Overall, the current year is expected to bring a rise in prices, with a noticeable increase in international investors. 
The positive trend on the commercial real estate markets in Germany’s major cities will continue, with B locations 
remaining a focus of interest due to the shortage in supply. 

future Situation in the European real Estate market: Outside Germany, residential real estate will be in 
high demand, especially in the Netherlands and Ireland. These countries and also Belgium are showing a signifi
cant increase in construction activities. We also believe investments in the Nordic residential real estate markets 
offer good prospects. 

  We have outlined the situation concerning supply and prices in the European commercial real estate markets 
of relevance for PATRIZIA in the Opportunity and Risk Report under item 5.3.1. We antici pate that the state
ments made there remain valid and that the market will not alter greatly.

6.2 stRategiC diReCtion

By expanding fund and asset management, PATRIZIA has established itself as an investment manager. Our clear 
commitment as a coinvestor opens up investment opportunities with renowned major institutional investors and 
enables us to effect a considerably larger volume of investments with our equity than was previously possible 
with proprietary investments. We will drive fund and asset management throughout Europe and further consolida
te our position as an investment platform. Growth in managed assets – and thus recurrent income from manage
ment fees and coinvestments – is an essential cornerstone for our future development.
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1 Adjusted value as the cost of purchased services has been shown separately since Q3 2014. Total expenses of EUR 45–50 million were forecast; the actual amount was 
EUR 60.2 million.

2 Shown as non-current liabilities
3 Ratio of operating result to equity as at 31 December of the previous year

Summary of thE DEVEloPmEnt of SElEctED itEmS in thE conSoliDatED incomE StatEmEnt  
anD balancE ShEEt

2014 forecast 2014 actual values 2015 forecast

Operating result
At least  

EUR 50 million EUR 50.2 million
Increase of  

approx. 10%

Staff costs EUR 71–73 million EUR 77.2 million EUR 85–90 million

Cost of material EUR 35–38 million EUR 54.5 million EUR 25–28 million

Cost of purchased services Not published EUR 10.0 million EUR 8–9 million

Other operating expenses EUR 35–40 million1 EUR 50.2 million EUR 48–52 million

Short-term bank loans < EUR 100 million EUR 122.0 million EUR 0

Bonded loans2 EUR 77.0 million EUR 77.0 million EUR 77.0 million

Return on equity p.a.3 13% 13.4% At least stable

Equity ratio

Increasing to  
80–90% by the  

end of 2015 55.3% 80–90% 

In 2014, we increased assets under management from EUR 11.8 billion to EUR 14.6 billion. For 2015 we 
again expect a net growth in assets under management of EUR 2.0 billion. Of this, an amount of EUR 1.0 billion 
should be generated from purchases and sales of individual properties, with EUR 1.0 billion generated from one 
to three portfolio transactions. A supermarket portfolio was already purchased for EUR 286 million in the middle 
of February. The other portfolio purchases may have an individual volume of between EUR 0.2 and 1.0 billion. 
Generally, we expect stronger growth in commercial real estate, primarily in Germany and the United Kingdom. In 
the residential sector, we believe the Netherlands and the Nordic countries, and notably Denmark, offer the most 
promising opportunities.

We keep a constant close eye throughout Europe in order to identify which markets could be of interest for in
vestors. In particular, the real estate markets in some of the countries of Southern Europe that have been deeply 
affected by the financial crisis are showing interesting signs of recovery. An entry into the Spanish market is a 
possibility for 2015, provided investors are in favour. 

6.3  expeCted developMent of the eaRnings situation and  
assuMptions ConCeRning aChieveMent of taRgets in 2015

2014 forecast 2014 actual values 2015 forecast

Assets under management
Growth of  

EUR 2 billion
Growth of  

EUR 2.8 billion
Growth of  

EUR 2 billion

Within the next twelve months we will sell off most of our own stock; any remaining stocks will be sold soon after 
2015. Own investments will remain an option in exceptional cases.
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 6.3.1 the Group In General

l operating result: This is the Group’s most important control variable. For the year under review, an opera-
ting result of at least EUR 50.0 million was forecast and this was achieved in full with an actual figure of EUR 
50.2 million. The indicator income from participations is becoming increasingly important and will also be 
decisive for the Group’s success in 2015. For the current year, PATRIZIA’s Managing Board anticipates an 
increase of approximately 10% in the operating result and will specify this figure more precisely towards the 
middle of the year.

l revenues: Revenues have only limited significance for PATRIZIA since the selling prices of properties 
report ed in non-current assets are not reflected in revenues. Profits from such sales are reported under the 
item “Loss from / gain on the disposal of investment property”. The item earnings from participations is 
shown below EBIT and thus improves earnings before taxes, but does not increase sales revenues. No fore-
cast figure is therefore provided. 

l staff Costs: The increased staff costs have arisen due to the new appointments in Germany and in other 
countries, to higher expenses for the long-term variable compensation components, linked to the share price, 
for first and second tier management employees and to higher sales commissions due to better-than-expect-
ed sales. For 2015, we do not expect a significant increase in the number of employees (based on full-time 
equivalents) in Germany. In other countries, additional staff will be recruited depending on the volume of real 
estate assets to be managed there. Up to 30 new posts may be created, depending on purchase volumes. It 
should be noted that trainees are reported under staff numbers and also under full-time equivalents. For the 
2015 fiscal year we expect staff costs of between EUR 85 and 90 million.

l Cost of materials: The fact that at EUR 54.5 million, the cost of materials was clearly higher than budgeted 
is amongst others due to the increase in costs for the delayed real estate developments F40 and VERO in 
Frankfurt. During the current year the cost of materials is expected to amount to EUR 25–28 million. The 
item mainly includes costs of building measures, renovation and maintenance for own stock and also new 
construction costs up to completion of PATRIZIA’s own real estate development. The majority of these costs 
can be capitalised. This cost item will not cease to be of decisive relevance until 2016. 

l Cost of purchased services: This new item shows the ongoing remuneration of PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest 
KVG for the label funds, which were previously shown under other operating expenses. In the medium term, 
this expense item should become stable at around EUR 8–9 million per year.

l other operating expenses: The 2014 forecast of EUR 45–50 million also includes the cost of purchased 
services, which will be shown separately from now on. After adjustment, other operating expenses were 25% 
above the adjusted forecasts of EUR 38–40 million (actual value in 2014: EUR 50.2 million). Higher costs 
were due, among other things, to consultancy services for portfolio purchases. The 2015 budgeted figure for 
other operating expenses is EUR 48–52 million.

l short-term bank loans: The target of less than EUR 100 million was achieved in the year under review as 
a result of repayments from sales proceeds. This was offset by increases in order to be able to provide the 
required liquidity for new investments at a short notice. However, the planned investments were delayed into 
the 2015 fiscal year, meaning the liquidity was not used in the year under review.
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summary of the development of oWn Investments

2014 forecast 2014 actual values 2015 forecast

Sales of own stock
approx.  

1,800 units 2,985 units
approx.  

930 units

Rental revenues
around  

EUR 20 million EUR 21.2 million < EUR 7 million

VERO/F40 project development

Completion with 
a contribution  

to results of  
EUR 5–6 million

Building delays 
have postponed 

the contribution to 
results until the 

first half of 2015

Contribution  
to results of  

EUR 4–5 million

l non-current liabilities: This item continues to show the two bonded loans for a total amount of EUR 77.0 
million. 

  For further information, please refer to 2.3.3 Capital Structure.

l return on equity: At 13.4%, the return on equity (based on the operating result) slightly surpassed the  
forecast figure of 13%. For the 2015 fiscal year we expect no significant changes.

l equity ratio: As things currently stand, the planned equity ratio of 80-90% for the end of 2015 remains 
 valid. At 55.3% we are well on the way to this target, especially as the figure for the reporting date of  
31 December 2014 was temporarily burdened by the aforementioned increases in short-term bank loans.

6.3.2 oWn Investments

l sales of own stock: The sales target of around 1,800 apartments was greatly surpassed, with a total of 
2,985 units sold. PATRIZIA’s own portfolio still comprises 1,081 units and should be largely sold by the end 
of the year. The remaining stocks will be sold soon after 2015. Sales from inventories are generally effected 
with a mark-up of around 20% on the carrying value. Due to their valuation at market price, investment pro-
perty generally achieves lower margins. Most of the sales planned for 2015 relate to non-current assets. 

l rental revenues: As more own properties are sold, rental revenues will continue to decline as expec-
ted. We anticipate rental revenues of less than EUR 7 million in the 2015 fiscal year.

l real estate developments: The completion of our new-build project in Frankfurt was delayed from 2013 
to 2014 due to the insolvency of a contracting partner for a major trade company. Further building delays, 
which could not have been foreseen, meant the new handover date could not be met, either. Notarial deeds 
have been signed for 74 of the 75 apartments in the city villas, with the handover planned for the end of the 
first quarter in 2015. The apartment block will be recognised in profit/loss once an occupancy rate of 65% 
has been achieved and posted; this is expected in the second quarter of 2015. Against a backdrop of higher 
than expected cost increases which could not be fully offset by higher sales prices, the expected contribution 
to the result has been reduced to EUR 4–5 million. 
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2014 actual values 2015 forecast

Income from participations1 EUR 39.1 million EUR 39 million

Earnings from companies accounted for using the equity method2 EUR 3.2 million EUR 3–4 million

1 Mainly SÜDEWO, GBW, Seneca
2 WohnModul I

6.3.3 co-inVEStmEntS 

l SÜDEwo: The annual advance profit distribution is EUR 7.3 million. In addition to the dividend on the invest
ed equity in an amount of EUR 1.7 million, in 2014 we also received a performance fee of EUR 5.6 million. 
For 2015 we expect income of a similar magnitude. 

l Gbw: The annual advance profit distribution amounts to EUR 9.5 million. The dividend on invested equity of 
EUR 3.2 million and the performance fee of 11.4 million should again be achievable in 2015.

l other co-investments: In addition to the fees for management services, we also receive the dividend on 
the proportionate equity invested for all other coinvestments. The two coinvestments WohnModul I and 
Seneca make significant contributions to results. The opportunistic coinvestments in the United Kingdom 
pursue an exitdriven business model, with significant income only generated in subsequent years. The  
acquisition fee for new coinvestments will have a favourable effect. 

6.3.4 thirD PartiES

With PATRIZIA having raised more than EUR 1 billion in equity from institutional investors in Germany and other 
countries for existing and new special funds in 2014, we anticipate continued growing interest in these products. 
For example, PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest KVG has expanded its customer base of savings banks from 42 to 86 
within two years. In the 2015 fiscal year we again plan to invest around EUR 1 billion for our investors via the 
funds of PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest and PATRIZIA WohnInvest. We are optimistic we will attract fresh capital in 
addition to the current existing equity commitments of EUR 5.5 billion. In addition to the purchasing fee and the 
customary fund management fee, the investment management companies are now also generating sales fees 
through portfolio streamlining measures and the first performancerelated fees.

From 2015, PATRIZIA is also offering funds for private investors in addition to fund products for institutional 
investors. The setup costs for the newly formed PATRIZIA GrundInvest will have a negative impact of around 
EUR 2.0 million in the current year. For 2016, we expect a positive contribution to the Group’s results of EUR 
2.0 million and an increase to EUR 3.2 million in 2017. These forecast figures consider all additional effects on 
results which will be produced by the business activities of PATRIZIA GrundInvest in other areas of the Group 
such as Acquisition or Asset Management. The business plan underlying these estimates assumes assets under 
management of EUR 1 billion in the first five years, of which fund volumes of EUR 100 million should be achieved 
by the yearend. 
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6.4 expeCted developMent of the net asset and finanCial situation

As at 31 December 2014, financial liabilities declined to EUR 199 million, including EUR 122 million in bank loans 
and EUR 77 million in bonded loans. We should be debtfree ‒ apart from the bonded loans ‒ by the end of 2015 
if PATRIZIA’s portfolio has been almost entirely sold. All of PATRIZIA’s loans are unhedged with a variable in
terest rate based on the 1 or 3month Euribor rate; this will further improve the financial result in 2015. As the 
loans are repaid the equity ratio will rise continuously and should increase from its current figure of 55.3% to at 
least 80% by the end of the year. For the current fiscal year we are ruling out a cash capital increase to finance 
new investments. We also anticipate that we will not exceed a tax quota of 10% up to and including 2016. 

6.5 dividend poliCy

The Managing Board and the Supervisory Board of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG propose that the retained earnings 
for the past 2014 fiscal year amounting to EUR 111.2 million should be fully carried forward to the new account 
and that in lieu of a cash dividend, new shares should be issued to shareholders in a ratio of 10:1 by means of a 
capital increase from company funds. The shareholders will not be required to make any contribution. PATRIZIA 
has already implemented capital increases from company funds of 10% for each of the fiscal years from 2011 
to 2013. With each of these increases any diluting effect was only temporary and was more than offset by the 
positive development in share prices. For 2015 we also expect that any diluting effect will only be brief due to 
PATRIZIA’s anticipated favourable economic performance. We again plan to use the retained liquid assets for  
investing in coinvestments, thus promoting sustainable growth for PATRIZIA. 

If the Annual General Meeting of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG to be held on 25 June 2015 agrees to the measure, 
the capital increase will be effected by issuing 6,938,503 new registered nopar value shares. This measure will 
not affect the amount of total equity since it simply involves a transfer from retained earnings to subscribed 
capital. The share capital will increase from a current total of EUR 69,385,030 to EUR 76,323,533, divided into 
76,323,533 nopar value shares. The new shares will carry dividend rights from the beginning of the 2015 fiscal 
year. 

For the 2015 fiscal year we are again keeping two options open in the form of both a further issue of bonus 
shares and also the payment of a dividend. The deliberations will be substantiated by the Managing Board and 
Supervisory Board at the end of the fourth quarter of 2015 based on the prospects for the following year. 

subscription ratio for 
“bonus shares” 

 10:1
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6.6  geneRal stateMent of the CoMpany’s ManageMent on pRospeCts 
foR 2015

PATRIZIA continues to grow: with increasing assets under management, PATRIZIA will successively increase its 
income from service business across Europe. This will contribute to a further stabilisation of the operating result 
and again confirms we have chosen the right strategy.

The outlook for 2015 and statements about subsequent years include all the events that were known at the  
time the consolidated financial statements were prepared and that could influence the business performance of 
PATRIZIA.

Augsburg, 12 March 2015

wolfgang Egger arwed fischer Klaus Schmitt
CEO CFO COO

This report contains specific forward-looking statements that relate in particular to the business development of PATRIZIA and the general economic and regulatory en-
vironment and other factors to which PATRIZIA is exposed. These forward-looking statements are based on current estimates and assumptions by the Company made in 
good faith, and are subject to various risks and uncertainties that could render a forward-looking estimate or statement inaccurate or cause actual results to differ from 
the results currently expected.
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ASSETS

EUR ’000 Notes 31.12.2014 31.12.2013

A. Non-current assets

Goodwill 4.1.1 610 610

Other intangible assets 4.1.2 39,407 41,904

Software 4.1.3 10,795 8,698

Investment property 4.1.4 78,507 229,717

Equipment 4.1.5 4,476 4,765

Participations in associated companies 4.1.6 68,497 18,295

Participations 4.1.7 96,555 80,074

Loans 4.1.8 5,281 5,814

Long-term tax assets 4.2 119 159

Total non-current assets 304,247 390,036

B. Current assets

Inventories 4.3 198,694 309,203

Securities 86 96

Short-term tax assets 4.2 8,014 5,582

Current receivables and other current assets 4.4 84,774 82,262

Bank balances and cash 4.5 145,361 105,536

Total current assets 436,929 502,679

ToTAl ASSETS 741,176 892,715

Consolidated Balance Sheet 
AS of 31 DECEmBER 2014
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EQUITY AND lIABIlITIES

EUR ’000 Notes 31.12.2014 31.12.2013

A. Equity

Share capital 5.1.1 69,385 63,077

Capital reserve 5.1.2 198,576 204,897

Retained earnings

 Legal reserves 5.1.3 505 505

Non-controlling shareholders 5.1.4 809 1,398

Valuation results from cash flow hedges 0 –31

Currency translation difference 2.5 1,030 500

Consolidated unappropriated profit 139,743 104,135

Total equity 410,048 374,481

B. liabilities

NON-CuRRENt LIABILItIES

Deferred tax liabilities 5.3 19,704 22,933

Retirement benefit obligations 5.4 630 534

Non-current liabilities 5.5 82,544 80,849

Total non-current liabilities 102,878 104,316

CuRRENt LIABILItIES

Short-term bank loans 5.2 121,950 321,634

Short-term financial derivatives 0 2,819

Other provisions 5.6 2,142 1,719

Current liabilities 5.7 92,506 75,759

tax liabilities 5.8 11,652 11,987

Total current liabilities 228,250 413,918

ToTAl EQUITY AND lIABIlITIES 741,176 892,715

Consolidated Financial Statements
Consolidated Balance Sheet



104 Annual Report 2014

EUR ’000 Notes 2014 2013

Revenues 6.1 291,815 217,398

Income from the sale of investment property 4.1.4 17,019 19,133

Changes in inventories 6.2 –110,509 –36,717

Other operating income 6.3 7,143 8,064

Total operating performance 205,468 207,878

Cost of materials 6.4 –54,455 –58,314

Cost of purchased services1 6.5 –9,990 –14,120

Staff costs 6.6 –77,239 –65,733

Results from fair value adjustments to  
investment property 4.1.4 51 17

Other operating expenses1 6.7 –50,193 –44,872

EBITDA 13,642 24,856

Amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation on  
property, plant and equipment 6.8 –6,940 –6,107

Earnings before finance income and income taxes 
(EBIT) 6,702 18,749

Income from participations 6.9 39,062 32,122

Earnings from companies accounted for using  
the equity method 4.1.6 3,182 658

Finance income 6.10 4,413 20,520

Finance cost 6.10 –11,912 –32,424

Gains/losses from currency translation 2.5 551 –26

Earnings before income taxes (EBT) 41,998 39,599

Income tax 6.11 –6,978 –2,431

Consolidated net profit 35,020 37,168

Earnings per share (undiluted) in EuR 6.12 0.51 0.54

The consolidated net profit is allocated to:

 Shareholders of the parent company 35,608 37,327

 Non-controlling shareholders 5.1.4 –588 –159

35,020 37,168

Consolidated Income Statement
foR ThE pERIoD fRom 1 JANUARY 2014 To 31 DECEmBER 2014

1 Cost of purchased services were previously reported unter other operating expenses. Last year's figures have been adjusted accordingly.
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EUR ’000 2014 2013

Consolidated net profit 35,020 37,168

Items of other comprehensive income with reclassification  
to net profit/loss for the period

Profit/loss from the translation of financial statements  
of international business units 530 500

Cash flow hedges

 Amounts recorded during the reporting period 0 0

 Reclassification of amounts that were recorded 31 438

Total result for the reporting period 35,581 38,106

the total result is allocated to:

 Shareholders of the parent company 36,169 38,265

 Non-controlling shareholders –588 –159

35,581 38,106

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
foR ThE pERIoD fRom 1 JANUARY 2014 To 31 DECEmBER 2014

Consolidated Financial Statements
Consolidated Income Statement
Consolidated Statement of  
Comprehensive Income
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EUR ’000 2014 2013

Consolidated net profit 35,020 37,168

Income taxes recognised through profit or loss 6,978 2,431

Financial expenses through profit or loss 11,912 32,424

Financial income through profit or loss –4,413 –20,520

Amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation on property,  
plant and equipment 6,940 6,107

Results from fair value adjustments to investment property –51 –17

Gain on disposal of investment properties –17,019 –19,133

Other non-cash items –6,226 –889

Changes in inventories, receivables and other assets that are not  
attributable to investing activities 105,615 53,394

Changes in liabilities that are not attributable to financing activities 22,525 124,023

Interest paid –10,993 –30,567

Interest received 658 477

Income tax payments –10,926 –5,110

Cash inflow from operating activities 140,020 179,788

Capital investments in intangible assets and property, plant and equipment –6,247 –7,183

Cash receipts from disposal of investment property 171,818 169,428

Payments for development or acquisition of investment property –3,538 –5,891

Payments for the acquisition of shareholdings –16,294 –61,676

Income from the equity reduction of shareholdings 183 0

Payment for investments in companies accounted for using  
the equity method –47,020 –1,818

Cash inflow from the repayment of loans to companies in which  
participating interests are held 5,267 0

Cash outflows for loans to companies in which participations are held –4,667 –5,814

Cash inflow from investing activities 99,502 87,046

Borrowing of loans 147,062 93,314

Repayment of loans –346,746 –292,734

Payment for the issue of bonus shares –13 –13

Cash outflow from financing activities –199,697 –199,433

Changes in cash 39,825 67,401

Cash 1 January 105,536 38,135

Cash 31 December 145,361 105,536

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
foR ThE pERIoD fRom 1 JANUARY 2014 To 31 DECEmBER 2014
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
foR ThE pERIoD fRom 1 JANUARY 2014 To 31 DECEmBER 2014

EUR ’000 Share 
capital 

Capital 
reserve

Valuation
result 

from
cash flow

hedges

Retained
earnings

(legal
reserve)

Currency 
translation 
difference

Consoli-
dated 

unappro-
priated 

profit

Thereof  
attributable  

to the 
sharehol-

ders of the 
parent  

company

Thereof 
attributable 

to non-  
controlling 

sharehol-
ders

Total

Balance  
1 January 2013 57,343 210,644 –469 505 0 66,808 334,831 1,556 336,387

Net amount recognised 
directly in equity, where 
applicable less income 
taxes 438 500 938 938

Issue of bonus shares 5,734 –5,734

Expense incurred in  
issuing bonus shares –13 –13 –13

Non-controlling interests 
arising from the inclusion 
of new companies 1 1

Net profit/loss for the 
period 37,327 37,327 –159 37,168

Full overall result  
for the fiscal year 438 38,265 –159 38,106

Balance  
31 December 2013 63,077 204,897 –31 505 500 104,135 373,083 1,398 374,481

Balance  
1 January 2014 63,077 204,897 –31 505 500 104,135 373,083 1,398 374,481

Net amount recognised 
directly in equity, where 
applicable less income 
taxes 31 530 561 561

Issue of bonus shares 6,308 –6,308

Expense incurred in  
issuing bonus shares –13 –13 –13

Non-controlling interests 
arising from the inclusion 
of new companies –1 –1

Net profit/ 
loss for the period 35,608 35,608 –588 35,020

Full overall result  
for the fiscal year 31 36,169 –588 35,581

BAlANCE  
31 DECEmBER 2014 69,385 198,576 0 505 1,030 139,743 409,239 809 410,048

Consolidated Financial Statements
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
Consolidated Statement of Changes in  
Equity
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General Disclosures

PATRIZIA Immobilien AG is a listed German stock corporation. The Company’s headquarters are located at Fug-
gerstrasse 26, 86150 Augsburg. PATRIZIA Immobilien AG has been active as an investor and service provider on 
the real estate market for more than 30 years, and now in over ten countries. PATRIZIA covers the spectrum of 
purchasing, management, appreciation and sale of residential and commercial real estate. As a recognised busi-
ness partner of large institutional investors, the Company operates nationally and internationally, covering the  
entire value chain relating to all fields of real estate. Currently the Company manages real estate assets worth 
EUR 14.6 billion mainly as a co-investor and portfolio manager for insurance companies, pension fund institu-
tions, government funds and savings banks.

1  PrinciPles aPPlieD in PreParinG the consoliDateD 

 Financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG to 31 December 2014 were prepared in line 
with IFRS and in compliance with the provisions of German commercial law additionally applicable as per Article 
315a (1) of the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB ‒ German Commercial Code). All compulsory official announcements 
of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) have been applied, i.e. those adopted up to the balance 
sheet date by the EU in the context of the endorsement process and published in the Official Journal of the EU.

At the time of preparing the consolidated financial statements the following standards and interpretations had 
been published and were to be applied for the first time during the current fiscal year:

l IFRS 10 – “Consolidated Financial Statements” (to be applied for fiscal years commencing on or after  
1 January 2014)

l IFRS 11 – “Joint Arrangements” (to be applied for fiscal years commencing on or after 1 January 2014)
l IFRS 12 – “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities” (to be applied for fiscal years commencing on or after  

1 January 2014)

At the time of preparing the consolidated financial statements, the following standards and interpretations, as 
amended, were to be used for the first time:

l Amendments to IFRS 10 – “Consolidated Financial Statements”, IFRS 12 – “Disclosure of Interests in Other 
Entities” and IAS 27 “Separate Financial Statements” (introduction of an exemption from the requirement to 
consolidate subsidiaries for eligible investment entities; to be applied for fiscal years commencing on or after 
1 January 2014)

l Amendments to IFRS 10 – “Consolidated Financial Statements”, IFRS 11 – “Joint Arrangements” and IFRS 
12 – “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities” (clarifications concerning certain transition provisions on  
first-time application of IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12; to be applied for fiscal years commencing on or after 
1 January 2014)

Notes to the IFRS Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 december 2014



1097  Our Strategy 19  Our Responsibility 35  Our Company 45  Our Results 161  Further Information

Notes to the IFRS Consolidated  
Financial Statements
Principles Applied in Preparing  
the Consolidated Financial Statements

l Amendment to IAS 27 – “Separate Financial Statements” (elimination of the consolidation provisions; to be 
applied for fiscal years commencing on or after 1 January 2013; in the EU, first-time application is mandatory 
for fiscal years commencing after 1 January 2014)

l Amendment to IAS 28 – “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” (inclusion of rules on accounting of 
joint ventures; to be applied for fiscal years commencing on or after 1 January 2013; in the EU, first-time ap-
plication is mandatory only for fiscal years commencing after 1 January 2014)

l Amendment to IAS 32 – “Financial Instruments: Presentation” (additions on account of application problems 
relating to the requirements for offsetting financial assets and liabilities; to be applied for fiscal years  
commencing on or after 1 January 2014)

l Amendment to IAS 36 – “Impairment of assets” (correction concerning certain disclosures resulting from the 
adoption of IFRS 13; to be applied for fiscal years commencing on or after 1 January 2014)

l Amendment to IAS 39 – “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” (additions concerning the 
novation of derivatives and continuation of hedge accounting; to be applied for fiscal years commencing on 
or after 1 January 2014)

The standards/interpretations which were used for the first time from 1 January 2014 did not have any impact 
on the consolidated financial statements. However, the first-time application of IFRS 12 led to more extensive 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

Although the following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations had already been published by 
the IASB at the time of preparing the consolidated financial statements, their application was not yet compulsory:

l IFRS 9 – “Financial Instruments” (to be applied for fiscal years commencing on or after 1 January 2018; this 
standard has not yet been adopted by the EU)

l Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate 
or Joint Venture (to be applied for fiscal years commencing on or after 1 January 2016; the amendments to 
these standards have not yet been adopted by the EU)

l Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 – Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception (to 
be applied for fiscal years commencing on or after 1 January 2016; the amendments to these standards have 
not yet been adopted by the EU)

l Amendments to IFRS 11– Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations (to be applied for fiscal 
years commencing on or after 1 January 2016; the amendments to this standard have not yet been adopted 
by the EU)

l IFRS 14 – “Regulatory Deferral Accounts” (to be applied for fiscal years commencing on or after 1 January 
2016; the amendments to these standards have not yet been adopted by the EU)

l IFRS 15 – “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (to be applied for fiscal years commencing on or after  
1 January 2017; the amendments to these standards have not yet been adopted by the EU)

l Amendments to IAS 1: Disclosure Initiative (to be applied for fiscal years commencing on or after 1 January 
2016; the amendments to this standard have not yet been adopted by the EU)

l Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation 
(to be applied for fiscal years commencing on or after 1 January 2016; the amendments to these standards 
have not yet been adopted by the EU)

l Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41– Bearer Plants (to be applied for fiscal years commencing on or after  
1 January 2016; the amendments to these standards have not yet been adopted by the EU)



Annual Report 2014110

l Amendment to IAS 19 – “Employee Benefits” (amendment concerning contributions by employees or third 
parties in respect of service; to be applied for fiscal years commencing on or after 1 July 2014; in the EU, 
first-time application is mandatory for fiscal years commencing after 1 February 2015)

l Amendments to IAS 27 – Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (to be applied for fiscal years com-
mencing on or after 1 January 2016; the amendments to this standard have not yet been adopted by the EU)

l Annual improvements to the IFRS – 2010–2012 cycle (amendments to IFRS 2 – “Share-based Payment”, 
IFRS 3 – “Business Combinations”, IFRS 8 – “Operating Segments”, IFRS 13 – “Fair Value Measurement”, 
IAS 16 – “Property, Plant and Equipment”, IAS 24 – “Related Party Disclosures”, and IAS 38 – “Intangible 
Assets”; to be applied for fiscal years commencing on or after 1 July 2014; in the EU, first-time application is 
mandatory for fiscal years commencing on or after 1 February 2015)

l Annual improvements to the IFRS – 2011–2013 cycle (amendments to IFRS 1 – “First-time Application of 
International Financial Reporting Standards”, IFRS 3 – “Business Combinations”, IFRS 13 – “Fair Value  
Measurement” and IAS 40 – “Investment Property”; to be applied for fiscal years commencing on or after 1 
July 2014; in the EU, first-time application is mandatory for fiscal years commencing on or after 1 January 2015)

l Annual improvements to the IFRS – 2012-2014 cycle (amendments to IFRS 5 – “Non-current Assets Held for 
Sale and Discontinued Operations”, IFRS 7 – “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”, IAS 19 – “Employee  
Benefits”, IAS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting”; to be applied for fiscal years commencing on or after  
1 January 2016; the amendments to these standards have not yet been adopted by the EU)

l IFRIC 21 – “Levies” (to be applied for fiscal years commencing on or after 1 January 2014; different effective 
date due to EU endorsement. Here: 17 June 2014)

With regard to first-time application of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15, it is not currently possible to evaluate the effects 
because detailed analyses are still under way. We do not expect the other standards specified above to have any 
material impacts on accounting.

The balance sheet presentation is geared towards the maturity of the corresponding assets and liabilities. Assets 
and liabilities are regarded as current if their realisation or repayment is expected within the normal course of the 
Group’s business cycle. The nature of expense method was selected for the income statement.

The fiscal year corresponds to the calendar year. The consolidated financial statements are prepared in euro. The 
amounts, including the previous year’s figures, are stated in EUR thousand (TEUR).
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Notes to the IFRS Consolidated  
Financial Statements
Scope of Consolidation  
and Consolidation Methods

2 scoPe oF consoliDation anD consoliDation methoDs

2.1 scoPe oF consoliDation

The consolidated financial statements contain the financial statements of the parent company and of the  
companies it controls (its subsidiaries). The Company acquires control if:

l it can exercise power of disposal over the associated company,
l its returns are dependent on the performance of the investment and 
l it can influence the level of the returns due to its power of disposal.

The Company re-assesses whether or not it controls an associated company if facts or circumstances indicate 
that one or more of the three aforementioned criteria relating to control have changed.

A subsidiary is included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which the Company acquires 
control over the subsidiary until the date on which the Company’s control ends. In this context, the results of 
subsidiaries which are acquired or sold during the course of a year are recorded in the consolidated income 
statement and in the other comprehensive income accordingly from the actual date of acquisition and/or until 
the actual date of sale.

All internal assets, liabilities, equity items, income, expenses and cash flows relating to business transactions  
between group companies are eliminated in full during the consolidation process.

All companies included in PATRIZIA Immobilien AG’s consolidated financial statements can be found in the list of 
shareholdings (Appendix to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements). With the exception of  
PATRIZIA WohnInvest Kapitalverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH (formerly PATRIZIA WohnInvest Kapitalanlagegesell-
schaft mbH) and PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest Kapitalverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH (formerly PATRIZIA  
GewerbeInvest Kapitalanlagegesellschaft mbH), the subsidiaries listed and bound by a profit and loss transfer 
agreement each make use of the relief provided for in Article 264 (3) of the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB German 
Commercial Code). The partnerships also found in the list of shareholdings make use of the relief provided for in 
Article 264b of the German Commercial Code.

A joint venture is a joint agreement in which the parties which exercise joint control have rights to the net assets 
of the arrangement. Joint management is the contractually agreed jointly exercised management of an  
arrangement. This only applies if decisions concerning key activities require the unanimous consent of the  
parties involved in joint management.

An associated company is a company over which the Group has significant influence. A significant influence is 
assumed if a direct or indirect voting right share of at least 20% is held in another company. The assumption of 
a significant influence is rebuttable if, despite a voting share of 20% and above, contractual regulations exclude 
any influence on exercisable business and corporate policy and the exercisable rights consist only of industrial 
property rights.
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Shares in associated companies or joint ventures must be included in the consolidated total assets at their  
acquisition cost using the equity method; these are adjusted for changes in the Group’s share in the profit or loss 
and in the other comprehensive income of the associated company or joint venture after the date of acquisition. 
Losses of an associated company or joint venture which exceed the Group’s share in such associated company 
or joint venture are not recorded.

In addition to the parent company, the scope of consolidation comprises 70 subsidiaries. They are included in the 
consolidated financial statements in line with the rules of full consolidation. In addition, one participating interest 
in a SICAV is accounted for at equity in the consolidated financial statements. The SICAV is a stock corporation 
with variable equity in accordance with the laws of Luxembourg. Although PATRIZIA has a significant influence 
on management, it does not have control because this is held by the majority investor in the SICAV. In addition, 
28.3% of the limited liability capital is held in one real estate development company (in the form of a GmbH & Co. 
KG), while 30% is held in the associated general partner. A significant influence does not apply because provisions 
in the partnership agreement mean that management cannot be exercised, that a significant influence cannot be 
exerted on the management and that there is no entitlement to appoint members of the governing organs. The 
shares in this real estate development company are accounted for at acquisition cost.

In 2014 there were no major changes in the shareholder structure from the Group’s perspective. In addition, five 
companies had been established by 31 December 2014 but these were not included in the scope of consoli-
dation because they had not commenced business operations and were thus of minor significance for the conso-
lidated financial statements.

The reporting dates of the subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements correspond to the  
parent company’s reporting date. The financial statements are prepared in line with uniform accounting and  
valuation principles.

company acquisitions, sales and intercompany restructuring

PATRIZIA Immobilien AG acquired Archa 2 Oy, Helsinki, on 10 January 2014. The company was renamed  
PATRIZIA Finland Oy with effect from 3 March 2014. The company’s share capital is EUR 2,547.06. The object 
of the company is the provision of property-related services in Finland.

On 28 May 2014, PATRIZIA Immobilien AG established PATRIZIA Institutional Clients & Advisory GmbH, 
Augsburg. The company’s share capital is TEUR 25. The object of the company is the provision of consultancy 
services and services of all types within the sphere of and in connection with real estate, especially services for 
institutional clients.

On 2 June 2014, PATRIZIA Immobilien AG established PATRIZIA Netherlands B.V., Amsterdam. The company’s 
share capital is EUR 1. The object of the company is the provision of property-related services in the Nether-
lands.

PATRIZIA Luxembourg S.à r.l., part of the scope of consolidation of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG, founded PATRIZIA 
Investment Management HoldCo S.à r.l., Luxembourg, on 4 July 2014. The company’s share capital is TEUR 12.5. 
The object of the company is the granting of finance to real estate companies, the purchase or holding of shares 
in real estate companies, the purchase of real estate and the operation and sale (including residential property 
resale) of real estate held by the company.
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On 29 September 2014, PATRIZIA Immobilien AG established PATRIZIA GrundInvest GmbH, Augsburg. The 
outstanding contributions to the company’s share capital amount to TEUR 25. A capital increase to EUR 3 million 
was effected on the basis of a resolution dated 28 October 2014. The object of the company is the management 
of own assets and acting as controlled company within the framework of a fiscal unity arrangement.

2.2 caPital consoliDation usinG Full consoliDation

In principle, all subsidiaries are recognised in the consolidated financial statements using full consolidation. 
Since 1 January 2002, acquired subsidiaries have been accounted for using the acquisition method under IFRS 3. 
Using the relief options of IFRS 1, purchases of shares in companies before this date were still accounted for on 
the basis of the carrying amount method in accordance with the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB – German Commercial 
Code). According to the acquisition method, the consideration transferred at the time of a business combination 
is measured at fair value. This is determined from the aggregate of the fair values of the transferred assets,  
measured at the time of acquisition, of the liabilities assumed from the previous owners of the acquired company 
and of the equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquired company. Transaction 
costs associated with the business combination are recognised in profit or loss when they are incurred.

A subsidiary is included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which the Company acquires 
control over the subsidiary until the date on which the Company’s control ends.

The acquisition costs comprise the cash paid for the acquisition. 

Goodwill is calculated as the amount by which the sum of 

l the consideration transferred and
l the amount of all non-controlling interests in the acquired company

exceeds the fair values of the acquired identifiable assets and liabilities assumed on the date of acquisition.  
If – even after a further assessment – the difference is negative, this is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
The profit or loss and every component of other comprehensive income are to be assigned to the shareholders of 
the parent company and to the non-controlling interests. This applies even if this means that the non-controlling 
interests have a negative balance.

2.3  consoliDation oF Joint Ventures anD associateD comPanies 
usinG the equity methoD

The equity method is applied to the presentation of joint ventures and associated companies in the consolidated 
financial statements. In contrast to full consolidation, no assets and liabilities or expenses and income of the 
company valued at equity are recognised (proportionately) in the consolidated financial statements when the 
equity method is applied. Instead, the carrying amount of the participation is updated quarterly in accordance 
with the development of the proportionate equity in the associated company.

The initial application of the equity method takes place from the time at which the participation is to be classified 
as a joint venture or as an associated company. Here, the acquisition costs for the shares acquired are initially 
netted against the equity attributable to them. Any difference is examined, in accordance with the rules for full 
consolidation, for the existence of hidden reserves or charges and any remaining difference is treated as goodwill 
or badwill. In subsequent periods, the carrying amount of the participation is updated in line with the propor-
tionate changes in equity at the associated company.
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2.4  consoliDation oF liabilities, exPenses anD income anD  
elimination oF intra-GrouP results

Intercompany balances, transactions, profits and expenditure of the companies included in the consolidated 
financial statements by means of full consolidation are eliminated in full. Deferred taxes are recognised for timing 
differences arising from the elimination of profits and losses as a result of transactions within the Group.

2.5 currency translation

Business transactions in foreign currencies are translated using the relevant exchange rates at the time of the 
transaction. In the following periods, monetary assets and liabilities are valued on the balance sheet date and the 
resulting translation differences are recorded through profit or loss. Nonmonetary items are measured at histori-
cal costs in a foreign currency and translated using the rate prevailing on the date of the business transaction.

The financial statements of international subsidiaries whose functional currency is not the euro and does not 
therefore correspond to the Group’s presentation currency are translated using the modified reporting date  
method. According to this method, assets and liabilities are translated at the respective rate on the reporting 
date. Income and expenses are translated at the exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction. The  
resulting translation differences are shown separately in equity.

3 summary oF Key accountinG anD Valuation Policies

The financial statements included in the consolidated financial statements are prepared in line with uniform  
accounting and valuation principles.

3.1 GooDwill

The goodwill that results from a business combination is accounted for at acquisition cost and – where  
necessary – less any impairments and shown separately in the consolidated balance sheet. 

In order to verify possible impairments, the goodwill is allocated to each cash-generating unit of the Group which 
is expected to derive a benefit from the synergies resulting from the business combination. 

The cash-generating units that are allocated a portion of the goodwill are subject to an annual impairment review. 
If there is evidence of an impairment for an entity, that entity is assessed more frequently. If the recoverable 
amount of a cash-generating unit is smaller than the unit’s carrying amount, the impairment expense is initially 
assigned to the carrying amount of any goodwill assigned to the unit and then proportionately to the other assets 
based on the carrying amount of each asset within the unit. Here, the recoverable amount is the higher of value 
in use and fair value less selling costs.
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3.2 soFtware

Software is recognised at acquisition or production cost at the date of addition. In subsequent periods, it is 
measured at acquisition or production cost less any accumulated scheduled depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.

Acquisition costs include the directly attributable purchase and commitment costs. 

Scheduled amortisation is carried out using the straight-line method. It starts as soon as the asset can be used 
and ends on expiry of the useful life or on disposal of the asset. The amortisation period is geared towards the 
expected useful life. Purchased software is amortised over three to ten years.

3.3 manaGement contracts

Management contracts acquired as part of the business combination with the company now known as PATRIZIA 
GewerbeInvest Kapitalverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH and those acquired as part of the business combination with 
the company now known as PATRIZIA UK Ltd. are shown separately and are measured at fair value at the time 
of their acquisition. 

In subsequent periods these management contracts are measured in exactly the same way as individually  
acquired intangible assets (i.e. at acquisition cost less scheduled cumulative amortisation and any cumulative 
impairments).

The period of amortisation for the management contracts is based on the expected terms of the fund contracts 
(19 to 23 years). Since their course cannot be reliably determined in advance, the straight-line method was  
selected.

3.4 equiPment

Equipment is recognised at acquisition or production cost at the date of addition. In subsequent periods, it is 
measured at acquisition or production cost less any accumulated scheduled depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.

Acquisition costs include the directly attributable purchase and commitment costs.

Scheduled amortisation is carried out using the straight-line method. It starts as soon as the asset can be used 
and ends with disposal of the asset. The amortisation period is geared towards the expected useful life. Equip-
ment is amortised over three to thirteen years. Minor-value assets are fully depreciated in the year of acquisition.
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3.5 imPairment oF assets

If there is an indication of an impairment, assets which are subject to scheduled depreciation are reviewed to  
ascertain if there is a need for unscheduled depreciation. If the reason for the unscheduled depreciation no  
longer applies, the impairment is reversed. Assets that are not subject to scheduled amortisation are checked on 
each balance sheet date to ascertain if there is a need for value adjustment.

3.6 inVestment ProPerty

Qualifying real estate as an investment is based on a corresponding management decision to use the real estate 
in question to generate rental income and thus liquidity, while realising higher rent potential over a long period 
and, accordingly, an increase in value. The share of owner-occupier use does not exceed 10% of the rental space. 
In contrast to the real estate posted under inventories, investment property is not intended for sale in the  
ordinary course of business or within the framework of the construction or development process. Measurement 
is at fair value taking into account the current usage that corresponds to the highest and best usage. Changes in 
value are recognised through profit or loss.

The market value is equivalent to the fair value. Measurements are carried out in accordance with the provisions 
of IFRS 13 and define the price which would be received in an orderly business transaction between market 
participants on the measurement reference date for the sale of an asset or which would be paid for the transfer 
of a liability. In terms of content, this definition also corresponds to the definition of the market value pursuant to 
Section 194 of the Baugesetzbuch (BauGB – Federal Building Code). In particular, this estimate excludes price 
assumptions that are increased or reduced by subsidiary agreements or special circumstances. 

For individual investment properties, the residential property resale process was launched in previous years and 
successfully continued in 2014. The properties that are earmarked for resale are valued internally using detailed 
project accounting. This valuation includes the key input factors such as comparative values from market trans-
actions relating to the property/in its direct vicinity and assumptions concerning period of utilisation, potential 
categories of purchasers and planned renovation and modernisation measures that are still to be carried out.

One property that remained after the sale of all properties not earmarked for residential resale was measured on 
the balance sheet date of 31 December 2014 using the income approach. With the exception of the market rent 
used in the valuation (level 2 of the valuation hierarchy), the input factors used here mainly concern company-
specific measurement parameters that are not observable in the market (level 3 of the valuation hierarchy).

In accordance with the valuation hierarchy specified in IFRS 13, the fair value measurement of the investment 
property is thus to be assigned to level 3. The values determined are entry prices within the context of IFRS 13; 
in this case, therefore, it is not necessary to deduct purchaser transaction costs.
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On the closing date, properties with a total area of 25,020 sqm with an average selling price of EUR 2,548 per 
square metre were earmarked for resale. Any change in this average attainable selling price per square metre  
results in a corresponding change in the fair value determined using the valuation method (example: if the  
average attainable selling price per square metre rises by EUR 100, this is reflected in an increase of TEUR 2,388 
in the fair value). If, when valuing the remaining property which is not earmarked for resale, the market rent chan-
ges by 5%, this results in a change in market value of EUR 1.0 million. A change of 5 basis points in the capitalisa-
tion interest rate would result in a change in market value of EUR 0.7 million. 

All investment property held by the Group is leased. The resultant rental income and the expenses directly asso-
ciated with it are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

3.7 ParticiPations in associateD comPanies

PATRIZIA WohnModul I SICAV-FIS represents an associated company for PATRIZIA. Associated companies are 
companies in which PATRIZIA is able to assert a material influence on the company’s business and financial 
policy (generally through a direct or indirect share of voting rights of 20–50%). In the consolidated financial state-
ments these are accounted for using the equity method.

PATRIZIA’s share in the associated company’s result following the acquisition is shown in the consolidated 
income statement. The cumulative changes after the date of acquisition increase or reduce the associated 
company’s investment carrying amount. If the losses of an associated company that are attributable to PATRIZIA 
equal or exceed the value of the share in this company, no further shares in losses are recorded. Dividends  
received from an associated company reduce the carrying amount of the shares.

The share in an associated company is the carrying amount of the participating interest, plus all non-current  
shares which, according to the business purpose, are attributable to the owner’s net investment in the associa-
ted company. On every balance sheet reporting date, PATRIZIA checks whether there is objective evidence for 
an impairment of the share in the associated company. If such evidence exists, PATRIZIA determines the impair-
ment requirement as the difference between the recoverable amount and the carrying amount of the associated 
company. At the time when a material influence on an associated company is lost, any remaining shares are 
revalued at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the associated company and the fair value 
of the remaining share plus any sales proceeds is recorded through profit or loss.

3.8 ParticiPations

Participations are categorised as available for sale financial assets. These are valued at acquisition cost since, 
due to the absence of an active market, a fair value can only be determined on the basis of specific sale negotia-
tions. There are currently no plans to sell these instruments. On each reporting date, the Group ascertains  
whether there are objective indications that an impairment has taken place.
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3.9 inVentories

The “Inventories” item contains real estate that is intended for sale in the context of ordinary activities or that is 
intended for such sale in the context of the construction or development process; in particular, it includes real 
estate that has been acquired solely for the purpose of resale in the near future or for development and resale. 
Development also covers straightforward modernisation and renovation activities. Assessment and qualification 
as an inventory is undertaken within the context of the purchasing decision and implemented in the balance 
sheet as at the date of addition.

PATRIZIA has defined the operating business cycle as three years, because based on experience the majority of 
the units to be sold are sold and recognised during this time period. However, inventories are still classed as  
intended for direct sale even if the sale is not recognised within three years (e.g. due to unforeseeable/unfore-
seen changes in underlying economic conditions). 

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or net sale price. Acquisition costs comprise the directly attributable 
purchase and commitment costs, i.e. especially acquisition costs for real estate as well as ancillary acquisition 
costs (notary’s fees etc.). Manufacturing costs comprise the costs directly attributable to the real estate  
development process, i.e. especially renovation costs. Borrowing costs that are directly related to the acquisition, 
construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the purchase or production costs for 
the respective asset. Borrowing costs that are not directly related to the acquisition, construction or production 
of a qualifying asset are recorded as an expense in the time period in which they arise. The net sale price  
corresponds to the sale proceeds likely to be generated in the ordinary course of business less any renovation or 
modernisation and selling costs incurred.

3.10 Financial assets

IAS 39 distinguishes between the following four categories of financial assets:

l Held-to-maturity investments
l Loans and receivables
l Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
l Available-for-sale financial assets

Financial assets are stated in the balance sheet if the company is party to a contract for this asset. Customary 
purchases of financial assets for which there is only a short customary period between entry into, and fulfilment 
of, the obligation are generally accounted for on the trading date. This also applies analogously to customary 
sales.

There were no held-to-maturity investments as at the balance sheet date.

Derivatives which are not designated as hedging instruments or are not effective as such within the meaning of 
IAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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These financial instruments must be allocated to one of three levels, depending on the extent to which the fair 
value can be assessed:

l Level-1 valuations at fair value are those which are based on quoted prices (unadjusted) on active markets 
for identical financial assets or liabilities.

l Level-2 valuations at fair value are those based on parameters that do not correspond to quoted prices for 
assets and liabilities as in level 1 (data), but are either derived directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived 
from prices).

l Level-3 valuations at fair value are those derived from models that use parameters for the assessment of  
assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (non-observable parameters, assumptions).

The fair value of derivatives is determined by external banks. The valuation can be assigned to level 2.

Investments which have been entered into with the intention of holding them are categorised as “available-for-
sale financial assets” (see 3.8). For available-for-sale financial assets, the Group ascertains, on each reporting 
date, whether there are objective indications that impairment of an asset or of a group of assets has taken place. 
In the case of available-for-sale equity instruments, a “significant” or “continuing” fall in the fair value of the  
instrument below its acquisition cost would represent an objective indication. 

loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or definable payments which are not  
quoted in an active market. Following initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method less any impairments.

If there are any objective indications that impairment of financial assets which have been accounted for 
at amortised cost has taken place, the amount of the impairment loss is equivalent to the difference between 
the carrying amount of the asset and the present value of the expected future cash flow (with the exception of  
expected future, though not yet occurred, loan losses), discounted with the original effective interest rate of the 
financial asset, i.e. at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition. The carrying amount of the  
asset is decreased using a value adjustment account. The impairment loss is recognised through profit or loss.

If the amount of the impairment decreases in the subsequent reporting periods and if this decrease can be  
objectively attributed to a circumstance occurring subsequent to impairment, the previous impairment is  
reversed. The reversal of the impairment is recognised through profit or loss.

If, in the case of trade receivables, there are objective indications that not all amounts due will be received in 
accordance with the originally agreed invoice conditions (such as probability of insolvency or significant financial 
difficulties on the part of the debtor), impairment is recognised using a value adjustment account. Derecognition 
of receivables takes place if they are classified as non-collectable.
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3.11 cash anD cash equiValents

Cash and cash deposits shown in the balance sheet comprise cash and bank balances with an original term of 
less than three months. 

3.12 Financial liabilities

Upon initial recognition, interest-bearing loans are measured at fair value less the transaction costs directly 
associated with the borrowing. They are not recognised at fair value through profit or loss. Following initial  
recognition, the interest-bearing loans are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

3.13 DerecoGnition oF Financial assets anD Financial liabilities

a financial asset (or a part of a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised if the  
preconditions of IAS 39 are met.

a financial liability is derecognised if the obligation upon which this liability is based is fulfilled, cancelled or 
has expired.

If an existing financial liability is exchanged for another financial liability of the same lender at substantially  
different contractual conditions or if the conditions of an existing liability are significantly changed, such an  
exchange or change is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and recognition of a new liability.  
The difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised through profit or loss.

3.14 DeriVatiVe Financial instruments

The last of the interest hedging derivatives expired on 30 June 2014. As a result of the ECB’s continuing low  
interest rate policy and PATRIZIA’s own assessments of the overall economic situation in Europe, financing does 
not currently include any interest rate hedging. Previously, the Group used the derivative financial instruments of 
interest rate swaps and interest rate collars to protect itself against interest rate risks. These derivative financial 
instruments were measured at fair value. Derivative financial instruments were recognised as assets if their fair 
value was positive, and as liabilities if their fair value was negative.

Profits or losses resulting from changes to the fair value of derivative financial instruments which did not meet 
the criteria for accounting as hedges were recognised immediately through profit or loss.

The PATRIZIA Group’s hedging instruments were classified as cash flow hedges for accounting purposes, since 
they involved hedging against the risk of fluctuations in the cash flow, which could be allocated to the risk  
associated with a recognised asset or with a recognised liability.
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At the start of the hedging, both the hedges and the Group’s risk management objectives and strategies  
regarding hedging were formally specified and documented. The documentation contains the determination of 
the hedging instrument when compensating for risks arising from changes to the fair value or cash flow of the 
hedged underlying transaction. These types of hedges were considered highly effective in terms of compensating 
for risks resulting from changes to fair value or cash flow. They were continuously assessed as to whether they 
were actually highly effective during the entire reporting period for which the hedge was defined.

3.15 retirement beneFit obliGations

Defined-benefit pension plans are valued using the projected unit credit method on the basis of a pension report. 
The retirement benefit obligations in the balance sheet are calculated based on the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation on the balance sheet date. The Group recognises actuarial gains and losses for defined  
benefit pension plans through profit or loss in the reporting period in which they arise. The interest share of  
pension expenses was not significant enough to be recognised in the financial result, and was instead recognised 
in staff costs.

3.16 other ProVisions

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount. In principle, recognition of a provision cumulatively  
requires a current obligation arising from a past event from which an outflow of resources is likely and the value 
of which it must be possible to measure in a reliable manner. Provisions are measured using the best possible 
estimate of the extent of the obligation. The provisions are discounted in the event of material interest effects.

3.17 leases

The determination of whether an agreement includes a lease is made on the basis of the economic substance of 
the agreement at the time of the conclusion of the respective agreement. It requires an estimate as to whether 
the fulfilment of the contractual agreement is dependent upon the utilisation of a certain asset or certain assets 
and whether the agreement grants a right to utilisation of the asset.

Leases where all opportunities and risks associated with the ownership are not passed to the lessee to a  
significant degree by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs which arise during the  
negotiations and the conclusion of an operating leasing contract are added to the carrying amount of the leased 
object and are recognised as expenses correspondent to the rental income over the term of the lease.  
Contingent rent is recognised as income during the period in which it is generated. 

Within the PATRIZIA Group, there are only an insignificant number of leases for which the Group is the lessee. All 
these are classified as operating leases.
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3.18 taxes

actual taxes
Actual tax refund claims and liabilities for current and previous periods are measured at the amount expected to 
be recovered from or paid to the tax authorities. Calculation of the amount is based on the tax rates and tax laws 
which apply at the balance sheet date.

Tax assets and tax liabilities are offset against one another if the Group has an enforceable right to offset actual 
tax refund claims against actual tax liabilities and if these relate to taxes of the same taxable entity and are levied 
by the same tax authority.

deferred taxes
Deferred taxes are recognised using the liability method, for temporary differences existing on the balance sheet 
date between the amount stated in the balance sheet for an asset or a liability and the fiscal amount.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, tax loss carryforwards not yet 
utilised and tax credits not yet utilised, in the probable extent to which taxable income will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences and the tax loss carryforwards and tax credits not yet utilised can be 
used.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed on every balance sheet date and decreased by the extent 
to which it is no longer probable that a sufficient taxable result will be available against which the deferred tax 
asset can at least be partly used. Deferred tax assets not recognised are reviewed on every balance sheet date 
and are recognised in the amount in which it has become probable that a future taxable result allows recognition 
of the deferred tax asset.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates which will probably become effective in the 
period in which an asset is realised or a liability is settled. The tax rates and laws applicable on the balance sheet 
date are used as a basis. Future tax rate changes are to be taken into account on the balance sheet date if  
significant effectiveness requirements are met within the scope of pending legislation.

Deferred taxes which relate to items that are directly recognised in equity are not recognised in the income 
statement, but are also recognised in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset against one another if the Group has an enforceable 
right to offset actual tax refund claims against actual tax liabilities and if these relate to income taxes of the same 
taxable entity and are levied by the same tax authority.
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3.19 borrowinG costs

Borrowing costs used to produce a qualifying asset are capitalised. A qualifying asset is an asset that is needed 
for a significant time period in order to bring it into condition for its intended use or sale. This requirement is met 
by all real estate projects under development by the Group. All other borrowing costs are recorded as expenses 
in the period in which they are incurred. 

3.20 reVenue recoGnition

The basic prerequisite for recognition of profit when selling real estate is the likelihood of economic benefits and 
reliable quantification of revenues. In addition, there must be a transfer to the purchaser of the main opportu-
nities and risks associated with ownership of the assets, relinquishment of the legal or actual power of disposal 
over the assets and the ability to reliably determine the expenses relating to the sale that have been or are still to 
be incurred. 

In the services business, revenue is usually recognised after performance has been provided and invoicing has 
taken place. 

3.21 estimates anD assessments in accountinG

When preparing the consolidated financial statements a certain degree of assumptions must be made and 
estimates must be used which impact on the amount and reporting of the assets and liabilities, income and ex-
penses as well as contingent receivables and liabilities carried for the reporting period. An estimate is made on 
the basis of the most recently available reliable information. The assets, liabilities, income, expenses and  
contingent receivables and liabilities recognised on the basis of estimates may differ from the amounts to be  
recognised in future. Changes are taken into account through profit or loss on the date when more precise  
information is obtained. Estimates are largely made for the following:

l Measurement of investment property
l Determining the recoverable amount to assess the necessity and extent of unscheduled amortisation,  

especially on the real estate posted under the item “Inventories”
l Recognising and measuring provisions
l Valuing receivables subject to risk
l Assessing whether deferred tax assets can be recognised

The assumptions made when valuing the real estate portfolios could subsequently prove to be partially or fully 
incorrect, or there could be unexpected problems or unidentified risks relating to real estate portfolios. Such  
possible developments, even of a short-term nature, could cause a deterioration in the earnings situation, a  
decrease in the value of the purchased assets and a considerable reduction in the revenues generated from  
residential property resale and ongoing rental.

In addition to the factors inherent in each property, the recoverability of real estate assets is chiefly determined 
according to the development of the real estate market as well as the general economic situation. There is a risk 
that, in the event of a negative development of the real estate market or of the general economic situation, the 
valuation estimates made by the Group may have to be corrected. 
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4 notes to the consoliDateD balance sheet – assets

4.1 non-current assets

The breakdown of and changes in non-current assets as well as amortisation for the fiscal year and for the  
previous year are set out below:

4.1.1 goodwill

The goodwill with a carrying amount of TEUR 610 (previous year: TEUR 610) results from the acquisition of  
PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest Kapitalverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH. The company was identified as a cash-generating 
unit. The goodwill will not be deductible in future fiscal periods and is therefore treated as a permanent diffe-
rence when determining deferred taxes.

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit was determined by means of a calculation of the value in use 
based on cash-flow projections from the financial budget approved by the Managing Board for a period of seven 
years and a discount rate of 5.65% p.a. (previous year: 7.08% p.a.). For the period after the seventh year, the 
cash flows were extrapolated using a constant annual growth rate of 1% p.a. (previous year: 1% p.a.). PATRIZIA is 
of the opinion that no reasonably foreseeable change in the underlying assumptions on which the determination 
of the recoverable amount is based would cause the cumulative carrying amount of the cash-generating unit to 
exceed its cumulative recoverable amount.

4.1.2 other intangible assets

2014 2013

eur ’000 acquisition 
costs

amortisation carrying 
amounts

acquisition 
costs

amortisation carrying 
amounts

balance as at  
1 January 48,427 –6,523 41,904 47,195 –3,936 43,259

Additions 0 –2,511 –2,511 1,232 –2,587 –1,355

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0

Exchange rate  
differences 35 -21 14 0 0 0

balance as at  
31 december 48,462 –9,055 39,407 48,427 –6,523 41,904

The intangible assets include an amount of TEUR 39,323 relating to the hidden reserves, in respect of the fund 
management contracts, identified during the purchase price allocation of PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest Kapitalver-
waltungsgesellschaft mbH and an amount of TEUR 70 relating to the hidden reserves, in respect of the fund  
management contracts, identified during the purchase price allocation of PATRIZIA UK Ltd. The hidden reserves 
are currently subject to scheduled depreciation of TEUR 2,511 p.a. 
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4.1.3 software

2014 2013

eur ’000 acquisition 
costs

amortisation carrying 
amounts

acquisition 
costs

amortisation carrying 
amounts

balance as at  
1 January 13,341 –4,643 8,698 10,403 –2,850 7,553

Additions 4,906 –2,809 2,097 2,938 –1,793 1,145

Disposals –982 982 0 0 0 0

balance as at  
31 december 17,265 –6,470 10,795 13,341 –4,643 8,698

4.1.4 investment property

development of non-current assets

2014 2013

eur ’000 investment  
property

investment  
property

fair value

balance as at 1 January 229,717 374,104

Additions – assets 3,538 5,891

Disposals – assets –154,799 –150,295

Positive fair value changes 2,198 16,893

Negative fair value changes –2,147 –16,876

balance as at 31 december 78,507 229,717

Investment property is property that is held for generating rental income and/or for capital appreciation; in  
accordance with IAS 40, it is valued at market values through profit or loss. In the year under review a total of 
eleven investment properties in Berlin, Hanover, Offenbach, Munich, Neu-Isenburg, Kaiserslauten, Ratingen,  
Essen, Krefeld, and Cologne were sold.  

Based on the fair value of the overall portfolio as at 31 December 2014, the average value is EUR 2,222 (previous 
year: EUR 1,768) per square metre and/or a multiplier of 19 (previous year: 15) based on the target rent. The 
increase in these average values is based on the improved portfolio mix as a result of sales.

The fair value of the pledged investment property is TEUR 78,507 (previous year: TEUR 229,717).
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4.1.6 participations in associated companies

2014 2013

eur ’000 acquisition 
costs

adjustments  
at equity

carrying 
amounts

acquisition 
costs

adjustments  
at equity

carrying 
amounts

balance as at 
1 January 17,206 1,089 18,295 15,379 431 15,810

Additions 47,020 3,182 50,202 1,827 658 2,485

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0

balance as at  
31 december 64,226 4,271 68,497 17,206 1,089 18,295

The item “participations in associated companies” includes the participation in PATRIZIA WohnModul I  
SICAV-FIS with registered office in Luxembourg. In 2014 PATRIZIA increased its holding by 1.01 percentage 
points to 10.1% (previous year: 9.09%).

PATRIZIA WohnModul I SICAV-FIS firstly enables the purchase of real estate developments and asset  
repositioning properties, while secondly allowing apartments to be sold even during the investment phase.  
The exit strategy provides for both block sales and individual sales.

Because of its participation in PATRIZIA WohnModul I SICAV-FIS, PATRIZIA is subject to customary risks  
specific to the real estate sector such as market trends for residential property resales and real estate develop-
ments, and also to fluctuations in interest rates. 

PATRIZIA WohnModul I is included in the consolidated financial statements of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG based on 
the equity method. The summarised financial information for the aforementioned associated company is given 
below.

2014 2013

eur ’000 acquisition 
costs

amortisation carrying 
amounts

acquisition 
costs

amortisation carrying 
amounts

balance as at  
1 January 10,150 –5,385 4,765 7,617 –4,138 3,479

Additions 1,341 –1,621 –280 3,134 –1,728 1,406

Disposals –270 261 –9 –601 481 –120

balance as at  
31 december 11,221 –6,745 4,476 10,150 –5,385 4,765

4.1.5 equipment
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The other adjustments include income from participations in companies which are not assignable to the  
associated company on account of their economic substance and the interim results which are to be taken into 
account. Figures for previous years have been adjusted accordingly based on the requirements of IFRS 12.

4.1.7 participations

eur ’000 2014 2013

Net assets of the associated company 679,688 200,999

Group’s shareholding 10.1% 9.09%

Goodwill – –

Other adjustments –151 24

carrying value of the group’s participating interest  
in patriZia wohnmodul i sicav-fis 68,497 18,295

eur ’000 2014 2013

Current assets 1,247,220 555,449

Non-current assets 13,730 9,676

Current liabilities 74,849 74,595

Non-current liabilities 506,413 289,531

Revenues 77,033 30,914

Net profit/loss for the year 30,560 9,881

Other comprehensive income – –

Total comprehensive income 30,560 9,881

The share in the consolidated net profit of PATRIZIA WohnModul I SICAV-FIS was TEUR 3,182 (previous year: 
TEUR 658).

2014 2013

eur ’000 acquisition 
costs

amortisation carrying 
amounts

acquisition 
costs

amortisation carrying 
amounts

balance as at 
1 January 80,074 0 80,074 18,407 0 18,407

Additions 16,294 0 16,294 61,676 0 61,676

Disposals –183 0 –183 –9 0 –9

Exchange rate  
differences 370 0 370 0 0 0

balance as at  
31 december 96,555 0 96,555 80,074 0 80,074

Reconciliation statement showing the relationship between the financial information presented and the carrying 
amount of the participation interest in PATRIZIA WohnModul I SICAV-FIS:
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The item “Participations” includes the following main holdings:

l PATRoffice Real Estate GmbH & Co. KG 6.25% (31 December 2013: 6.25%) 
l CARL A-Immo GmbH & Co KG 12.5% (31 December 2013: 12.5%) 
l sono west Projektentwicklung GmbH & Co. KG 28.3% (31 December 2013: 28.3%) 
l Projekt Feuerbachstrasse Verwaltung GmbH 30% (31 December 2013: 30%) 
l PATRIZIA Projekt 150 GmbH 10% (31 December 2013: 10%) 
l Plymouth Sound Holdings LP 10% (31 December 2013: 10%) 
l Winnersh Holdings LP 5.0% (31 December 2013: 4.9%) 
l Seneca Holdco S.à r.l. 5.1% (31 December 2013: 5.1%)
l GBW GmbH 5.1% (31 December 2013: 5.1%)
l Aviemore Topco 10% (31 December 2013: 0%)
l Citruz Holdings LP 10% (31 December 2013: 0%) 

Key additions during the fiscal year include the participation in Aviemore Topco of 10% (TEUR 8,376) and in Citruz 
Holdings LP of 10% (TEUR 4,304) as well as the increase in the participation in GBW GmbH by incorporating the 
existing loan into the free capital reserves (TEUR 3,069).

4.1.8 loans 

The additions mainly relate to a loan of TEUR 3,798 granted in connection with the co-investment Aviemore  
Holdings LP. The disposals mainly relate to the aforementioned incorporation of the loan within the context of the 
co-investment GBW and to the redemption of the loan to the co-investment Plymouth Sound Holdings LP in an 
amount of TEUR 1,329.

4.2 tax assets  

Corporation tax credits of TEUR 119 (previous year: TEUR 159) with a right to payment that arose after 2008 and 
that are to be paid by the tax authorities over a period of ten years in equal annual amounts are treated as non-
current tax assets. Measurement is at present value. 

The current tax assets of TEUR 8,014 (previous year: TEUR 5,582) mainly include receivables from tax overpay-
ments and claims for reimbursement resulting from capital gains tax. Current tax assets rose by TEUR 2,432 
compared with the previous year; this was among other things due to advance tax payments being set too high 
and to withheld capital gains tax. 

2014 2013

eur ’000 acquisition 
costs

amortisation carrying 
amounts

acquisition 
costs

amortisation carrying 
amounts

balance as at 
1 January 5,814 0 5,814 0 0 0

Additions 4,667 0 4,667 5,814 0 5,814

Disposals –5,267 0 –5,267 0 0 0

Exchange rate  
differences 67 0 67 0 0 0

balance as at  
31 december 5,281 0 5,281 5,814 0 5,814
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4.3 inVentories

A breakdown of inventories is shown below:

4.4  current receiVables anD other current assets

A breakdown of receivables and other current assets is shown below:

eur ’000 31.12.2014 31.12.2013

Real estate intended for sale 90,908 216,216

Real estate in the development phase 107,786 92,987

198,694 309,203

Assets held for sale in the ordinary course of business are posted under Inventories. 

As at 31 December 2014, two properties were in the development phase. In 2014 inventories with a total  
carrying amount of TEUR 147,307 (previous year: TEUR 68,844) were sold.
 
During the period under review directly assignable borrowing costs of TEUR 423 (previous year: TEUR 1,235) 
were capitalised. 

The carrying amounts of inventories which are pledged as security totalled TEUR 98,226 (previous year: TEUR 
280,670).

Realisation of inventories amounting to TEUR 59,376 is expected to last longer than twelve months.

rent receivables

eur ’000 2014 2013

rent receivables 369 628

Of which < 90 days 198 308

Of which > 90 days 171 320

receivables and other current assets

eur ’000 31.12.2014 31.12.2013

Trade receivables 28,379 18,339

Other current assets 56,395 63,923

84,774 82,262

The carrying amount of the receivables and other current assets corresponds to their fair value.

As at the balance sheet date, the following receivables were overdue, but not impaired: 

Rent receivables of TEUR 369 (previous year: TEUR 628) are secured through rental deposits.
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Trade receivables are in principle impaired via a value adjustment account.

Receivables and other current assets have a residual term of less than one year.

4.5 banK balances anD cash

The item “bank balances and cash” comprises cash and short-term cash deposits held by the Group. The  
carrying amount of these assets corresponds to their fair value.

Of the bank balances, an amount of TEUR 1,400 is pledged as security (previous year: TEUR 1,400). A break-
down is shown below:

An amount of TEUR 1,000 is pledged in favour of R+V Versicherung as collateral for a guarantee credit. This 
pledge is security for a payment guarantee that was issued by R+V Versicherung for the general contractor in the 
“Wasserturm, Sternschanze” project. Because arbitration proceedings are pending with the general contractor, 
it is not possible to make a definitive assessment regarding the return of the guarantee or thus judge how much 
longer the assets will be pledged as security. 

A total of TEUR 300 was pledged to Zurich Versicherung as security for a guarantee in a total amount of TEUR 
1,514. This guarantee was used towards a guarantee facility for a nominal amount of TEUR 5,000 with Zurich  
Versicherung, which can also be used for various guarantees by PATRIZIA and for which no cash deposit is  
required.

In the previous year, there were also purchase price payment accounts of TEUR 21,704, which were earmarked 
pursuant to Article 6 of the Makler- und Bauträgerverordnung (MaBV ‒ Brokers and Building Developers  
Ordinance).

changes in the value adJustment account for receivables

eur ’000 2014 2013

balance as at 1 January 2,739 3,738

Additions 497 6

Outflows due to derecognitions –373 –597

Outflows due to payments received –65 –408

balance as at 31 december 2,798 2,739

Trade receivables of TEUR 31,177 (previous year: TEUR 21,078) were decreased by specific value adjustments 
of TEUR 2,798 (previous year: TEUR 2,739) to a carrying amount of TEUR 28,379 (previous year: TEUR 18,339). 
These mainly relate to receivables from services (purchase fees, performance fees, management remuneration, 
leasing commission and asset management fees).

The other current assets were mainly influenced by a reduction of TEUR 25,482 in purchase price receivables 
and a rise of TEUR 14,163 in receivables from companies in which participations are held.
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5 notes to the consoliDateD balance sheet – liabilities

5.1 equity

For the development of equity, please see the statement of changes in equity.

5.1.1 share capital

Following the issue of bonus shares, the Company’s share capital at the reporting date totalled EUR 69,385,030 
(previous year: EUR 63,077,300) and was divided into 69,385,030 (previous year: 63,077,300) registered no-par 
value shares. 

The Managing Board was further authorised, by resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 20 June 2012, to 
increase the share capital on one or more occasions with the consent of the Supervisory Board by up to a total 
of EUR 14,335,750 in exchange for cash contributions and/or contributions in kind by issuing new, registered 
no-par value shares by 19 June 2017 (Authorised Capital 2012).

At the same time the Company’s share capital was conditionally increased, through a resolution of the Annual 
General Meeting, by up to EUR 14,335,750.00 through the issue of 14,335,750 new, registered no-par value 
shares with a pro-rata share in the share capital of EUR 1.00 (Contingent Capital 2012). As a result of the 2013 
and 2014 capital increases from company funds, the 2012 contingent capital was conditionally increased by law, 
in accordance with Article 218 sentence 1 AktG, in the same ratio as the share capital to EUR 17,346,257.50 
through the issue of 17,346,257.50 new, registered no-par values shares. The conditional capital increase shall 
be used to grant rights to the holders or creditors of convertible bonds and bonds with warrants and/or profit 
participation rights with conversion or option rights and/or a conversion obligation that are issued, on the basis 
of the resolution by the General Meeting held on 20 June 2012, until 19 June 2017 by the Company or by  
companies in which the Company holds a direct or indirect majority interest.

First Capital Partner GmbH is a shareholder of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG with 35,813,177 no-par value  
shares (previous year: 32,557,435 no-par value shares), which equates to a 51.62% shareholding (previous  
year: 51.62%).

5.1.2 capital reserves

The share premiums collected for the issue of new shares that occurred in the past as part of the Company’s 
capital increase are posted on an unchanged basis in the capital reserves. In connection with the issue of bonus 
shares in the 2014 fiscal year, the capital reserves fell by TEUR 6,321 (previous year: TEUR 5,747).

5.1.3 retained earnings

The legal reserve of TEUR 505 (previous year: TEUR 505) is posted under retained earnings.
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5.1.4 non-controlling partners

As part of the initial consolidation of F 40 GmbH, PATRIZIA KinderHaus Foundation was allocated an amount of 
TEUR 878 corresponding to its share as a non-controlling partner. This amount is 5.1% of the market value of  
F 40 GmbH at the time of acquisition. In the year under review the company generated a result of TEUR –12,892, 
with earnings of TEUR –588 allocated to the non-controlling partner. The other shares of non-controlling partners 
are classed as insignificant by PATRIZIA.

5.2 banK loans

The residual terms of the bank loans are as follows:

Maturity by fiscal year (1 January to 31 December):

Bank loans are measured at amortised cost. They have variable interest rates. In this respect, the Group is 
exposed to an interest rate risk in terms of the cash flows. To limit this risk, the Group had concluded hedging 
transactions for the majority of the loans but the term of these hedging transactions was not extended beyond 
30 June 2014.

All loans are in euro. Where real estate is sold, financial liabilities are in principle redeemed through repayment of 
a specific share of the sale proceeds.

Accordingly, in the above table, the loan maturity dates existing on the balance sheet date are allocated in  
accordance with the contractually agreed terms of the loan agreements, without taking into account repayments 
from resales.

In the above table, loans whose terms end within the twelve months following the reporting date are posted as 
bank loans with a residual term of up to one year.

bank loans

eur ’000 31.12.2014 31.12.2013

Up to 1 year 33,699 284,857

More than 1 to 2 years 88,251 36,777

More than 2 to 5 years 0 0

More than 5 years 0 0

total 121,950 321,634

maturity

year amount of loans due as at 31.12.2014

eur ’000 in %

2015 33,699 27.6

2016 88,251 72.4

total 121,950 100
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Regardless of the terms shown above, loans which serve to finance inventories are in principle reported in the 
balance sheet as short-term bank loans (cf. 1. Principles Applied in Preparing the Consolidated Financial  
Statements). 

The Group’s own real estate serves as security for the bank loans. The bank loans secured by real estate liens 
amount to TEUR 121,950 (previous year: TEUR 321,634). In addition, financial liabilities are secured by assigning 
purchasing prices, and others are secured by assigning future rental payments.

5.3 DeFerreD tax liabilities

The main deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities and their development are set out below:

deferred tax assets/deferred tax liabilities

eur ’000 31.12.2014  
assets

31.12.2014 
liabilities 

31.12.2013  
assets

31.12.2013 
liabilities

Investment property 0 3,239 0 7,276

Inventories 0 1,232 0 1,232

Derivatives 0 0 446 0

Tax loss carryforwards 0 0 0 0

Intangible assets  
PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest  
Kapitalverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH 0 12,691 0 13,326

Securities  
PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest  
Kapitalverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH 0 0 0 0

Consolidation of debts 715 2,153 881 1,477

Other 696 1,800 1,774 2,723

1,411 21,115 3,101 26,034

Netting –1,411 –1,411 –3,101 –3,101

 0 19,704 0 22,933

Due to the lack of predictability regarding dissolution of the tax group, no deferred tax assets have been  
recognised for losses prior to fiscal unity of TEUR 447 (previous year: TEUR 447). The losses can be carried  
forward for an indefinite period.

In addition, on the balance sheet date, two companies (previous year: two companies) had corporation tax loss 
carryforwards of TEUR 20,939 (previous year: TEUR 26,984); no deferred tax assets were formed for these due 
to the lack of predictability concerning their usability for fiscal purposes.

Where possible, deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are in principle offset against one another, as the 
Group has an enforceable right to offset actual tax refund claims against actual tax liabilities and the deferred tax 
assets and liabilities relate to income tax that is levied by the same tax authority.

The temporary differences relating to participating interests in subsidiaries for which no deferred taxes were  
recognised amounted to TEUR 41,099 (previous year: TEUR 9,861).
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5.4 retirement beneFit obliGations

In principle, there are no defined-benefit pension schemes at the Group. This excludes plans which were assu-
med in the past in connection with acquisitions. As at the balance sheet date, a total of six people had a defined-
benefit commitment. Four of these people are retired persons who already receive ongoing pension payments. 
As at 31 December 2014, actuarial interest rates of 1.78% – 3.7% (previous year: 2.94% – 3.7%) and a projected 
pension increase of 2.0% (previous year: 2.0%) were used for the reference reports prepared in accordance with 
IAS 19. The projected unit credit method was used as the calculation method. The calculations were based on 
Prof. Klaus Heubeck’s biometric reference tables (probabilities of death and invalidity) (2005 G Reference  
Tables). As at 31 December 2014, the pension provision was recognised at TEUR 630 (previous year: TEUR 534). 
Due to the low level of the annual pension payments of TEUR 150 (previous year: TEUR 84) and therefore also 
the low value of the pension provision, the pension provision in the consolidated financial statements was not 
regarded as material. For this reason, there is no breakdown of the change to the pension provision. As at the 
balance sheet date, there were neither plan assets nor unrecognised actuarial losses and/or unrecognised past 
service costs. The interest cost is posted under staff costs.

In the current fiscal year, the employer’s contributions to pension insurance amounted to TEUR 3,138 (previous 
year: TEUR 2,726).

5.5 non-current liabilities

Non-current liabilities mainly comprise liabilities from bonded loans in an amount of TEUR 77,000 (previous year: 
TEUR 77,000) and the long-term components of the management participation model that is described in more 
detail in 9.2.

5.6 other ProVisions

The changes in other provisions are shown below:

other provisions 2014

eur ’000 01.01.2014 addition release use 31.12.2014

Other provisions 1,719 2,142 6 1,713 2,142

 1,719 2,142

other provisions 2013

eur ’000 01.01.2013 addition release use 31.12.2013

Other provisions 1,479 1,719 186 1,293 1,719

 1,479 1,719
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The other provisions chiefly consist of provisions for unused holiday entitlements, contributions to employee  
accident insurance and surcharges for not employing disabled persons.

With regard to other provisions, it is to be assumed that the outflow of funds will occur in the subsequent year.

5.7 current liabilities

A breakdown of current liabilities is shown below:

The current liabilities have a residual term of less than twelve months. Due to the short residual term, there are 
no major differences between the carrying amount and the fair value of the liabilities.

The advance payments relate to purchase price receipts from current real estate development measures.

Other liabilities mainly include liabilities for acquisition and production costs for sold properties arising after 
the balance sheet date, obligations under services purchased before the balance sheet date, interest arising on 
bonded loans, obligations in connection with variable salary components, performance-related commissions and 
sales commissions.

5.8 tax liabilities

The tax liabilities mainly concern subsequent taxation of the former EK 02 portfolios amounting to TEUR 1,687 
(previous year: TEUR 2,123), corporation tax and trade tax on profits of domestic subsidiaries amounting to  
TEUR 6,925 (previous year: TEUR 4,636), corporation tax of TEUR 626 (previous year: TEUR 1,040) on account of  
subsidiaries in Luxembourg that are subject to limited taxation in Germany, and also other taxes.

5.9 obJectiVes anD methoDs oF Financial risK manaGement

The Group’s financial assets chiefly comprise trade receivables, other assets and bank balances. The Group is 
exposed to a credit risk in these categories. The Group’s credit risk primarily results from trade receivables.  
Insofar as they are identifiable, these are decreased by specific value adjustments. For the trade receivables, 
where property is sold as a single asset, security exists in the form of a commercial right of retransfer for the sold 
real estate in the event of default by the customer. When individual apartments are sold, ownership is not  
transferred until the purchase price is received in full. Consequently, there is no credit risk here.

current liabilities

eur ’000 31.12.2014 31.12.2013

Trade payables 4,431 2,237

Advance payments 44,139 37,930

Other liabilities 43,936 35,592

92,506 75,759
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The bank balances are held at banks with strong credit ratings and are held with several different banks in order 
to diversify risks.

The main financial liabilities used by the Group comprise long-term and short-term bank loans and trade  
payables. The main objective of these financial liabilities is to finance the Group’s business activities.

Significant risks for the Group arising from the financial instruments include interest-related cash flow risks and 
liquidity and credit risks.

interest rate risk
The risk of fluctuations in the market interest rates to which the Group is exposed results primarily from financial 
liabilities with a variable interest rate.

overview of the interest rate risk
In principle, the PATRIZIA Group concludes only variable interest rate loans. The Group is therefore subject 
to an interest rate risk on financial liabilities. As a result of the ECB’s continuing low interest rate policy and 
PATRIZIA’s own assessments of the overall economic situation in Europe, financing does not currently include 
any interest rate hedging.

The Group measures the interest rate risk with the help of a cash flow sensitivity analysis with an assumed  
parallel shift in the interest curve of 100 basis points. Assuming a rise of 100 basis points in the interest rate, 
then as at 31 December 2014 and without taking taxes into account, this would have an effect of TEUR 1,220 
(previous year: TEUR 424) on the consolidated profit and TEUR 1,220 (previous year: TEUR 0) on consolidated 
equity.

credit risk
In principle, due to a wide and uncorrelated counterparty structure there is no concentration of risks within the 
group of companies.

With regard to the Group’s other financial assets such as cash and cash equivalents, and financial investments 
available for sale, the maximum credit risk in the event of default by the counterparty corresponds to the carrying 
amount of these instruments.

liquidity risk
The Group continually monitors the risk of a liquidity bottleneck using liquidity planning. This liquidity planning 
takes into account the terms of the financial liabilities and also expected cash flows from the operating activities.

The Group’s objective is to ensure cash requirements are met on an ongoing basis by using overdrafts and loans. 

The maturities of financial liabilities can be found in item 5.2 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial  
Statements.
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capital management
The Group monitors its capital with the help of a gearing ratio which corresponds to the ratio of net financial  
liabilities to the sum of modified equity and net financial liabilities. Net financial liabilities comprise interest- 
bearing loans, trade payables and other liabilities less cash and short-term deposits. Modified equity comprises 
the equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent company less unrecognised profit.

capital management

eur ’000 2014 2013

Interest-bearing loans 121,950 321,634

Trade payables and other liabilities 104,158 87,745

Less cash and short-term deposits –145,361 –105,536

net financial liabilities 80,747 303,843

Equity 410,048 374,481

Cash flow hedges valuation result 0 31

Currency translation difference –1,030 –500

total modified equity 409,018 374,012  

Modified equity and net financial liabilities 489,765 677,855

Gearing ratio 16% 45%

5.10 Financial assets anD liabilities

The carrying amounts of the financial assets fall in the individual categories as follows: 

financial assets 

eur ’000 31.12.2014 31.12.2013 

Loans and receivables 235,736 201,644

Available-for-sale financial assets 96,555 80,083

carrying amounts of the financial liabilities 

eur ’000 2014 2013

Financial liabilities which are measured at fair value  
through profit or loss and are held for trading 
in accordance with IAS 39 0 2,819

Financial liabilities which are measured at amortised cost 130,211 327,714

Derivative financial instruments which are designated  
as hedging instruments and are effective as such 0 0

The carrying amounts of the financial liabilities fall in the individual categories as follows: 
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The following net profit (+) or loss (-) was attributed to each category: 
 

Net profit and loss from financial instruments that are recognised at fair value through profit or loss include  
interest income/expense.

6  notes to the consoliDateD income statement

The income statement is prepared in line with the nature of expense method.

6.1 reVenues

 Please refer to the statements on segment reporting.

Revenues include rental income from investment property of TEUR 13,451 (previous year: TEUR 23,271).

6.2 chanGes in inVentories

The impact on the balance sheet of the purchase, sale and renovation of property intended for sale is recognised 
through profit or loss under changes in inventories and is corrected accordingly in cost of materials. Consequent-
ly, the acquisition of property intended for sale leads to an increase in inventories and the sale of the correspon-
ding property leads to a reduction in inventories.

6.3 other oPeratinG income

Other operating income primarily includes income from cancelled obligations in the amount of TEUR 1,763  
(previous year: TEUR 1,478), income from payments in kind of TEUR 1,125 (previous year: TEUR 911), income 
from insurance compensation in an amount of TEUR 1,074 (previous year: TEUR 336), income from liability  
compensation in the amount of TEUR 548 (previous year: TEUR 20), income from costs charged on of TEUR 490 
(previous year: TEUR 243), the settlement of transaction fees in an amount of TEUR 200 (previous year: TEUR 
627), income from the reduction in specific value adjustments in the amount of TEUR 136 (previous year: TEUR 
1,153) and income from the recognition of differences from company acquisitions in an amount of TEUR 0  
(previous year: TEUR 933). 

net profit/loss by category

eur ’000 2014 2013

Loans and receivables +1,595 +995

Available-for-sale financial assets +39,062 +32,128

Financial liabilities which are measured at fair value through  
profit or loss and are held for trading in accordance with IAS 39  
(interest expenses) –2,822 –19,771

Financial liabilities which are measured at amortised cost –4,459 –8,104

Financial liabilities which are measured at fair value through  
profit or loss and are held for trading in accordance with IAS 39  
(change in value) +0 +19,525

Derivative financial instruments which are designated as hedging  
instruments and are effective as such 

– included in consolidated profit +0 +0
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6.4 cost oF materials

Cost of materials includes the direct costs incurred in conjunction with service performance and comprises 
real estate development costs of TEUR 29,901 (previous year: TEUR 21,351), renovation costs of TEUR 11,819 
(previous year: TEUR 20,218), ancillary costs of TEUR 10,382 (previous year: TEUR 14,457) and maintenance 
expenses of TEUR 2,353 (previous year: TEUR 2,289).

6.5 cost oF PurchaseD serVices

For the period under review we are reporting the item “cost of purchased services” for the first time. These  
expense items were previously reported under other operating expenses. Reporting these separately shows the 
extent to which orders of relevance for revenues have been placed with external companies. For PATRIZIA, this 
concerns in particular the expenses for the label funds of PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest, for which PATRIZIA acts as 
a service investment management company. The new approach also applies retroactively for previous years’  
financial statements, which have been adjusted accordingly.

6.6 staFF costs

A breakdown of staff costs is shown below:

staff costs

eur ’000 2014 2013

Wages and salaries 69,003 59,119

Social insurance contributions 8,236 6,614

77,239 65,733

other operating expenses 

eur ’000 2014 2013 

Operating expenses 12,994 11,507

Administrative expenses 16,039 15,558

Selling expenses 8,982 8,324

Other expenses 12,178 9,483

50,193 44,872

6.7 other oPeratinG exPenses

A breakdown of other operating expenses is shown below:
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6.8 amortisation

Scheduled amortisation of software and equipment amounted to TEUR 4,430 (previous year: TEUR 3,521). 

This item also shows amortisation of the hidden reserves allocated to the fund management contracts and licen-
ces within the context of the acquisition of PATRIZIA GerwerbeInvest Kapitalverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH and 
the acquisition of PATRIZIA UK Ltd. Scheduled amortisation amounts to TEUR 2,510 per annum (previous year: 
TEUR 2,452). An annual impairment test resulted in an impairment of TEUR 0 (previous year: TEUR 135).

6.9 income From ParticiPations

The income from participations of TEUR 39,062 (previous year: TEUR 32,122) results from the investments GBW, 
SÜDEWO and Seneca. Of this, an amount of TEUR 17,073 (previous year: TEUR 13,158) relates to the perfor-
mance-related allocation of profits. The income from participations was again recognised in the same accounting 
period for the 2014 fiscal year.

6.10 Financial result

financial result

eur ’000 2014 2013

Interest on bank deposits 459 326

Income from securities 0 0

Changes in the value of derivatives 2,819 19,525

Other interest 1,135 669

financial income 4,413 20,520

Interest on revolving lines of credit and bank loans –4,459 –8,104

Interest-rate hedging expense –2,822 –19,771

Changes in the value of derivatives 0 0

Release of other result from cash flow hedging –31 –433

Other finance costs –4,600 –4,116

financial expenses –11,912 –32,424

financial result –7,499 –11,904

Interest income of TEUR 1,135 (previous year: TEUR 669), which was recognised at the effective interest rate, is 
attributable to loans and receivables. There were no pure measurement effects for instruments of this category. 

 The amount of the impairment on receivables can be seen under section 4.4.

Currency translation differences of TEUR 551 (previous year: TEUR –26) were recognised through profit or loss in 
the fiscal year.
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6.11 income tax

A breakdown of income taxes is shown below: 

The deferred taxes in the income statement chiefly result from the discontinuation of interest rate hedging instru-
ments, from the investment property and also from the elimination of intra-Group results.

reconciliation statement
The tax reconciliation statement describes the relationship between effective tax expenses and expected tax  
expenses based on the IFRS consolidated net profit/loss for the year before income taxes by applying the  
income tax rate of 30.825% (previous year 30.825%). The income tax rate consists of 15% corporation tax, and 
on this a 5.5% solidarity surcharge, as well as 15% trade tax:

6.12 earninGs Per share

income tax

eur ’000 2014 2013 

Actual taxes –10,218 –3,180

Deferred taxes 3,240 749

–6,978 –2,431

earnings per share

eur ’000 2014 2013

Profit share of Group shareholders 35,608,093 37,326,087

Number of shares issued 69,385,030 63,077,300

Weighted number of shares 69,385,030 69,385,030

earnings per share (undiluted) 0.51 eur 0.54 eur

reconciliation statement

eur ’000 2014 2013

IFRS consolidated profit/loss for the period before income tax 41,998 39,599

Income tax expenses expected on the above –12,946 –12,206

Tax additions and deductions –2,971 4,322

Differences in tax rates of international companies 642 9

Unrecognised deferred tax assets on losses –3,974 –961

Use of non-capitalised loss carryforwards 2,987 3,015

Trade tax effects from income subject to limited taxation 2,311 1,447

Effects outside the period 7851 2,302

Other 246 –359

effective tax expense –6,978 –2,431

1 This includes special effects with the conclusion of the tax audit 2007–2010.
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There were no diluted earnings per share in the reporting year or in the previous year. In application of IAS 33.64, 
the weighted number of shares for the previous year (63,077,300) was replaced by the weighted number of  
shares in 2014 (69,385,030).

The Managing Board was authorised, by resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 20 June 2012, to increase 
the share capital on one or more occasions with the consent of the Supervisory Board by up to a total of EUR 
14,335,750 in exchange for cash contributions and/or contributions in kind by issuing new, registered no-par 
value shares by 19 June 2017 (Authorised Capital 2012).

7 seGment rePortinG

Segment reporting categorises the business segments according to whether PATRIZIA acts as investor or ser-
vice provider. In line with the Group’s reporting for management purposes and in accordance with the definition  
contained in IFRS 8 “Operating segments”, two segments have been identified based on functional criteria:  
investments and management services. Besides functional criteria, the operating segments are also  
delimited by geographical criteria. Country assignment is effected according to the location of the real estate 
asset being managed. International subsidiaries continue to be reported as a total for the time being owing to the 
still low contribution made by the individual national companies to revenues and results. 

In addition, PATRIZIA Immobilien AG (corporate administration) including the management of international sub-
sidiaries is reported under corporate. Corporate does not constitute an operating segment with an obligation 
to report but is presented separately owing to its activity as an internal service provider and its transnational 
function. 

The elimination of intracompany revenues, interim results and the reversal of intracompany interest charges is 
performed via the consolidation column. The “Corporate” column thus consolidates all internal services  
between the Investments and Management Services segments and the Group within a country; it represents the 
external service provided by the Group in the region concerned. Transnational consolidation is performed in the 
Consolidation row. 

The investments segment primarily bundles portfolio management and the sale of own investments. As of the 
balance sheet date, the segment had a portfolio of around 1,100 (31 December 2013: around 4,100) residential 
units and two real estate developments that are listed as investment property and inventories. Clients include 
private and institutional investors that invest either in individual residential units or in real estate portfolios. It is 
planned to sell off the entire stock of own property as far as possible by the end of 2015. The results of all  
participating interests (excluding interim profits) from co-investments are also reported in this segment.

The management services segment covers a broad spectrum of real estate services, in particular analysis 
and consultancy during the purchase and sale of individual residential and commercial properties or portfolios  
(Acquisition and Sales), the management of real estate (Property Management), value-oriented management of 
real estate portfolios (Asset Management) as well as strategic consulting with regard to investment strategy,  
portfolio planning and allocation (Portfolio Management) and the execution of complex, non-standard invest-
ments (Alternative Investments). Special funds are also established and managed – including at a client’s  
individual request – via the Group’s two own investment management companies. Commission revenues gene-
rated by services, both from co-investments and from third parties, are reported in the Management Services 
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segment. These also include income from participating interests that are granted as interim profits for asset  
management of the two co-investments SÜDEWO and GBW.  

The range of services provided by the Management Services segment is being increasingly used by third parties 
as assets under management grow and PATRIZIA sells off more and more of its own portfolio.

The PATRIZIA Group’s internal control and reporting measures are primarily based on the principles of account-
ing under IFRS. The Group measures the success of its segments using segment earnings parameters, which for 
the purposes of internal control and reporting are referred to as EBT and operating EBT (operating result).

EBT, the measure of segment earnings, comprises the total of revenues, income from the sale of investment 
property, changes in inventories, cost of materials and staff costs, cost of purchased services, other operating 
income and expenses, changes in the value of investment property, amortisation, as well as earnings from  
investments (including investments valued at equity) and the financial result and gains/losses from currency 
translation. 

Certain adjustments are made in the course of determining operating EBT (operating result). First, these involve 
non-cash effects such as amortisation on other intangible assets (fund management contracts) transferred in 
the course of the acquisition of PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest Kapitalverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH and PATRIZIA UK 
Limited, unrealised changes in the value of investment property and the results of the market valuation of the 
interest-rate hedging instruments. Second, income-related realised changes in the value of investment property 
are then added to this. 

Revenues arise between reportable segments. These intracompany services are invoiced at market prices. 

Due to the capital intensity of the segment, the assets and liabilities in the Investments segment account for well 
over 90% of the Group’s total assets and liabilities. For this reason, there is no breakdown of assets and liabilities 
by individual segments.

The individual segment figures are set out below. The reporting of amounts in EUR thousands can result in  
rounding differences. However, individual items are calculated on the basis of non-rounded figures.  
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2014 (1 January – 31 december 2014)

eur ’000 investments management 
services

corporate consolidation group

germany

external revenues 185,270 85,673 0 0 270,944

Revenues from single unit sales1 58,941 0 58,941

Revenues from block sales 96,248 0 96,248

Rental revenues 21,185 0 21,185

Revenues from services 0 85,673 85,673

Co-investments 20,834 20,834

Third parties 64,839 64,839

Other 8,896 0 8,896

intercompany revenues 339 17,945 0 –12,958 5,326

international2 

external revenues 0 20,325 0 0 20,325

Revenues from services 20,325 20,325

Co-investments 17,560 17,560

Third parties 2,765 2,765

intercompany revenues 0 10,705 0 0 10,705

corporate

external revenues 0 0 547 0 547

intercompany revenues 0 0 19,452 0 19,452

consolidation

external revenues 0 0 0 0 0

intercompany revenues 0 –14,536 0 –20,947 –35,483
group

external revenues 185,270 105,998 547 0 291,815

Revenues from single unit sales1 58,941 0 0 58,941

Revenues from block sales 96,248 0 0 96,248

Rental revenues 21,185 0 2 21,187

Revenues from services 0 105,998 287 106,285

Co-investments 38,394 73 38,467

Third parties 67,604 214 67,818

Other 8,896 0 258 9,154

intercompany revenues 339 14,114 19,452 –33,905 0

financial result –9,942 –640 3,090 0 –7,492

financial income

Germany 5,044 1,247 0 –641 5,650

International2 5,333 154 0 0 5,487

Corporate 0 0 8,779 0 8,779

Consolidation –4,897 –10 0 –10,595 –15,503

group 5,480 1,391 8,779 –11,237 4,413

financial expenses

Germany –19,502 –1,882 0 641 –20,743

International2 –817 –165 0 0 –982

Corporate 0 0 –5,689 0 –5,689

Consolidation 4,897 10 0 10,595 15,502

group –15,422 –2,038 –5,689 11,236 –11,912

1 Including new-build sales from real estate developments
2 France, Great Britain, Luxembourg, Netherlands, Nordics
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EUR ’000 Investments Management 
Services

Corporate Consolidation Group

EBT (IFRS)

Germany 9,958 44,404 0 680 55,042

International2 4,142 3,108 0 –2 7,248

Corporate 0 0 –19,878 0 –19,878

Consolidation 0 0 0 –414 –414

Group 14,100 47,512 –19,878 264 41,998

Adjustments

Germany 5,728 1,968 0 0 7,696

Significant non-operating earnings 2,838 –1,968 870

Market valuation income derivatives 2,819 0 2,819

Market valuation expenditures  
derivatives –31 0 –31

Changes in the value of investment 
property 51 0 51

Fund agreement amortisation  0 –1,968 –1,968

Realised fair value 8,566 0 8,566

International2 0 517 0 0 517

Significant non-operating earnings –517 –517

Fund agreement amortisation –517 –517

Group 5,728 2,485 0 0 8,213

Operating result (adjusted EBT)

Germany 15,686 46,372 0 680 62,737

International2 4,142 3,625 0 –3 7,764

Corporate 0 0 –19,878 0 –19,878

Consolidation 0 0 0 –414 –414

Group 19,828 49,997 –19,878 263 50,210

2 France, Great Britain, Luxembourg, Netherlands, Nordics

Notes to the IFRS Consolidated  
Financial Statements 
Segment Reporting
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2013 (1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER 2013)

EUR ’000 Investments Management 
Services

Corporate Consolidation Group

Germany

External revenues 122,496 89,057 0 0 211,553

Revenues from single unit sales 54,763 0 54,763

Revenues from block sales 25,491 0 25,491

Rental revenues 30,671 27 30,698

Revenues from services 0 89,030 89,030

Co-investments 36,379 36,379

Third parties 52,651 52,651

Other 11,571 0 11,571

Intercompany revenues 197 28,938 0 –29,135 0

International1 

External revenues 0 5,739 0 0 5,739

Revenues from services 5,739 5,739

Co-investments 2,785 2,785

Third parties 2,954 2,954

Intercompany revenues 0 2,988 0 –1,072 1,917

Corporate

External revenues 0 0 106 0 106

Intercompany revenues 0 0 13,316 0 13,316

Consolidation

External revenues 0 0 0 0 0

Intercompany revenues 0 –2,988 0 –12,245 –15,233
Group

External revenues 122,496 94,796 106 0 217,398

Revenues from single unit sales 54,763 0 0 54,763

Revenues from block sales 25,491 0 0 25,491

Rental revenues 30,671 27 2 30,699

Revenues from services 0 94,769 66 94,835

Co-investments 39,164 62 39,226

Third parties 55,605 4 55,609

Other 11,571 0 39 11,609

Intercompany revenues 197 28,938 13,316 –42,451 0

Financial Result –14,888 -567 3,544 6 –11,904

Financial income

Germany 24,842 1,377 0 0 26,219

International1 11,956 121 0 0 12,077

Corporate 0 0 7,730 0 7,730

Consolidation 0 0 0 –25,506 –25,506

Group 36,798 1,498 7,730 –25,506 20,520

Financial expenses

Germany –44,286 –1,978 0 0 –46,265

International1 –7,400 -86 0 0 –7,486

Corporate 0 0 –4,186 0 –4,186

Consolidation 0 0 0 25,512 25,512

Group –51,686 –2,065 –4,186 25,512 –32,424

1 France, Great Britain, Luxembourg, Nordics
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EUR ’000 Investments Management 
Services

Corporate Consolidation Group

EBT (IFRS)

Germany 14,014 43,498 0 735 58,247

International1 4,435 2,045 0 0 6,480

Corporate 0 0 –25,128 0 –25,128

Consolidation 0 0 0 0 0

Group 18,449 45,543 -25,128 735 39,599

Adjustments

Germany –4,047 2,186 0 0 –1,860

Significant non-operating earnings 19,110 –2,186 16,923

Market valuation income derivatives 19,525 0 19,525

Market valuation expenditures  
derivatives –433 0 –433

Changes in the value of investment 
property 17 0 17

Fund agreement amortisation  0 –2,186 –2,186

Realised fair value 15,063 0 15,063

International1 0 380 0 0 380

Significant non-operating earnings –380 –380

Fund agreement amortisation –380 –380

Group –4,047 2,566 0 0 –1,481

Operating result (adjusted EBT)

Germany 9,968 45,684 0 735 56,388

International1 4,435 2,424 0 0 6,859

Corporate 0 0 –25,128 0 –25,128

Consolidation 0 0 0 0 0

Group 14,403 48,109 –25,128 735 38,119

1 France, Great Britain, Luxembourg, Nordics

Notes to the IFRS Consolidated  
Financial Statements 
Segment Reporting
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8 notes to the consoliDateD cash Flow statement

The cash flow statement was prepared in line with the provisions of IAS 7.

In the cash flow statement, the payment flows are subdivided into cash flow from current operating activities, 
cash flow from investing activities and cash flow from financing activities. Effects of changes to the scope of con-
solidation are eliminated in the respective items. The cash flow from current operating activities was  
calculated using the indirect method. 

Cash and cash equivalents contain the short-term bank balances and cash posted in the balance sheet. Of the 
cash and cash equivalents, an amount of TEUR 1,400 (previous year: TEUR 1,400) is restricted in terms of  
availability.

Cash flow from investing activities contains financial investments and sales, especially in/of investment property, 
and also property, plant and equipment and investments in financial assets. 

Cash flow from financing activities includes cash outflows in connection with the payment of bonus shares of  
PATRIZIA Immobilien AG as well as loan receipts and redemptions to finance current and non-current assets.

As in the previous year, no cash dividend was distributed during the reporting year.

9 other notes

9.1 Post-emPloyment emPloyee beneFits

In principle, there are no defined-benefit pension schemes at the Group. This excludes plans which were  
assumed in the past in connection with acquisitions. As at the balance sheet date, a total of six people had a  
defined-benefit commitment. Four of these people are retired persons who already receive ongoing pension 
benefits. In addition, there are defined-benefit pension schemes for the Managing Board in the context of a 
company provident fund. In this respect, the Group makes set contributions to an independent entity (fund). This 
pension commitment involves a risk of subsidiary liability for the Group if the fund does not have sufficient assets 
to pay all benefits relating to work performed by the employees in the reporting period and earlier periods. The 
provident fund commitment is reinsured. The commitment was granted in 2003. In 2014, a total of TEUR 68.4 
(previous year: TEUR 55.9) was paid in contributions to the provident fund.

Most employees in the Group have compulsory state pension insurance and are thus covered by a state defined 
contribution scheme. Under this pension commitment, the Group is neither legally nor factually obliged to pay 
contributions over and above this. Contributions under defined contribution pension systems are paid in the year 
in which the employee provided the counterperformance for these contributions.

Since 1 January 2002, employees have had a statutory right to deferred compensation of up to 4% per annum 
of the contributions ceiling for state pension insurance. For this purpose, the Group has concluded a collective 
framework agreement with an external pension fund.
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9.2 manaGement ParticiPation moDel

PATRIZIA Immobilien AG’s management participation model focuses on the aspects of market conformity,  
performance and sustainability. The model was developed taking into account the requirements of the German 
Corporate Governance Code.

The fundamental requirement of PATRIZIA’s management participation model is a consistent target system that 
supports the corporate strategy. It is based on a long-term, multidimensional and neutral approach. The system 
sets members of the Managing Board and members of the First Line (FL) quantitative and qualitative company, 
business line and individual goals. In principle, the degree to which quantitative goals are achieved is based on 
projected figures derived from the company’s planning. Key objectives include in particular consolidated profit 
before taxes of the past fiscal year without taking changes in the market value of investment property and of  
interest hedging instruments into account and without taking amortisation of intangible assets (fund manage-
ment contracts arising on the acquisition of PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest Kapitalverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH and of  
PATRIZIA UK Ltd.) into account and taking into account realised increases in fair value. This adjusted pre-tax  
result is reported in PATRIZIA’s financial reports as operating result. Other target criteria include the Group  
return on equity and also share price performance in relation to reference indices.

At business line level, the basic structure of PATRIZIA’s provision of services is mapped in the form of value  
contributions to processes and of performance interdependencies among the parties involved in processes. 
Members of the Managing Board and members of the FL involved in the provision of services or in qualitative 
projects are set common targets.

At individual level, the quantitative results or qualitative project results for which the members of the Managing 
Board and members of the FL hold individual responsibility are taken into account.

The degree to which the individual goals are achieved determines the amount of the variable portion of remune-
ration. A cap is placed on achievable variable compensation components. If the Group achieves less than two-
thirds of the aforementioned forecast operating result, the members of the Managing Board and the members of 
the FL lose the entire variable portion of remuneration.

The variable portion of remuneration is divided into a long-term and a short-term incentive component. The 
short-term incentive is paid directly after it has been established that the targets have been achieved. The long-
term incentive is a salary commitment with a virtual link to the PATRIZIA share price. It is not paid until two to 
three years after confirmation that the targets have been achieved.

Within this vesting period, the cash commitment is tied to allocation conditions. These regulate the consequen-
ces regarding allocation of the long-term incentive to the respective individual Managing Board member or  
manager of a Group company should they leave the Group.

For 2014, a long-term incentive of TEUR 1,608 (previous year: TEUR 1,481) was taken into account for the first 
and second management level. This corresponds to the liability posted, based on a target achievement rate of 
130% (previous year: 130%). The final calculation cannot be made until all data required for the calculation is 
known; this data will not be known until after the consolidated financial statements have been approved. This 
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monetary amount is converted into performance share units at the average Xetra price 30 days prior to and after 
31 December of the fiscal year in question. The cash price equivalent of the shares calculated from this is paid 
out at the average Xetra price 30 days prior to and after 31 December of the second/third year (vesting period).

Based on the average share price of the PATRIZIA share 30 days before and after 31 December 2014, the 
average price is EUR 13.12425. This corresponds to 122,484 shares. In the reporting period expenses of TEUR 
4,432 (previous year: TEUR 2,794) arose for share-based compensation. 

Fair value is as follows:

performance share units

01.01. – 
31.12.2014 

01.01. – 
31.12.2013

Outstanding at the start of the reporting period 661,884 595,047

Granted in the reporting period 145,805 257,403

Correction on account of specific settlement –9,092 12,422

Paid out in the reporting period 185,185 202,988

outstanding at the end of the reporting period 613,412 661,884

components with long-term incentive effect

number of 
performence  

share units 
2014

fair values 
31.12.2014 

eur ’000

number of  
performance 

share units 
2013

fair values 
31.12.2013 

eur ’000

paid out in
eur ’000

Tranche of performance 
share units in the 2014 
fiscal year1 122,484 1,608 – – –

Tranche of performance 
share units in the 2013 
fiscal year 199,282 2,615 190,258 1,481 0

Tranche of performance 
share units in the 2012 
fiscal year 200,551 2,632 195,347 1,521 0

Tranche of performance 
share units in the 2011 
fiscal year 91,094 1,196 276,279 2,151 1,442

total 613,412 8,051 661,884 5,153 1,442

1 Corresponds to the liability posted for 130% target achievement. Final calculation of this variable compensation and payment to the individual beneficiaries becomes 
possible when all data required to determine it is known. This will not be until after the 2014 consolidated financial statements have been approved.

The performance share units as of the balance sheet date are as follows (number):
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9.3 transactions with relateD comPanies anD inDiViDuals

The individuals and companies related to the Company include the members of the Managing Board and Supervi-
sory Board as well as the directors of subsidiaries, in each case including their close relatives, as well as compa-
nies on which the Managing Board or Supervisory Board members or their close relatives can exert a significant 
influence or in which they hold a significant share of the voting rights. In addition, related companies include 
companies with which the Company forms an affiliated group or in which it holds a participating interest that 
enables it to exert significant influence on the business policy of the associated company, as well as the main 
shareholders of the Company including its affiliated companies.

PATRIZIA maintains the following business relationships with related parties: 

ownership of patriZia shares by members of the managing board and persons related to  
managing board members
As at the balance sheet date, Wolfgang Egger, CEO, holds a total stake of 51.62% in the Company via  
First Capital Partner GmbH, in which he directly and indirectly holds a 100% stake via WE Vermögensverwaltung 
GmbH & Co. KG.

Wolfgang Egger also has a 5.1% stake in Projekt Wasserturm Grundstücks GmbH & Co. KG. A further 45.9% is 
indirectly held by PATRIZIA Immobilien AG, and the remaining 49% is held by Ernest-Joachim Storr.

Klaus Schmitt, a member of the company’s Managing Board, holds a total stake of 0.15% in PATRIZIA Immobilien 
AG.

share ownership by members of the patriZia first line
In addition, Messrs Johannes Altmayr, Martin Büber-Monath, Marcus Cieleback, Markus Fischer, Jürgen Kolper, 
Günter Loder, Andreas Menke and James Muir hold a total of 0.1% in PATRIZIA Immobilien AG as members of the 
PATRIZIA First Line.

contracts and business relationships between the managing board members directly and patriZia
PATRIZIA Immobilien AG and subsidiaries of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG provide various services for Mr Wolfgang 
Egger and for companies controlled indirectly or directly by Wolfgang Egger.

PATRIZIA Immobilien AG provided services via PATRIZIA Deutschland GmbH within the context of management 
activities. An amount of EUR 936.00 was invoiced for this in 2014. Property management services were also  
provided in an amount of EUR 1,400.00. All services provided satisfy customary market standards for comparati-
ve arms-length transactions.

rental agreements between managing board members and patriZia
Wolfgang Egger – as lessor – has concluded a rental agreement with the Company – as tenant – relating to the 
building, including parking spaces, which is used by the Company as its head office (Fuggerstrasse 18–24 and 
also Fuggerstrasse 26 in Augsburg) at a current monthly rent of TEUR 117 (previous year: TEUR 110).
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activities of managing board members outside patriZia
Chairman of the Managing Board Wolfgang Egger is a director of Wolfgang Egger Verwaltungs GmbH (general part-
ner of Wolfgang Egger GmbH & Co. KG), as well as general partner of Friedrich-List Vermögensverwaltungs KG.

consultancy agreement with the law firm seitz, weckbach, fackler
There is a consultancy relationship with the law firm Seitz, Weckbach, Fackler of Augsburg, under which the 
Company is advised on competition and employment law. A partner in this law firm, Dr. Theodor Seitz, is also 
Chairman of the Company’s Supervisory Board. In 2014 consultancy costs of TEUR 0.0 (previous year: TEUR 0.5) 
were incurred at the law firm Seitz, Weckbach, Fackler. 

9.4 suPerVisory boarD anD manaGinG boarD

members of the managing board of the parent company
The following are members of the Managing Board:

l Wolfgang Egger, businessman, Chief Executive Officer
l Arwed Fischer, business studies graduate (univ.), Chief Financial Officer
l Klaus Schmitt, Ass. Jur., Chief Operating Officer

The following payments were granted to the members of the Managing Board for the respective fiscal year:

Payments granted
EUR ’000

wolfgang egger, ceo arwed fischer, cfo klaus schmitt, coo

Joined: 21.08.2002
Appointed until: 30.06.2016

Joined: 01.03.2008
Appointed until: 29.02.2016

Joined: 01.01.2006
Appointed until: 31.12.2015

2013 2014 2014
(min)

2014
(max)

2013 2014 2014
(min)

2014
(max)

2013 2014 2014
(min)

2014
(max)

Fixed  

compensation 360 360 360 360 350 360 360 360 360 360 360 360

Fringe benefits 221 271 271 271 321 331 331 331 121 121 121 121

total 382 387 387 387 382 393 393 393 372 372 372 372

One-year variable 
compensation 4372 4683 0 5404 4112 4163 0 4804 3892 4683 0 5404

Multi-year variable 
compensation

Performance share 
units tranche 
2015-2017 – 2343 – – 2083 – – 2343 –

Performance share 
units tranche 
2014–2016 – – – 2062 – – 1942 – –

Performance share 
units tranche 
2014-2016 2192 – – – – – – – –

total 1,038 1,089 999 1,017 955 1,074

Pension expenses 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 24 24 24 24

total  
compensation 1,050 1,101 1,011 1,029 979 1,098

1 The item primarily includes non-cash benefits arising from the provision of company cars and insurance premiums.
² Granted in the 2014 calendar year for the fiscal year 2013 once all criteria required for determining the variable compensation were known.
3 Corresponds to the liability posted for 130% monetary target achievement (the exact amount will be specified during the subsequent settlement process) 
4 Corresponds to the maximum achievable variable compensation of 150%
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The following payments were made to the members of the Managing Board in the respective fiscal year: 

wolfgang egger, ceo arwed fischer, cfo klaus schmitt, coo

Amount paid 
EUR ’000

Joined: 21.08.2002
Appointed until: 30.06.2016

Joined: 01.03.2008
Appointed until: 29.02.2016

Joined: 01.01.2006
Appointed until: 31.12.2015

2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014

Fixed compensation 360 360 350 360 360 360

Fringe benefits 221 271 321 331 121 121

total 382 387 382 393 372 372

One-year variable  
compensation 306 437 249 411 290 389

Multi-year variable  
compensation

Performance share units 
tranche 2012-2013 – 2772 – – – –

Performance share units 
tranche 2011-2012 1963 – 1483 – 1543 –

total 884 1,101 779 804 816 761

Pension expenses 12 12 12 12 24 24

total compensation 896 1,113 791 816 840 785

1 The item primarily includes non-cash benefits arising from the provision of company cars and insurance premiums.
² Amount paid out in 2014 after conversion of the performance share units tranche 2012-2013 at the average price of EUR 7.784692.
³ Amount paid out in 2013 after conversion of the performance share units tranche 2011-2012 at the average price of EUR 6.255211.
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members of the supervisory board of the parent company
The following are members of the Supervisory Board:

l Dr. Theodor Seitz, Chairman, tax consultant and lawyer, Augsburg
l Harald Boberg, representative of Bankhaus Lampe KG, (Düsseldorf), Hamburg
l Manfred J. Gottschaller, director of Bayerische Handelsbank AG, Munich, retired

In the fiscal year, the Supervisory Board received fixed compensation of TEUR 100 (previous year: TEUR 100); 
details can be found in the following table:

Use of our office buildings is based on operating lease agreements. This also reduces capital tie-up and leaves 
the investment risk with the lessor. The leasing agreement for the office building in Augsburg still has a residual 
term of six years and results in an annual leasing expense of TEUR 1,408. Rental agreements have also been 
concluded for offices in other locations; they have remaining terms of between three months and nine years. The 
resulting obligations amount to TEUR 2,632 for 2015, TEUR 2,183 for 2016 and TEUR 1,607 for 2017. The  
remaining obligations related to lease agreements for office, IT and business equipment and for company cars.

9.5 other Financial obliGations anD continGent liabilities

The obligations arising from existing maintenance and leasing agreements amount to:

obligations arising from existing maintenance and leasing agreements

eur ’000

2015 6,228

2016–2019 12,169

2020 and later 1,555

19,952

eur fixed compensation

2014 2013

Dr. Theodor Seitz, Chairman 40,000 40,000

Harald Boberg 30,000 30,000

Manfred J. Gottschaller 30,000 30,000

total 100,000 100,000
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9.6 emPloyees

The average headcount at the Group in 2014 (excluding members of the Managing Board and trainees) was 702 
(previous year 608). In addition, the Group employed 40 trainees (previous year: 39).

9.7 auDitor’s Fees

The expenses for the auditor recorded for the 2014 fiscal year amounted to TEUR 313 (previous year: TEUR 402) 
for the auditing of the financial statements, to TEUR 2 (previous year: TEUR 32) for other audit services and to 
TEUR 0 (previous year: TEUR 180) for tax consultancy services.

9.8 German corPorate GoVernance coDe

In December 2014 the Managing Board and Supervisory Board issued a declaration of conformity in accordance 
with Article 161 of the Aktiengesetz (AktG – German Stock Corporation Act) and published it on the Company’s 
website (www.patrizia.ag). 

10 statement oF the manaGinG boarD

The Managing Board of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG is responsible for the preparation, completeness and accuracy 
of the consolidated financial statements and of the combined Management Report for the Company and the 
Group.

The Managing Board released these financial statements for forwarding to the Supervisory Board on 12 March 
2015. The Supervisory Board is tasked with auditing the consolidated financial statements and announcing if it 
approves the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared in line with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS).

The combined Management Report for the Company and the Group contains analyses relating to the net asset, 
financial and earnings situation of the Group as well as other explanations as required by Article 315 of the Han-
delsgesetzbuch (HGB – German Commercial Code).

Augsburg, 12 March 2015

wolfgang egger arwed fischer klaus schmitt
CEO CFO COO
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1 As a result of the existing control and profit transfer agreements, the results are adopted by PATRIZIA Immobilien AG
2 Amounts from 2013
3 The holding changed by 0.1% compared with the previous year
4 The holding changed by 1.01% compared with the previous year
5 Provisional financial statements

PATRIZIA Immobilien AG participates directly in the following companies:

List of sharehoLdings

Appendix to the Notes to the  
Consolidated Financial Statements

Name Head office Holding
in %

Equity
in EUR

Net profit/loss  
for the last
fiscal year

in EUR

PATRIZIA Deutschland GmbH1 Augsburg 100 2,058,192.85 0.00

Deutsche Wohnungsprivatisierungs GmbH1 Augsburg 100 13,145.51 0.00

PATRIZIA Projekt 100 GmbH1 Augsburg 100 25,000.00 0.00

PATRIZIA Projekt 110 GmbH1 Augsburg 100 25,000.00 0.00

PATRIZIA Projekt 120 GmbH1 Augsburg 100 22,280.88 0.00

PATRIZIA Projekt 160 GmbH1 Augsburg 100 25,000.00 0.00

PATRIZIA Projekt 170 GmbH1 Augsburg 100 135,245,000.00 0.00

PATRIZIA Projekt 180 GmbH1 Augsburg 100 10,072,450.00 0.00

PATRIZIA WohnInvest Kapitalverwaltungsgesellschaft 
mbH formerly PATRIZIA WohnInvest Kapitalanlage-
gesellschaft mbH1 Augsburg 100 2,963,776.67 0.00

PATRIZIA Projekt 230 GmbH1 Augsburg 100 18,656.57 0.00

PATRIZIA Projekt 240 GmbH1 Augsburg 100 15,582.49 0.00

PATRIZIA Projekt 250 GmbH1 Augsburg 100 14,837.33 0.00

PATRIZIA Projekt 260 GmbH1 Augsburg 100 24,040.80 0.00

Wohnungsgesellschaft Olympia mbH Augsburg 100 100,599.39 –13,498.33

Stella Grundvermögen GmbH1 Augsburg 100 7,538,113.38 0.00

PATRIZIA Real Estate Corporate Finance GmbH Augsburg 100 6,709.49 –994.87

PATRIZIA Projekt 420 GmbH1 Augsburg 100 25,000.00 0.00

PATRIZIA Projekt 450 GmbH1 Augsburg 100 25,000.00 0.00

PATRIZIA Alternative Investments GmbH1 Augsburg 100 25,000.00 0.00

PATRIZIA Property Inc.
Wilmington, 

Delaware, USA 100 –14,379.152 –10,300.772

PATRIZIA Nordics A/S Copenhagen 100 2,429,875.02 1,809,432.68

PATRIZIA Projekt 700 GmbH Augsburg 100 25,100.90 –16,907.10

PATRIZIA Projekt 710 GmbH Augsburg 100 22,774.49 –12,823.33

Carl HR Verwaltungs GmbH Augsburg 100 29,910.43 2,136.17

Carl B-Immo Verwaltungs GmbH Augsburg 100 29,686.26 2,104.03

Carl A-Immo Verwaltungs GmbH Augsburg 100 29,910.43 2,104.67

Carl Carry Verwaltungs GmbH Frankfurt 100 29,908.42 2,104.36

Carl C-Immo Verwaltungs GmbH Augsburg 100 28,803.44 1,699.07

Carl HR AcquiCo GmbH Stuttgart 100 39,099.93 6,174.44

PATRIZIA Sweden AB Stockholm 100 333,499.37 119,597.94

Pearl AcquiCo Zwei GmbH und Co. KG Munich 1003 56,932,818.93 3,218,576.37

PATRIZIA Real Estate Investment Management S.à r.l. Luxembourg 100 1,842,648.26 1,232,800.00

PATRIZIA Ireland Ltd. Dublin 100 9,937.00 –63.00

PATRIZIA UK Ltd. Swindon 100 –2,074,701.93 2,004,640.02

PATRIZIA Institutional Clients & Advisory GmbH1 Augsburg 100 25,000.00 0.00

PATRIZIA Finland OY Helsinki 100 –56,962.67 –59,509.73

PATRIZIA Netherlands B.V. Amsterdam 100 2,369,088.17 2,369,087.17

PATRIZIA GrundInvest GmbH Augsburg 100 2,925,874.21 –74,125.79

PATRIZIA France S.A.S. Paris 100 –1,256,850.39 –1,568,143.33

PATRIZIA WohnModul I SICAV-FIS Luxembourg 10.14 710,123,208.475 8,465,968.505
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Notes to the IFRS Consolidated  
Financial Statements
Appendix to the Notes to the Consolidated  
Financial Statements

1 As a result of the existing control and profit transfer agreement, the result is adopted by the stockholder PATRIZIA Projekt 600 GmbH.
2 As a result of the existing control and profit transfer agreement, the result is adopted by the stockholder PATRIZIA Projekt 180 GmbH.

1 As a result of the existing control and profit transfer agreement, the result is adopted by the stockholder PATRIZIA Projekt 180 GmbH.

PATRIZIA Immobilien AG participates indirectly in the following companies:

Immobilien AG participates indirectly and directly in the following companies:

PATRIZIA Vermögensverwaltungs GmbH1 Augsburg 100 687,583.35 0.00

name head office holding
in %

equity
in eur

net profit/loss  
for the last  
fiscal year

in eur

PATRIZIA European Real Estate Management GmbH Gräfelfing 100 –618,999.12 –643,999.12

Projekt Wasserturm Verwaltungs GmbH Augsburg 51 50,591.43 –909.31

Alte Haide Baugesellschaft mbH Augsburg 100 8,922,295.13 296,251.36

PATRIZIA Luxembourg S.à r.l. Luxembourg 100 151,091,794.28 9,035,412.89

PATRIZIA Lux 10 S.à r.l. Luxembourg 100 12,123,868.59 –13,529.06

PATRIZIA Lux 20 S.à r.l. Luxembourg 100 86,266,410.50 –8,979.45

PATRIZIA Lux 30 N S.à r.l. Luxembourg 100 76,338.98 –9,466.66

PATRIZIA Lux 50 S.à r.l. Luxembourg 100 30,283,559.18 –23,225.53

PATRIZIA Lux 60 S.à r.l. Luxembourg 100 5,525,207.77 –15,864.51

PATRIZIA Real Estate 10 S.à r.l. Luxembourg 100 16,493,192.04 2,043,062.31

PATRIZIA Real Estate 20 S.à r.l. Luxembourg 100 10,854,755.77 31,421,756.08

PATRIZIA Real Estate 50 S.à r.l. Luxembourg 100 –1,387,141.09 4,356,106.02

PATRIZIA Real Estate 60 S.à r.l. Luxembourg 100 608,360.51 –130,353.28

F40 GmbH Augsburg 94.9 –5,536,795.91 –12,892,188.98

PATRIZIA Projekt 380 GmbH Augsburg 100 –13,129.18 –18,929.51

Projekt Wasserturm Grundstücks GmbH & Co. KG Augsburg 45.9 –726,781.87 –10,170.70

Projekt Wasserturm Bau GmbH & Co. KG Augsburg 51 –2,582,556.37 –1,968,336.55

PATRIZIA Projekt 600 GmbH Augsburg 100 10,061,721.05 4,991,661.46

PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest Kapitalverwaltungsgesellschaft 
mbH formerly PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest Kapitalanlage-
gesellschaft mbH1 Hamburg 94.9 5,000,100.00 0.00

LB Invest GmbH Hamburg 100 42,778.60 –1,153.18

PATRIZIA Facility Management GmbH2 Augsburg 100 25,000.00 0.00

Projekt Feuerbachstraße Verwaltung GmbH Frankfurt 30 28,115.88 458.14

sono west Projektentwicklung GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 28.3 9,706,300.45 –545,753.90

PATRIZIA Fund Management A/S Copenhagen 100 224,242.17 114,017.44

PATRIZIA Investment Management S.C.S. Luxembourg 78.26 552,705.05 950,424.06

PATRIZIA Carry GmbH & Co. KG Munich 75 –29,199.64 –15,729.74

PATRIZIA Investment Management COOP S.A. Luxembourg 100 –19,621.06 –11,824.64

SENECA TopCo S.à r.l. Luxembourg 100 5,334,447.79 272,388.48

PATRIZIA Capital Partners Ltd. Swindon 100 –1,823,553.92 –1,097,169.52

PATRIZIA Asset Management Ltd. Edinburgh 100 5,359.44 –11,985.80

PATRIZIA Financial Services Ltd. Edinburgh 100 353,154.29 135,330.20

PATRIZIA Investment Management HoldCo S.à r.l. Luxembourg 100 7,949.75 –4,550.25

First Street TopCo 1 S.à r.l. Luxembourg 97.83 11,345.12 –1,154.90

First Street TopCo 2 S.à r.l. Luxembourg 97.83 11,345.12 –1,154.90

First Street A S.à r.l. Luxembourg 97.83 11,370.11 –1,129.91

First Street B S.à r.l. Luxembourg 97.83 11,370.11 –1,129.91

First Street C S.à r.l. Luxembourg 97.83 11,370.11 –1,129.91
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Responsibility Statement by the Legal  
Representatives of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG 

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the consolidated finan-
cial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Group, 
and the combined management report for the Company and the Group includes a fair review of the development 
and performance of the business and the position of the Group, together with a description of the principal  
opportunities and risks associated with the expected development of the Group.

wolfgang egger arwed fischer klaus schmitt
CEO CFO COO
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Auditor’s Certificate

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by PATRIZIA Immobilien AG, Augsburg – comprising 
the consolidated balance sheet, consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive in-
come, consolidated cash flow statement, consolidated statement of changes in equity, and consolidated notes – as 
well as the consolidated management report which is combined with the management report for the fiscal year from 
1 January to 31 December 2014. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and the consolidated  
management report in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the  
EU and the requirements of German commercial law additionally applicable as per Article 315a (1) of the German 
Commercial Code is the responsibility of the company›s Managing Board. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on these consolidated financial statements and the consolidated management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Article 317 of the German Com-
mercial Code and German generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Ins-
titut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (German Institute of Auditors). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net asset, financial and earnings situation in the 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework and in the con-
solidated management report are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the 
economic and legal environment of the Group and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into account 
in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting related internal control system and the 
evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the consolidated management re-
port are examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual 
financial statements of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements, the determination of the 
scope of consolidation, the accounting and consolidation principles used and the significant estimates made by the 
Managing Board, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements and the con-
solidated management report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG, 
Augsburg, comply with the IFRS as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German commercial law 
as per Article 315a (1) of the German Commercial Code and give a true and fair view of the net asset, financial and 
earnings situation of the Group in accordance with these requirements. The consolidated management report is con-
sistent with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and 
suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future development.

Munich, 12 March 2015

Deloitte & Touche GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

löffler stadter
German Public Auditor German Public Auditor

Notes to the IFRS Consolidated  
Financial Statements
Responsibility Statement
Auditor’s Certificate



160 Annual Report 2014

162

164

165
166

Back over

Further Information

Five-Year Overview  
Consolidated Balance Sheet
Five-Year Overview  
Consolidated Income Statement
Supervisory Board
Managing Board
Financial Calendar and Contact



Further
Information



162 Annual Report 2014

ASSETS

EUR ’000 31.12.2014 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

A. Non-current assets

Goodwill 610 610 610 610 0

Other intangible assets 39,407 41,904 43,259 45,227 0

Software 10,795 8,698 7,553 5,280 2,811

Investment property 78,507 229,717 374,104 532,321 614,945

Equipment 4,476 4,765 3,479 2,762 1,893

Investments in joint ventures 0 0 0 18 8

Participations in associated companies 68,497 18,295 15,810 6,809 0

Participations 96,555 80,074 18,407 3,134 3,090

Loans 5,281 5,814 0 0 0

Long-term tax assets 119 159 201 846 281

Total non-current assets 304,247 390,036 463,423 597,007 623,028

B. Current assets

Inventories 198,694 309,203 345,920 407,529 510,438

Securities 86 96 60 1,634 0

Short-term tax assets 8,014 5,582 5,380 4,279 263

Current receivables and  
other current assets 84,774 82,262 98,635 60,007 10,282

Bank balances and cash 145,361 105,536 38,135 31,828 70,537

Total current assets 436,929 502,679 488,130 505,277 591,520

ToTAl ASSETS 741,176 892,715 951,553 1,102,284 1,214,548

Consolidated Balance Sheet
FIVE-YEAR oVERVIEW IN ACCoRDANCE WITH IFRS
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Five-Year Overview  
Consolidated Balance Sheet

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

EUR ’000 31.12.2014 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

A. Equity

Share capital 69,385 63,077 57,343 52,130 52,130

Capital reserve 198,576 204,897 210,644 215,862 215,862

Retained earnings

Legal reserves 505 505 505 505 505

Non-controlling shareholders 809 1,398 1,556 1,563 832

Valuation results from cash flow hedges 0 –31 –469 –1,331 –2,372

Currency translation difference 1,030 500 0 0 0

Consolidated unappropriated profit 139,743 104,135 66,808 41,346 27,775

Total equity 410,048 374,481 336,387 310,075 294,732

B. Liabilities

NON-CuRReNt LiaBiLitieS

Deferred tax liabilities 19,704 22,933 23,242 26,314 9,701

Long-term financial derivatives 0 0 16,363 33,470 39,715

Retirement benefit obligations 630 534 388 371 368

Long-term bank loans 0 0 302,004 417,685 0

Non-current liabilities 82,544 80,849 3,417 2,410 1,202

Total non-current liabilities 102,878 104,316 345,414 480,250 50,986

CuRReNt LiaBiLitieS

Short-term bank loans 121,950 321,634 219,050 275,667 841,380

Short-term financial derivatives 0 2,819 6,069 233 363

Other provisions 2,142 1,719 1,479 1,092 666

Current liabilities 92,506 75,759 28,750 22,644 17,008

tax liabilities 11,652 11,987 14,404 12,323 9,413

Total current liabilities 228,250 413,918 269,752 311,959 868,830

 

ToTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 741,176 892,715 951,553 1,102,284 1,214,548
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EUR ’000 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Revenues 291,815 217,398 229,238 269,007 339,593

income from the sale of investment property 17,019 19,133 16,916 6,205 1,237

Changes in inventories –110,509 –36,717 –61,609 –102,910 –165,632

Other operating income 7,143 8,064 11,566 8,225 4,658

Total operating performance 205,468 207,878 196,111 180,527 179,856

Cost of materials –54,455 –58,314 –54,020 –45,743 –68,072

Cost of purchased services1 –9,990 –14,120 –7,338 –7,872 0

Staff costs –77,239 –65,733 –47,561 –35,672 –28,580

Results from fair value adjustments  
to investment property 51 17 18 3 325

Other operating expenses1 –50,193 –44,872 –37,930 –33,118 –21,376

EBITDA 13,642 24,856 49,280 58,125 62,153

amortisation of intangible assets and  
depreciation on property, plant and equipment –6,940 –6,107 –4,541 –3,494 –904

Earnings before finance income and income 
taxes (EBIT) 6,702 18,749 44,739 54,631 61,249

income from participations 39,062 32,122 6,557 0 0

earnings from companies accounted  
for using the equity method 3,182 658 455 5 –5

Finance income 4,413 20,520 11,727 8,988 11,494

Finance cost –11,912 –32,424 –34,857 –43,718 –61,250

Gains/losses from currency translation 551 -26 0 0 0

Profit before income taxes (EBT) 41,998 39,599 28,621 19,906 11,488

income tax –6,978 –2,431 –3,166 –6,413 –5,287

Consolidated net profit 35,020 37,168 25,455 13,493 6,201

earnings per share (undiluted) in euR 0.51 0.54 0.40 0.24 0.12

Consolidated Income Statement
FIVE-YEAR oVERVIEW IN ACCoRDANCE WITH IFRS

1 Cost of purchased services were previously reported unter other operating expenses. Last year's figures have been adjusted accordingly.
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Dr. TheoDor SeiTz

Chairman
Member of the Supervisory Board since 2002 and Chairman since 2003
Tax consultant, lawyer, Augsburg

Notification of seats on other supervisory boards pursuant to 
Article 285 No. 10 of the German Commercial Code
l Chairman of the Supervisory Board of CDH AG, Augsburg

haralD BoBerg

Deputy Chairman
Member of the Supervisory Board since 2003
Representative of Bankhaus Lampe KG (Düsseldorf), Hamburg

Notification of seats on other supervisory boards pursuant to 
Article 285 No. 10 of the German Commercial Code
l None

ManfreD J. goTTSchaller

Deputy Chairman
Member of the Supervisory Board since 2003
Director of Bayerische Handelsbank AG i. R., Munich

Notification of seats on other supervisory boards pursuant to
Article 285 No. 10 of the German Commercial Code
l None

Supervisory Board
AS oF 31 DECEmBER 2014

Five-Year Overview  
Consolidated Income  
Statement
Supervisory Board
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Wolfgang egger

Chief Executive officer
First appointed on: 21 August 2002
Appointed until: 30 June 2016

Responsibilities
Corporate Communications, Corporate Development, Corporate Social Responsibility, Institutional Clients,  
Marketing, Research

Notification of seats on other supervisory boards pursuant to 
Article 285 No. 10 of the German Commercial Code
l None

arWeD fiScher

Chief Financial officer 
First appointed on: 1 March 2008
Appointed until: 29 February 2016

Responsibilities
Board and Committees, Controlling & Accounting, Corporate Finance, Investor Relations, IT,  
Procurement & Services, Risk Management

Notification of seats on other supervisory boards pursuant to 
Article 285 No. 10 of the German Commercial Code
l None

KlauS SchMiTT

Chief operating officer 
First appointed on: 1 January 2006
Appointed until: 31 December 2015

Responsibilities
Human Resources, Legal, Management of Operating Business Fields, Regulations & Taxes, Strategy and M&A

Notification of seats on other supervisory boards pursuant to 
Article 285 No. 10 of the German Commercial Code
l None

Managing Board
AS oF 31 DECEmBER 2014
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FINANCIAl CAlENDAR 2015

25 March 2015 Financial statements 2014

7 May 2015 Interim report for the first quarter of 2015

25 June 2015 annual General Meeting, augsburg

6 august 2015 Interim report for the first half of 2015

12 November 2015 Interim report for the first nine months of 2015

PATRIZIA Immobilien AG
PATRIZIA Bürohaus
Fuggerstrasse 26
86150 Augsburg
Germany
P + 49 821 50910-000
F + 49 821 50910-999
immobilien@patrizia.ag
www.patrizia.ag

Investor Relations
Margit Miller 
P + 49 821 50910-369
F + 49 821 50910-399
investor.relations@patrizia.ag

Verena Schopp de Alvarenga
P + 49 821 50910-351
F + 49 821 50910-399
investor.relations@patrizia.ag

Press
Andreas Menke
P + 49 821 50910-655
F + 49 821 50910-695
presse@patrizia.ag

This annual report was published on 25 March 2015. This is a translation of the German annual report.  
In case of doubt, the German version shall apply. Both versions are available on our website:

www.patrizia.ag/investor-relations/finanzberichte/geschaeftsberichte
www.patrizia.ag/en/investor-relations/financial-reports/annual-reports

www.patrizia.ag/investor-relations/finanzberichte/geschaeftsberichte
www.patrizia.ag/en/investor-relations/financial-reports/annual-reports
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